
 
 
Democratic Services Section    
Legal and Civic Services Department 
Belfast City Council 
City Hall 
Belfast  
BT1 5GS 
 
 
12th April, 2022 
 
 
MEETING OF THE STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 

Dear Alderman/Councillor, 

 

The above-named Committee will meet in the Council Chamber and via Microsoft Teams  

on Friday, 15th April, 2022 at 9.30 a.m., for the transaction of the business noted below. 

 

You are requested to attend. 

 
Yours faithfully, 
 
 
JOHN WALSH 
 
Chief Executive 
 
 
AGENDA: 
 
1. Routine Matters   
 
 (a) Apologies   

 
 (b) Minutes   

 
 (c) Declarations of Interest   

 
2. Restricted Items   
 
 (a) Appointment of Director (Operational) of City and Neighbourhood Services 

(Pages 1 - 2) 
 

 (b) Update on Industrial Action  (Pages 3 - 6) 
 

 (c) Update on Organisational Recovery (Pages 7 - 10) 
 

 (d) City Hall Recovery Plan - Update on Progress (Pages 11 - 16) 
 

 (e) Requests for the use of Council Parks (Pages 17 - 22) 
 

 (f) Official visit of US Secretary of Labor (Pages 23 - 26) 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack



 
- 2 - 

 
3. Matters referred back from Council/Motions   
 
 (a) Motion - Energy Price Crisis (Pages 27 - 30) 

 
4. Governance   
 
 (a) Revision to Scheme of Allowances (Pages 31 - 56) 

 
5. Belfast Agenda/Strategic Issues   
 
 (a) Update on Belfast Region City Deal (Pages 57 - 84) 

 
 (b) PwC Good Growth for Cities 2022 Report: Taking Action on Levelling Up 

(Pages 85 - 134) 
 

 (c) NI Assembly Public Accounts Committee Report on Planning in Northern 
Ireland (Pages 135 - 182) 

 
6. Physical Programme and Asset Management   
 
 (a) Asset Management (Pages 183 - 198) 

 
 (b) Update on Area Working Groups (Pages 199 - 206) 

 
7. Finance, Procurement and Performance   
 
 (a) Update on Contracts (Pages 207 - 214) 

 
8. Equality and Good Relations   
 
 (a) Race Champion and Race Action Plan (Pages 215 - 218) 

 
9. Operational Issues   
 
 (a) Minutes of Meeting of Party Group Leaders' Consultative Forum   

(Pages 219 - 222) 
 

 (b) Requests for use of the City Hall Grounds (Pages 223 - 226) 
 

 (c) Requests for use of the City Hall and the Provision of Hospitality  
(Pages 227 - 232) 

 
10. Issues Raised in Advance by Members   
 
 (a) Illumination of the City Hall   

 
  (Councillor M. Kelly to request that the City Hall be illuminated on the night of 

Saturday, 28th May to mark Menstrual Hygiene Day) 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
- 3 - 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 1

Agenda Item 2a
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 3

Agenda Item 2b
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 7

Agenda Item 2c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 11

Agenda Item 2d
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 17

Agenda Item 2e
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 23

Agenda Item 2f
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 6
of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES 
COMMITTEE 
 
 
 
 

Subject: Motion – Energy Price Crisis 
 

Date: 15th April, 2022 
 

Reporting Officer: John Walsh, Chief Executive 
 

Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 
 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 
 

 To bring to Members’ attention a motion on the Energy Price Crisis, which the People and 

Communities Committee, at its meeting on 8th March, referred to the Strategic Policy and 

Resources Committee. 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

 The Committee is asked to consider the motion.  

3.0 Main Report 
 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

Key Issues 

 

The Standards and Business Committee, at its meeting on 22nd February, considered a 

report providing details of the motions which had been received for consideration by the 

Council on 1st March. 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X  

Page 27

Agenda Item 3a



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

In accordance with Standing Order 37(h), the following motion, which had been proposed by 

Councillor Smyth and seconded by Councillor O’Hara, was referred, in the first instance, to 

the People and Communities Committee for consideration.  

 

Energy Price Crisis 

   

“This Council notes the spiralling cost of energy bills and the increased pressure 

on households across the City, particularly the most vulnerable. In order to provide 

long-term solutions to escalating energy prices the Council will: 

 

 commit to civic leadership on the development of community 

energy projects across the City. These projects will focus on 

developing renewable energy in partnership with communities and 

expert organisations, including the provision of electric vehicle 

charging infrastructure and sourcing financing for these community 

energy projects; 

 

 engage with the Department for the Economy for support in 

developing community energy schemes; and  

 

 write to the UK Government Treasury stating its support for a 

Windfall Tax on the Energy Companies which have recorded 

record profits. 

 

For the purpose of this motion, the use of the term ‘community energy’ to mean 

community projects or initiatives focused on the four strands of reducing energy 

use, managing energy better, generating energy or purchasing energy. This 

included communities of place and communities of interest. These projects or 

initiatives share an emphasis on community ownership, leadership or control 

where the community benefits”. 

 

The People and Communities Committee, at is meeting on 8th March, agreed at the 

request of Councillor Smyth, the proposer, to refer the motion to the Strategic Policy and 

Resources Committee, on the basis that it was considered to fall more within the remit of 

that Committee. 

 

 

Page 28



 

Financial and Resource Implications 

No financial implications at this stage.  

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications 

All potential equality, good relations and rural needs implications will be taken into 

consideration. 

 

4.0 Documents Attached 
 

 None 

 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

 

 
 
 

 

Subject: Revisions to Scheme of Allowances  

 

Date: 15th April, 2022 

 

Reporting Officer: John Walsh, Chief Executive 

 

Contact Officer: Jim Hanna, Senior Democratic Services Officer 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     
 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 
 

1.1 To consider amendments to the Council’s Scheme of Allowances to increase the rate of Basic 

Allowance and the maximum rate of Special Responsibility Allowance. 

2.0 Recommendation 
 

2.1 The Committee is recommended to: 
 

1. consider whether it wishes to apply the increase in the Basic Allowance from £15,486 

per annum to £15,757, with effect from 1st April, 2021, and 

2. consider whether it wishes to increase the total maximum Special Responsibility 

Allowance (SRA) from the current £117,774 per annum to £119,835 as set out in 

Appendix 2, with effect from 1st April, 2021. 

  

 X  

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 31

Agenda Item 4a



3.0 
 

Main Report 
 

3.1 

 

3.1.1 

 

 

 

3.1.2 

 

 

 

 

3.1.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.1.4 

 

 

 

 

3.1.5 

Key Issues 

 

The Department for Communities issued a circular, LG 10/2022, which set out revised 

maximum limits for basic and special responsibility allowances with effect from 1st April, 

2021. 

 

The Committee, at its meeting in March 2022, agreed to apply the increase in the basic 

allowance from £15,057 per annum to the current £15,486. Local Government Circular LG 

10/2022, dated 28th March, 2022, has increased the maximum basic allowance, which 

Councils may pay to Members, to £15,757 with effect from 1st April, 2021. 

 

The Committee is also requested to consider whether to apply the increase to the Special 

Responsibility Allowance (SRA) budget, with effect from 1st April, 2021. For a number of 

years, the Council has agreed a split in the special responsibility allowance budget so as to 

pay both the Chairpersons and the Deputy Chairpersons of the Standing Committees and the 

Party Officers (Party Leader, Deputy Party Leader and Party Secretary – depending upon 

Party size). The current division of SRAs is set out in Appendix 1. If the increase in the overall 

budget is increased, a suggested split is set out in Appendix 2. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

 

The increase to the maximum rates of each of the allowances has already been considered 

and can be met through existing budgets. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

 

There are not any Good Relations, Equality or Rural Needs issues associate with this report. 

4.0 Documents Attached 
 

 
 

Appendix 1 – Current division of SRAs 

Appendix 2 – Revised division of SRAs if the increase in the maximum is applied 

Appendix 3 – Proposed Scheme of Allowances 2022-2023 

Appendix 4 – Local Government Circular LG 10/2022 

 

Page 32



Appendix 1 

Allocation of Special Responsibility Allowance – Current 

Chairpersons and Deputy Chairpersons 

Position Allowance Number of Positions Total 

Chairpersons £5,460.00 7 £38,220 

Deputy Chairpersons £2,730.00 7 £19,110 

Chair BW&UH Cttee £2,730.00 1 £2,730 

Dep Chair BW&UH Cttee £1,365.00 1 £1,365 

Total   £61,425 
 

Political Party Officers 

Party Officer Basic Allocation    £3,465.00 

Deputy Leader/Secretary Basic Allocation £3,150 

Remainder allocated to Political Party Leaders  £162.15 per Member of the Party 

Position Number 
of 
Members 

Allocation per 
Party Member 

Allocation per 
Party 
Strength 

Basic 
Allocation 

Total 

SF Party Leader 18 £162.15 £2,534.94 £3,465 £6,383.70 

SF Deputy Leader    £3,150 £3,150 

SF Secretary    £3,150 £3,150 

DUP Party Leader 15 £162.15 £2,112.45 £3,465 £5,897.25 

DUP Deputy Leader    £3,150 £3,150 

DUP Secretary    £3,150 £3,150 

Alliance Party Leader 10 £162.15 £1,408.30 £3,465 £5.086.50 

Alliance Deputy Leader    £3,150 £3,150 

SDLP Party Leader 6 £162.15 £844.98 £3,465 £4,437.90 

SDLP Deputy Leader    £3,150 £3,150 

Green Party Leader 4 £162.15  £563.32 £3,465 £4,113.60 

PBPA Leader 3 £162.15  £422.49 £3,465 £3,951.45 

UUP Leader 2 £162.15  £281.66 £3,465 £3,789.30 

PUP Leader 2 £162.15  £281.66 £3,465 £3,789.30 

Total 60    £56,349 

 

Total                       £117,774 

 

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 2 

 

Allocation of Special Responsibility Allowance – with increase applied 

Chairpersons and Deputy Chairpersons 

Position Allowance Number of Positions Total 

Chairpersons £5,555.54 7 £38,888.78 

Deputy Chairpersons £2,777.77 7 £19,444.39 

Chair BW&UH Cttee £2,777.77 1 £2,777.77 

Dep Chair BW&UH Cttee £1,388.89 1 £1,388.89 

Total     £62,499.83 
 

Political Party Officers 

Party Officer Basic Allocation    £3,525.63 

Deputy Leader/Secretary Basic Allocation £3,205.12 

Remainder allocated to Political Party Leaders  £164.99 per Member of the Party 

Position Number 
of 
Members 

Allocation per 
Party Member 

Allocation per 
Party 
Strength 

Basic 
Allocation 

Total 

SF Party Leader 18 £164.99 £2,969.82 £3,525.63 £6,495.45 

SF Deputy Leader     £3,205.12 £3,205.12 

SF Secretary     £3,205.12 £3,205.12 

DUP Party Leader 15 £164.99 £2,474.85 £3,525.63 £6,000.48 

DUP Deputy Leader     £3,205.12 £3,205.12 

DUP Secretary     £3,205.12 £3,205.12 

Alliance Party Leader 10 £164.99 £1,649.90 £3,525.63 £5,175.53 

Alliance Deputy Leader     £3,205.12 £3,205.12 

SDLP Party Leader 6 £164.99 £989.94 £3,525.63 £4,515.57 

SDLP Deputy Leader     £3,205.12 £3,205.12 

Green Party Leader 4 £164.99  £659.96 £3,525.63 £4,185.59 

PBPA Leader 3 £164.99  £494.97 £3,525.63 £4,020.60 

UUP Leader 2 £164.99  £329.98 £3,525.63 £3,855.61 

PUP Leader 2 £164.99  £329.98 £3,525.63 £3,855.61 

Total 60      £57,335.16 

 

Total                       £119,834.99 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



Scheme of Allowances 

Payable to Councillors 2022/2023 

Revised April, 2022 

 

1 

 

Appendix 3 

This Scheme is made under Part 3 of the Local Government Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011 and the 

Local Government (Payments to Councillors) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2019 and will take effect from 

1st April, 2021. 

Councillors’ allowances  

Councillors’ allowances are governed by statute and provision is made for the following types of payments:  

(a) Allowances:  

(i) Basic Allowance 

(ii) Special Responsibility Allowance 

(iii) Civic Dignitaries Allowance 

(iv) Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance 

(v) District Policing and Community Safety Partnership Allowances (DPCSP) 

(vi) Renunciations 

(vii) Disqualification or Suspension of a Councillor 

 

 (b) Expenses 

(i) Travel 

(ii) Subsistence 

 

In issuing the payment of allowances to elected members the Council follows the instructions set out by the 

Department of Environment in ‘Guidance on Councillor Allowances’ March 2012 and further circular updates. 

Information regarding other provisions for Councillors is also included: 

 

(c)  Additional Information  

  

(i) IT/Phone Package 

(ii) Councillors’ Support Services 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  

Page 37



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

2 

 

Appendix 3 

(a) Allowances  

    (i)         Basic Allowances 

A basic allowance is intended to recognise the time commitment of all Councillors, including such inevitable 

calls on their time as meetings with officers and constituents and approved duties. Basic allowance is also 

intended to cover incidental costs incurred by Councillors in their official capacity, such as the use of their 

homes and the cost of any telephone calls, including mobile phone calls. 

The maximum annual allowance with effect from 1st April, 2021 is £15,757 payable monthly.  

 

This allowance will be paid in equal monthly instalments via the Council’s Payroll and is subject to tax, 

National Insurance and pension deductions where applicable.   

If a Councillor ceases to be a Councillor before the end of his or her term of office, payment of the allowance 

will cease and a pro rata calculation will be made to ensure that the Councillor receives the correct amount 

of allowance.  If necessary, an adjustment for under or over payment may be made to ensure that the final 

payment is correct, and the Council reserves the right to recover any overpayments of Basic Allowance. 

In circumstances where a councillor is wholly suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 59(5) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, the whole of the basic allowance 

payable to the councillor in respect of the period for which the councillor is suspended shall be withheld. 

In circumstances where a councillor is wholly suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 60(1) (Decisions on Interim Reports) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, the 

whole of the basic allowance payable to the councillor in respect of the period for which the councillor is 

suspended shall be withheld, subject to the provision that the allowance withheld shall be payable to the 

councillor concerned should the final adjudication of the Commissioner for Standards exonerate the 

councillor concerned. 

In circumstances where a councillor is partially suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 59(5) or section 60(1) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, the basic allowance 

payable to the councillor in respect of the period for which the councillor is partially suspended shall continue.  

Page 38



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

3 

 

Appendix 3 

(ii) Special Responsibility Allowances 

In addition to Basic Allowance the Council also pays Special Responsibility Allowances to those Councillors 

it considers to have significant additional responsibilities over and above the generally accepted duties of a 

Councillor.  These special responsibilities are related to the discharge of the Council's functions. 

The maximum rate of Special Responsibility Allowance is determined by the Department for Communities. 

The division of the Special Responsibility Allowance is based upon the positions held by individual Councillors 

as agreed.  

 The Council agreed a special responsibility allowance threshold of £119,835 which may be 
paid to holders of positions of responsibility.  No more than 50% of the Councillors can receive 
a special responsibility payment and no individual member can receive more than one special 
responsibility payment. 

 

Special Responsibility Allowance is paid in equal, monthly instalments.  Special Responsibility Allowances 

are liable for tax, National Insurance and pension deductions where applicable 

In the event of a Councillor ceasing to hold an office which entitled him or her to receive a Special 

Responsibility Allowance before the term of office is completed, payment of the Allowance ceases. If 

necessary, an adjustment for under or overpayment may have to be made to ensure that the final payment 

is correct, and the Council reserves the right to recover any overpayments of Special Responsibility 

Allowance. 

Rates of Special Responsibility Allowances with effect from 1st April, 2021 are: 

Position Committee Allowance 

Chairperson’s Allowance 

Strategic Policy and Resources £5,555.54 

City Growth and Regeneration £5,555.54 

People and Communities £5,555.54 

Licensing £5,555.54 

Planning £5,555.54 

Belfast Waterfront and Ulster Hall £2,777.77 

Brexit Committee £5,555.54 

Standards Committee £5,555.54 

 

  

Page 39



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

4 

 

Appendix 3 

Deputy Chairperson’s Allowance 

Strategic Policy and Resources £2,777.77 

City Growth and Regeneration £2,777.77 

People and Communities £2,777.77 

Licensing £2,777.77 

Planning £2,777.77 

Belfast Waterfront and Ulster Hall £1,388.89 

Brexit Committee £2,777.77 

Standards Committee £2,777.77 

 

Position Party Allowance 

Party Group Leader 

Sinn Fein (18 Members) £6,495.45 

DUP (15 Members) £6,000.48 

Alliance (10 Members) £5,175.53 

SDLP (6 Members) £4,515.57 

GREEN (4 Members) £4,185.59 

PBPA (3 Members) £4,020.60 

UUP (2 Members) £3,855.61 

PUP (2 Members) £3,855.61 

Deputy Party Group Leader 

Sinn Fein £3,205.12 

DUP £3,205.12 

Alliance £3,205.12 

SDLP £3,205.12 

Party Secretary 
Sinn Fein £3,205.12 

DUP £3,205.12 

 

In circumstances where a councillor is wholly suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 59(5) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, the whole of any special responsibility 

allowance payable to the councillor in respect of the period for which the councillor is suspended shall be 

withheld.  

In circumstances where a councillor is wholly suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 60(1) (Decisions on Interim Reports) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, the 

whole of any special responsibility allowance payable to the councillor in respect of the period for which the 

councillor is suspended shall be withheld, subject to the provision that the allowance withheld shall be 

Page 40



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

5 

 

Appendix 3 

payable to the councillor concerned should the final adjudication of the Commissioner for Standards 

exonerate the councillor concerned. 

In circumstances where a councillor is partially suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 59(5) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, that part of any special responsibility 

allowance (to which the partial suspension relates) payable to the councillor in respect of the period for which 

the councillor is partially suspended shall be withheld.  

In circumstances where a councillor is partially suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 60(1) (Decisions on Interim Reports) of the Local Government Act (NI) 2014, that 

part of any special responsibility allowance (to which the partial suspension relates) payable to the councillor 

in respect of the period for which the councillor is partially suspended shall be withheld, subject to the 

provision that the allowance withheld shall be payable to the councillor concerned should the final 

adjudication of the Commissioner for Standards exonerate the councillor concerned. 

(iii) Civic Dignitaries Allowance 

  

Section 32 of the Finance Act provides that a council may pay to the Civic Dignitaries such allowances as it 

considers reasonable to meet the expenses of those offices and they should be considered totally separate 

from SRA arrangements.  

The Civic Dignitary Personal Allowances are paid in equal, monthly instalments and are liable for tax, National 

Insurance and pension deductions where applicable. 

The entitlements, per annum, are:-  

 Lord Mayor  £34,800 

 Deputy Lord Mayor £6,250 

 High Sherriff   £6,250  

Where a Lord Mayor or Deputy Lord Mayor is suspended from carrying out the duties of a councillor in 

accordance with section 59(5) of the Local Government Act (Northern Ireland) 2014, the part of Civic 

Allowance payable to the Councillor in respect of the period for which the Councillor is suspended will be 

withheld. 

  

Page 41



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

6 

 

Appendix 3 

(iv) Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance 

Any Member who is the main carer of a dependant, where care is required to enable that Member to perform 

an Approved Duty (see page 9), may claim Dependent Carers’ Allowance (DCA). The rate for Standard Care 

is based on the hourly national living wage for age 25 or over, and the rate for Specialised Care is double 

the rate for Standard Care. The rates from 1st April, 2022 are: 

 Standard Care  £9.50 per hour limited to £494.00 per month 

 Specialist Care £19.00 per hour limited to £988.00 per month 

A dependant is defined as: 
 

 a child under 16 years old; 

 a child 16 years old or older, where there is medical / social work evidence that full-time care 

is required; 

 an adult with recognised physical/mental disability where there is medical / social work 

evidence that full-time care is required; or 

 an elderly relative requiring full-time care. 

For the purposes of this allowance, a carer is defined as a responsible person over 16 years old who does 

not normally live with the councillor as part of that household; and is not a parent/guardian of the dependant. 

A specialist carer is a qualified person who is needed where it is essential to have professional assistance. 

Receipts must be obtained from specialist carers and must accompany the claim form. Councillors may claim 

only once for each occurrence of an approved duty (page 9) and only one Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance 

rate is payable, even if there are two or more dependants being cared for. 

Councillors must disclose any financial support provided under this allowance when applying for other care 

services offered by another public body. 

This allowance claim may also include the duration of essential travel time, up to a maximum of one hour 

before the approved duty starts and ending up to one hour after it finishes.  

(v)  District Policing and Community Safety Partnership Allowances (DPCSP) 

This allowance is paid to councillors who are members of the District Policing and Community Safety 

Partnership. Each councillor is entitled to claim £60 per attendance at each meeting and may claim for up to 

a maximum of 20 meetings a year. Each member can also claim for mileage for attending each meeting 

directly from DPCSP.  

Chairpersons of each DPCSP are entitled to claim for an additional 10 meetings per year of the DPCSP. In 

addition the Chairperson of the 4 DCPSPs also sit on the Belfast Policing and Community Safety Partnership 

(PCSP) and are entitled to claim for up to 20 meetings per year of this partnership. 

(vi)  Renunciations 

Councillors may, if they wish, renounce their entitlement to basic, chairperson, vice chairperson or special 

responsibility allowances. They can do this by writing to the Chief Executive. A councillor can subsequently 

withdraw the renunciation. They can also amend a renunciation (for example, to limit it to one kind of 

allowance only). The withdrawal or amendment cannot have retrospective effect. 

  

Page 42



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

7 

 

Appendix 3 

(vii)  Disqualification or Suspension of a Councillor 

The Local Government Commissioner for Standards may impose sanctions on a Councillor who is found to 

have breached the Northern Ireland Code of Conduct for Councillors. Such sanction may be imposed at the 

conclusion of the Commissioner’s adjudication process of the alleged breach or at the conclusion of an 

interim adjudication by the Commissioner. 

For the purpose of this Scheme of Allowances, the following action will be taken upon receipt by the Chief 

Executive of a decision by the Commissioner which results in the disqualification or the suspension of a 

Councillor: 

Disqualification 

If a Councillor is disqualified, then the payment of all allowances and the provision of all support services 

outlined in this Scheme will cease with immediate effect from the date of disqualification. 

Suspension 

If a Councillor is wholly suspended for a period, then the payment of all allowances and the provision of all 

support services outlined in this Scheme will cease with immediate effect from the date of suspension. 

 

  

Page 43



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

8 

 

Appendix 3 

(b) Expenses 

Travel and Subsistence Allowances 

All claims for travel and subsistence should be submitted within three months. Any claims made outside of 

this time limit cannot be processed. 

(i)   Travel  

 

 Motor Mileage Claims 

The rates of Travel and Subsistence Allowances, including motor mileage and pedal cycle rates, are reviewed 

annually by the Department for Communities, following consultation with the Northern Ireland Joint Council 

for Local Government Services.   

Claims can only be made where expenditure is incurred in relation to the Councillors undertaking Approved 

Duties.   

Travel claims may be made through Democratic Services and it is a matter for each individual Councillor to 

ensure that the details contained in any claim are accurate and only include actual expenditure for which they 

are entitled to make a claim. 

In some instances, mileage claims may be liable for tax and National Insurance deductions.  

The following rates are currently in use, with most Councillors getting the maximum amount of 65.0p per 

mile:  

 

 

 Public Transport 

Expenditure on public transport in relation to attending approved duties can be claimed back only when 

accompanied by proof of purchase. Any journeys made using public transport should be noted separately in 

any travel expenses claim.  

 

 

 

 

 Motor Cars 

Pedal 

Cycle 

Motor 

Cycle (all 

engine 

capacities) 
  450-999cc 1000-1199cc 1199 + cc 

Electric 

Car 

0-8,500 miles 46.9p 52.2p 65.0p 45.0p 

20p 24p 
After 8,500 miles 13.7p 14.4p 16.4p 25.0p 

Passenger rate 5.0p 

Page 44



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

9 

 

Appendix 3 

(ii)      Subsistence  

If Councillors attend conferences, courses or undertake visits as representatives of the Council they are 

entitled to receive appropriate subsistence allowances.   

Before a Councillor attends an event, they must obtain Committee approval. Councillors may also attend 

approved events as part of their Personal Development Plan (PDP).  

Any accommodation or travel arrangements for conferences are made directly by the Council. 

Councillors should take a careful note and keep receipts for any expenses they incur while they are away on 

Council business because they may be able to claim for these as part of their subsistence allowances or as 

incidental expenses.  This relates to such things as meals, bus and taxi fares, necessary telephone calls, 

etc. Purchases of any alcoholic beverages may not be claimed for. 

Within the UK 

The rates for subsistence allowance are determined by the Department for Communities. The following 

table shows the current rates of subsistence which may be claimed for: 

Maximum Subsistence Rates 

 BRITISH ISLES LONDON 

Accommodation Allowance £100.70 £122.45 

Meal Allowance   

Breakfast £11.50 

Lunch £13.50 

Tea £4.70 

Dinner £20.95 

Total Meal Allowance £50.65 

 

Departments will assist Councillors in the completion of claim forms and Councillors should make contact 

with an appropriate officer immediately upon returning from the conference to give details of additional 

expenses incurred and to sign the necessary claim forms. 

Claims without receipts should rarely happen. However, Councillors must use the ‘Lost or Unobtainable 

Receipt Voucher’ to claim reimbursement for expenditure they have incurred when no receipt is available. 

Outside the UK 

For travel outside the United Kingdom, the Council will pay advanced subsistence at the rate of £75.00 per 
24-hour period, or £45 per part 24-hour period.  
  

Page 45

http://frink/sites/interlink/Forms/MileageAndExpenses/LostOrUnobtainableReceiptVoucher.doc
http://frink/sites/interlink/Forms/MileageAndExpenses/LostOrUnobtainableReceiptVoucher.doc


Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

10 

 

Appendix 3 

Approved Duties 

Under the existing Regulations Councillors are entitled to claim expenses in relation to an approved duty.  An 

approved duty may be defined as:- 

(a) attendance at a meeting of the Council or of any of its Committees. Members may only 

claim travelling allowance for attending Committees to which they have been 

appointed.  A Member, however, may claim mileage allowance for attending a meeting 

of a Committee to which he or she has not been appointed if he or she is attending at 

the invitation of the Committee concerned or has been sent by another Committee to 

state a particular case. 

  Or 

(b) attendance approved by the Council for the purpose of, or in connection with, the discharge 

of the functions of the Council: 

 attendance by appointed Councillors at meetings of Advisory/Liaison Committees 
Steering Groups/ Working Groups; 

 attendance at approved conferences, courses, study visits or seminars as a 
representative of the Council; 

 attendance by appointed Councillors at meetings of PCSP’s and DPCSP’s; 

 attendance by appointed Councillors at meetings of community centre committees 
; 

 attendance on a Council or Committee deputation relevant to the functions of the 
Council; and 

 attendance by appointed Councillors at meetings of outside bodies only if the 
functions of the Outside Body relates to the statutory functions of the Council, and 
where remuneration is not made by the Outside Body to which the Councillor has 
been appointed. 

 Attendance at training courses or briefing sessions provided by or through the 
Council 

  

In addition, the Council’s Chief Executive can authorise as approved duties certain miscellaneous functions. 

 Tax 

Useful information on treatment of tax for councillors could be found at Her Majesty’s Revenue and 
Customs website via https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/employment-income-manual/eim65900. 
 

  

Page 46

https://www.gov.uk/hmrc-internal-manuals/employment-income-manual/eim65900


Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

11 

 

Appendix 3 

Councillors’ Pension Scheme 

Councillors are automatically enrolled in the Northern Ireland Local Government Officers Superannuation 

Scheme (NILGOSC). The main purpose of the scheme is to provide a pension in retirement for Councillors. 

The benefits paid under the Scheme are based on length of membership of the Scheme and career average 

pensionable pay. 

The pensionable pay of a councillor consists of the Basic Allowance and Special Responsibility Allowance 

payments only. The contribution rate depends on how much each Councillor is paid but will be between 5.5% 

and 7.5% of the pensionable allowances received.  

If a Councillor no longer wishes to participate in the pension scheme, or has any queries regarding the 

scheme, NIGOSC should be contacted directly on 0345 3197 320 

 

(c)  Additional Information  

 

(i) IT /Phone Package  

Personal computer equipment can be provided by the Council to each Councillor on the basis that the 

Council owns the equipment and lends it to those Councillors who request it.   

Councillors IT Package currently consists of the following:  

 Tablet PC 

 All-in-one printer (printer, fax and scanner) 

 Smartphone, which includes a call, text and data allowance 

 

 Tablet PC 

 

Each Councillor is entitled to receive a tablet PC for their duration as a Member of Belfast City Council. The 

device is provided by the Council to assist Councillors in undertaking their role more effectively. The main 

benefits are having online access to the council minutes system and other Council provided software and to 

engage more effectively with constituents. 

Where a Councillor has been provided with a tablet PC, hard copies of Council, Committee and Working 

Group report packs will not be provided. 

 Mobile Telephone costs 

Each Councillor will be offered the use of a mobile phone for the duration they remain a Councillor of Belfast 

City Council. The device is available for upgrade periodically. 

The Council will cover the cost of line rental which includes:  

a. the cost of all phone calls to UK landlines or UK mobile phones whilst within the UK; 
b. the cost of all text messages to UK landlines or UK mobile phones whilst within the UK; and 
c. 4GB of data usage per month. 

 

All costs incurred by calls, texts or data usage outside of that detailed above, are met by the Councillor and 

will be deducted the following month from the Councillor’s basic allowance. 

Page 47



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

12 

 

Appendix 3 

Hands free mobile phone equipment 

The Council will contribute towards the cost of purchase and installation of hands free mobile phone 

equipment for use in the Councillors’ cars on the following basis:- 

 Reimbursement will be made in respect of the costs of installation of the equipment in the 
Councillor’s own private vehicle and shall be subject to the submission of appropriate receipts 

 The maximum amount of reimbursement on each occasion to be £250.00. 
 

 Home Telephone  

The Council may meet the costs of basic monthly/quarterly line rental of the home telephone of each 

Councillor. Councillors are required to pay the rental cost in the first instance and, having submitted the 

telephone bill, will then be reimbursed this amount, subject to any tax deductions being applied through the 

Council’s payroll system. 

The Department for Communities has determined that as the Councillor’s Basic Allowance covers incidental 

expenses involved in being a Councillor, such as the use of a home telephone, it is therefore not possible to 

reimburse the cost of telephone calls made on a landline.  

 Broadband Internet Access 

In order to encourage Councillors to use the Council’s IT system remotely (from home or office), Councillors 

may claim part of their home broadband internet rental costs (maximum £25 per month). 

As with phone line rental reimbursement, Councillors are required to pay the cost of the broadband in the 

first instance and, having submitted the appropriate bill, will then be reimbursed up to £25.00 per month, 

subject to any tax deductions being applied through the Council’s payroll. 

Access to the Council’s systems is provided by means of a virtual private network (VPN). Councillors should 

speak to officers in Democratic Services to arrange to have the VPN set up on their computer.  

 

 Electronic Minutes System 

The electronic minutes system is accessible on the Council’s website as well as the corporate intranet.  The 

purpose of the system is to have a range of information relating to councillors and the Council’s decision-

making process in one place.   

The system allows Councillors and members of the public to:- 

 View the schedule of meetings; 

 Access agendas, reports and minutes of Council, Committees, and Working Group Meetings; 

and 

 Search for historical decisions.   

The system is also used to alert Councillors that Committee summonses, agenda, minutes and reports have 

been published and, when any amendments or changes have taken place, Councillors can then access 

electronically.   

  

Page 48



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

13 

 

Appendix 3 

(ii) Councillors’ Support Services 

The Council provides Councillors with a wide range of support services to assist them in carrying out their 

work as Councillors.  Support services include typing of correspondence, post, message and enquiry 

services, council stationery, research service, room bookings, Councillors training, travel arrangements, 

expenses and subsistence payments and general enquiries.  

 Members’ Common Room  

The Members’ Common Room is located at the reception area of the City Hall, adjacent to the Committee 

Rooms. Individual mail boxes and a kitchen are available for Councillors’ use. 

 Party Rooms 

In addition to the Members’ Common Room, the Council provides Party Rooms for each of the political party 

groups within the Council.  These may be used for meetings, work or discussions with constituents. 

All accommodation and facilities provided are for use in connection with Council or constituency business 

only. 

In addition to a conference table, printer, scanner, television, tea/coffee making facilities and filing space, 

each Party Room has at least one PC in addition to docking stations for use with the Council provided tablet 

PCs.   

 Correspondence 

Items for typing may be left with Democratic Services, where a confidential secretarial service is available for 

letters, reports and all other correspondence related to Council or constituency work. 

After typing, letters will be left in the Councillor’s mailbox in the Members’ Common Room or can be posted 

to the addressee. 

 Post 

A postal service is available for correspondence which relates to Council or constituency work. 

Letters must be addressed to individuals living within the City boundary although letters to public bodies and 

government Departments with addresses outside the City will also be accepted.   

Circularised mail will not be accepted. 

Councillors can also be provided with prepaid envelopes for use in their routine correspondence to 

constituents etc. Please speak to Democratic Services officer to request an allocation of prepaid envelopes.  

Postal facilities are not available for party political issues. 

  

Page 49



Scheme of Allowances 2022/2023 

14 

 

Appendix 3 

 Message and Inquiry Service 

Democratic Services staff act as a point of contact for all enquiries and telephone messages concerning 

Councillors from the general public, constituents and Council officers. 

The telephones in the party rooms are set to divert to staff on no reply and telephone messages for 

Councillors will be taken.  Urgent messages will be relayed immediately to Councillors, if contact is possible, 

and other messages will be emailed or left in their mail boxes.  

 Council Stationery 

Personalised headed-paper, compliment slips and business cards with the Council logo will be provided for 

each Councillor during their term of office.   Standard Council stationery items are also available in the 

Members’ Common Room. 

 Civic Gifts 

A limited range of Belfast City Council branded gifts is available for use by Councillors. The gifts are intended 

for VIP guests to City Hall or for special individuals or groups which a Councillor wishes to recognise. 

Councillors may also request civic gifts when visiting special individuals or groups when on Council business 

in other countries.  When requesting Civic Gifts, the Councillor must sign a receipt of goods and a database 

of issued gifts is maintained.  

 Research and Information Service 

Democratic Services staff will be available to assist Councillors in obtaining information and carrying out 

research on items related to Council and constituency business. 

 Receiving Constituents 

Councillors may make arrangements to receive constituents or visitors in their party room if space is 

available. Councillors may also request to book a committee room to meet with a group of up to 3 visitors. 

Visitors will not be permitted access to party rooms or the committee rooms unless accompanied by a 

Councillor. 

 Car parking   

Councillors have 24 hour access to the City Hall car park. A pass for display in Councillors’ vehicles will be 

provided by Democratic Services.   

Car parking for guests of Councillors is limited. However, if this is required, please contact Democratic 

Services staff.  The visitors’ name and the registration number of the vehicle will be required for the purposes 

of admittance by Security staff.  

Page 50



                                                                                     

 

 
Chief Executive of each District Council 
Finance Officer of each District Council 
Other Interested Parties 
 
 

          
 

  
 
 

Circular LG 10/2022  

Dear Sir/Madam   
 
CONSOLIDATED COUNCILLOR ALLOWANCES CIRCULAR – UPDATED 
MARCH 2022 
 
This Local Government Circular provides a consolidated record of all councillor 
allowances and supersedes Local Government Circular 07/2021. 
 
This consolidated circular is required to determine and reflect an increase in 
maximum rates for Basic and Special Responsibility Allowance from 1 April 2021 
and an increase in Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance from 1 April 2022. 
 
All determinations are made by the Department under section 31 of the Local 
Government Finance Act (Northern Ireland) 2011 and the Local Government (Payments 
to Councillors) Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2019.   
 
If you have any queries on the content of this circular please contact Jeff Glass on 028 
9082 3375 or Ian Lewis on 028 9082 3506 or by email jeff.glass@communities-ni.gov.uk  
or ian.lewis@communities-ni.gov.uk . 

Yours faithfully 

 
 
ANTHONY CARLETON 
Director 
Local Government and Housing Regulation 

 

Local Government and Housing 
Regulation Division 
Finance Branch 
Causeway Exchange 
1-7 Bedford Street 
BELFAST 
BT2 7EG 
Phone: 028 9082 3346 
email: Anthony.carleton@communities-
ni.gov.uk 
 

Our ref: CO1-21-1742 

28 March 2022 

Appendix 4

Page 51

mailto:jeff.glass@communities-ni.gov.uk
mailto:ian.lewis@communities-ni.gov.uk


2 

 

Contents 

Circular LG 10/2022 ............................................................................................................. 1 

1. Basic Allowance ........................................................................................................ 3 

2. Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance ................................................................................ 3 

3. Travel Allowances ..................................................................................................... 4 

4. Special Responsibility Allowance ............................................................................. 5 

5. Subsistence Allowances ........................................................................................... 6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



3 

 

1. Basic Allowance  

- valid from 1 April 2021 
 

Basic Allowance  
 

Maximum £15,757 per annum ≠ 

 
 

≠ (The basic allowance includes an element for incidental and consumable costs 
incurred by councillors in their official capacity.  In 2015/16 this element was £1,000 
and each year this amount is uplifted in line with the increase applied to the basic 
allowance, therefore this element within the basic allowance is £1,109 from 1 April 
2021.) 

2. Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance  

– valid from 1 April 2021 – 31 March 2022 
 

The following table states the maximum rates for dependants’ carers’ allowance. 
 

Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance  Hourly Rate Maximum monthly 
amount 

Standard 
 

£8.91^ £463 

Specialist 
 

£17.82 £927 
 

 
 ^(Based on national living wage) 
 
- valid from 1 April 2022 

 
The following table states the maximum rates for dependants’ carers’ allowance. 

 

Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance  Hourly Rate Maximum monthly 
amount 

Standard 
 

£9.50^ £494 

Specialist 
 

£19.00 £988 

 
 ^(Based on national living wage) 

Page 53



4 

 

3. Travel Allowances  

 
– valid from 1 April 2017 

 
The following table states the maximum rates for travel allowances.   

 

Type of Vehicle Rate per 
Mile 

A pedal cycle 20.0p  

A motor cycle  (all engine capacities)  24.0p 

A motor car of cylinder capacity exceeding 450cc but not exceeding 
999cc 

46.9p 

*13.7p 

A motor car of cylinder capacity exceeding 999cc but not exceeding 
1,199cc 

52.2p 

*14.4p 

A motor car of cylinder capacity exceeding 1,199cc 65.0p 

*16.4p 

An electric car  

 

45.0p 

**25.0p 

Passenger rate (per passenger) 5.0p 

 
*  For mileage above 8,500 miles 

**For mileage above 10,000 miles 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



5 

 

4. Special Responsibility Allowance  

– valid from 1 April 2021 
 

The following table states the maximum rate of Special Responsibility Allowance 
that a council may pay.  The maximum rate is based on the size of the council 
population.  Each council’s population figures are updated each year by the 
Northern Ireland Statistics and Research Agency and it is the duty of each council to 
operate within the total maximum rate appropriate to its population band.  For ease 
the maximum any councillor can receive, within each band, is also provided. 

 
 

Population of council Maximum Special 
Responsibility Allowance 

£ 

Maximum (1/5th) for 
individual councillor 

£ 

Less than 120,000  55,479 11,096 

120,000 to 199,000  77,671 15,534 

200,000 + 119,835 23,967 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 55



6 

 

5. Subsistence Allowances  

– valid from 1 April 2015 
 

The following table states the maximum rates for subsistence; however, where 
councils believe it is necessary there is flexibility for councils to increase these rates 
by applying a suitable measure of price inflation.    

 

PERIOD/MEAL 
RATES  

£ 

 British Isles London 

Accommodation allowance - An absence involving an 
overnight stay, away from the normal place of residence.  
This rate does not include any meal allowance. 

 

100.70 

 

122.45 

Breakfast allowance - (more than 4 hours away from 
the normal place of residence or, where approved by the 
council, a lesser period before 11 am) 

 

11.50 

Lunch allowance - (more than 4 hours away from the 
normal place of residence or, where approved by the 
council, a lesser period including the period between 12 
noon and 2pm) 

 

13.50 

Tea allowance - (more than 4 hours away from the 
normal place of residence or, where approved by the 
council, a lesser period including the period between 
3pm and 6pm) 

 

4.70 

Evening meal allowance - (more than 4 hours away 
from the normal place of residence or, where approved 
by the council, a lesser period ending after 7pm) 

 

20.95 

 

Page 56



 

 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

 
Subject: Update on Belfast Region City Deal  

 
Date: 15th April, 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, Chief Executive 

 
Contact Officer: 

 
Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and 
Resources 
 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

 

1.1 

 

This report seeks to update the Committee on the progress of the Belfast Region City Deal 

(BRCD) which was formally signed on 15th December 2021 by the Belfast region partners, 

the UK Government and the Northern Ireland Executive.  The report also includes an update 

on development of the Outline Business Cases (OBCs) and an overview of next steps in the 

implementation of the deal.   

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 

 

 

The Committee is asked to: 

 note the update on the signing of the Belfast Region City Deal in December 2021. 

 note the programme overview and the next steps in the implementation of the deal. 

 note the update in respect of the BRCD Council Panel. 

 
 
 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 57

Agenda Item 5a



3.0 Main Report 

 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

Programme Update 

The Belfast Region Deal Document and Governance Framework was approved by the SP and 

R Committee in October 2021 and individual BRCD partners also sought approval through 

their own governance structures in tandem. Following these formal approvals by partners 

including UK and NI Government the deal was formally signed on 15 December 2021 at the 

ICC Belfast, representing a key milestone for the Belfast region. 

 

As Members will be aware, the original planned event had to be scaled back and moved to an 

online format due to the emerging revision of Covid-19 restrictions at that time.  Whilst this 

was not how partners had envisaged marking the signing of the Deal, moving to an online 

format allowed for a wider audience than would have been possible with an in-person event. 

Over 200 people viewed the event online on the day, including partners, Elected 

Representatives, Government officials and representatives from the business community.   

 

It was a momentous day for partners across the Belfast region, with the first ever signed City 

Deal for Northern Ireland securing £1billion co-investment to help transform the region’s 

economy over the next decade.  On the day of the signing the Secretary of State for Northern 

Ireland, the First Minister and deputy First Minister and the Finance Minister signalled their full 

support for the implementation of the deal and for the partners’ aim to deliver a “Decade of 

Opportunity”, resulting in significant press and media coverage for BRCD both on the day of 

the announcement and in the days following. 

 

A number of communications products were developed in line with the announcement, 

including a programme video and an updated BRCD Summary document which is attached 

at Appendix 1. Plans for strategic engagement and programme communication reflecting the 

new phase of the deal are currently being developed and Members will be updated as this 

progresses. 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

Investment Priorities 

BRCD Partners have now developed Business Cases for their projects across the 

programme and Business Cases representing a majority of programme expenditure are now 

at an advanced stage. 

 

Innovation  

 

There has been significant progression in the Innovation Pillar with all five Innovation projects 

at an advanced stage of development, with a number of the projects having been progressed 

to RIBA stage 2 (design), through substantial investment at risk by the project sponsors.  

 

Page 58



3.7 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

 

 

 

 

The Queen’s University led Advanced Manufacturing Innovation Centre (AMIC), Global 

Innovation Institute (GII) and the Institute for Research Excellence in Advanced Clinical 

Healthcare (i-REACH) projects have all received OBC approval from the Economy Minister 

and the Department of Finance.  

 

The OBC for the Ulster University led Studio Ulster (formerly Screen Media Innovation Lab 

(SMIL)) project has been approved both by the Economy Minister and Department of Finance 

and the OBC for the Centre for Digital Healthcare Technology (CDHT) has approval from the 

Economy Minister but is awaiting approval from the Department of Finance. 

 

Digital  

 

Following Programme Business Case approval, the Digital pillar is commencing a new phase 

of work through the development of project OBCs. The Digital Programme is at an earlier stage 

of development, with one project, the i4c Innovation Centre at St Patrick’s Barracks in 

Ballymena at a more advanced stage with Economy Minister approval for its OBC received in 

early April.  OBCs for other projects, including investment in advanced wireless and Regional 

Innovation Hubs in Newry, Mourne and Down and Ards and North Down have commenced.   

 

An OBC for a proposed Digital Twin project, led by Digital Catapult with support from industry, 

is also being progressed and is due to be further considered by the Digital Advisory Board in 

summer 2022.   

 

Tourism and Regeneration 

 

OBCs for all three regeneration projects, Carrickfergus, Newry City Centre and Bangor 

Waterfront, have received approval from the Communities Minister and Department of 

Finance.  

 

In relation to the Tourism projects the Mourne Mountains Gateway project has received 

approval from the Economy Minister and Department of Finance. Casework for the Gobbins 

Phase 2 is now complete with feedback pending and Destination Royal Hillsborough casework 

is scheduled for June. 

 

Belfast Stories is being progressed by BCC and it is expected that following engagement with 

the Department for the Economy, Tourism NI and BCC, that BCC will now progress design to 

RIBA 2 to enable a full OBC to be developed, with Casework review in summer 2023. 

 

 

Page 59



 

 

3.14 

 

 

 

3.15 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.16 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.17 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.18 

Infrastructure 

 

Following signing of the Deal and confirmation of funding, the Lagan Pedestrian and Cycle 

Bridge will now progress to the next stage of project delivery which involves development of 

the procurement strategy to procure a Design and Build Contractor to develop the project.  

 

Belfast Rapid Transit (BRT) Phase 2 and the Newry Southern Relief Road are at an earlier 

stage of development. The public consultation on BRT2 is now complete, with a Belfast City 

Council response agreed by CG&R Committee in October 2021.  The project team are now 

preparing the draft consultation report for consideration by the Minister and following 

Ministerial decisions an Outline Business Case will be prepared.  

 

Employability and Skills (E&S) 

 

The Employability & Skills Board has been reconfigured as we move into the next phase of 

the Deal with a focus on delivery and responding to collaboration opportunities aligned to 

priority sectors where city deal investment is focused.  The new Board initially focused on the  

programme of work, with the Action Plan for Year 1 now agreed set within the thematic 

priorities of the deal’s E&S Proposition i.e. skills for inclusion, skills for growth and skills for a 

digital future.  The work programme will integrate the contribution made by partners through 

alignment of their E&S interventions, including through Labour Market Partnerships, as well 

as seeking to create new opportunities for partnership working to drive improvements in 

employability prospects and increase skill levels in priority areas.  A more flexible way of 

working that remains closely aligned to the priorities of DfE in terms of the 10X Skills Strategy 

and will continue to respond to the changing economic landscape resulting from the pandemic 

and other changes as they occur.  

 

Recognising the scale of employment potential created via the city deal investment, partners 

are forming a dedicated project team who will have a key role in assessing the need for future 

skills intervention, working collaboratively to secure new funding in this area and to ensure 

that inclusion opportunities are maximised across the deal.  In this regard work is underway 

across the programme of investment to integrate social value requirements within upcoming 

procurements, reflecting local and regional procurement policies and guidance.   

 

The BRCD partners have already responded to the collaboration opportunity with new 

interventions such as Digital Futures, led by the FE Colleges and Digital Surge, led by Councils 

resulting in new interventions being offered within the market.  Further success has also been 

achieved through the City & Growth Deal Complementary Fund with a up to £7.1m pot of 

funding ring fenced for a Digital Transformation Flexible Fund project.  Work is currently 

underway to develop a business case for this project on a cross deal basis, offering grant 

support for small businesses to invest in hardware/software to support digital transformation.  

Page 60



 

 

 

3.19 

 

 

 

 

3.20 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.21 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.22 

 

 

 

 

 

3.23 

 

 

 

 

Next Steps – Delivery Phase   

 

Accountable Body  

Members will be aware that Belfast City Council is the Lead Authority for the BRCD, which 

means it carries out a range of functions that support and enable regional partnership working, 

such as employing the Programme Management Office and providing administrative, 

professional and technical support as required to support the Deal.  

 

Now that the deal is signed, Belfast City Council will act as the Accountable body for the Deal 

ensuring that the partnership makes decisions in accordance with all legal, financial, and 

administrative requirements.  Steps are being taken to put in place the financial and budget 

management arrangements and processes to ensure the BRCD funding is managed and 

accounted for appropriately.  Appropriate accounting and reporting arrangements in line with 

specified requirements will also be established. Arrangements are also being made with 

partners to fund and establish programme management arrangements on a permanent basis 

 

Memorandum of Understanding 

As part of the long-term arrangements for working together across the BRCD partnership a 

Memorandum of Understanding is being developed to reflect partners’ commitments to invest 

collectively and work collaboratively to achieve the ambitions for inclusive growth through 

delivery of the Deal.  Once finalised and agreed this will then sit alongside the formal Deal 

Documentation.  

 

Implementation and Financial Plans 

The overarching deal document is supported by both an Implementation Plan and Financial 

Plan and the committee were provided with an update on both in the update to November 

committee. The Programme Management Office has been engaging closely with the 

Department of Finance and project leads to finalise both documents.  

 

Contracts for Funding 

Before funding can flow directly to projects Contracts for Funding (previously referred to as 

Letters of Offer) need to be agreed between Departments and the Accountable Body and 

between the Accountable Body and Project Sponsors. The BRCD Partners have been working 

intensively with Departments over recent months to agree key commercial and practical issues 

and the BRCD Executive Board had previously written to the relevant government 

departments to emphasise the need for the issue to be prioritised.  Following agreement on 

the key framework for the Contracts for Funding, it will need to be reviewed by all partners, 

contracts developed in relation to individual projects and appropriate legal advice will need to 

be taken. 

Page 61



 

 

3.24 

 

 

 

 

 

3.25 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.26 

 

BRCD Council Panel 

Members will be aware that the BRCD Council Panel provides a forum for members from all 

six partner councils to meet to jointly discuss issues, progress and benefits of the BRCD.   

Each council is represented on the Forum by four members and, as previously agreed by this 

Committee, the four BCC nominees are the party group leaders (or their nominees) from the 

four largest parties.    

 

A virtual meeting of the Panel was held on 23 February 2022 hosted by Antrim and 

Newtownabbey Borough Council.  At this meeting the Panel received an update on the signing 

of the Deal, progress on the overall BRCD programme of activity and key next steps.  Members 

also received a presentation from Professor Paul Maropoulos on the Advanced Manufacturing 

Innovation Centre (AMIC), one of the five Innovation centres of Excellence to be delivered by 

BRCD.   

 

The minutes of the April and November meetings have also been approved and are attached 

at Appendices 2 and 3.  The next meeting will be hosted by Lisburn and Castlereagh City 

Council on 22 June 2022. 

 

3.27 

 

 

3.28 

 

 

 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

All costs associated with the BRCD are within existing budgets.   

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

The approach taken to develop the City Deal has been subject to independent equality 

screening and rural proofing and states that: 

 

‘BRCD is inherently inclusive, affording an opportunity for the region to grow in a way that will 

benefit the economy of Northern Ireland as a whole, thereby enhancing the lives and well-

being of its citizens. If during further development of the programme it becomes apparent that 

there may be an adverse impact on certain groups or communities then the partnership 

commits to carrying out further Section 75 work and including screening and EQIAs as and 

when appropriate.’ 

4.0 Documents Attached 

 Appendix 1 – BRCD Summary Document 

Appendix 2 – Minutes of the BRCD Council Panel of 28th April, 2021 

Appendix 3 – Minutes of the BRCD Council Panel of 4th November, 2021 

 

 

 

Page 62



A decade of opportunity 
starts now

BELFAST REGION
CITY DEAL Summary 

December 2021

Appendix 1

Page 63



Page 64



The highly ambitious Belfast Region City Deal 
(BRCD), signed in December 2021, arrives at a 
critical time. The Deal represents a new way of 
working between central and local government 
and regional partners and secures a bespoke 
package of investment from central government 
and the BRCD partners of more than £850 million 
to support the delivery of our shared vision of: 

“Inclusive economic growth that 
delivers more and better jobs, a 
positive impact on the most deprived 
communities and a balanced spread 
of benefits across the region.”
This substantial financial commitment, which will 
be further supplemented by the private sector 
to create a programme in excess of £1 billion, 
will generate up to 20,000 jobs as it is delivered 
over the next 10 to15 years - an exciting, once 
in a generation opportunity to accelerate 
economic growth for the region in an inclusive and 
sustainable way.
This Deal will strengthen the region’s offer in 
growth sectors such as life and health sciences, 
the digital and creative industries, and advanced 
manufacturing. It will support next generation 
digital capabilities, boost tourism and support 
the regeneration of our region, underpinned by 
infrastructure developments and investment in 
skills to connect people to jobs and services.

THE BELFAST REGION CITY DEAL 
The Deal involves an integrated programme of 
investment that cuts across the responsibilities of 
local councils, the Northern Ireland Executive and 
UK Government. The BRCD partners comprise the 
six local authorities; Antrim and Newtownabbey 
Borough Council, Ards and North Down Borough 
Council, Belfast City Council, Lisburn and 
Castlereagh City Council, Mid and East Antrim 
Borough Council and Newry, Mourne and Down 
District Council, the region’s two universities; 
Queen’s University Belfast and Ulster University, 
and four of the region’s further education colleges; 
Belfast Metropolitan College, Northern Regional 
College, Southern Regional College and the South 
Eastern Regional College. 
The BRCD region has a population of over  
1 million residents. The region is young, ambitious 
and growing - over half the population is under 
the age of 40. The place-based nature of the City 
Deal presents an enormous opportunity to drive 
economic recovery and boost competitiveness, 
improving the region’s resilience to future shocks 
and stresses and complementing key plans for 
economic recovery post the Covid-19 pandemic.

Antrim and Newtownabbey  
Borough Council

Lisburn & Castlereagh  
City Council

Ards and North Down 
Borough Council

Belfast City Council

Mid & East Antrim  
Borough Council

Newry, Mourne and Down 
District Council

3Page 65



	 support the creation of up to  
20,000 jobs

	 connect local people to new and  
better jobs

	 place the region at the top table of  
digital innovation 

	 deliver £400 million in GVA directly on-site 
and within the region

	 target delivery of almost £1 billion of 
private sector leverage

	 create compelling world-class visitor 
attractions

	 help to regenerate major towns  
and cities

	 foster collaborative working

It is estimated that over the lifetime of the programme the Belfast Region City Deal will:

The ambitions for inclusive growth will be delivered through the following pillars of investment:

Tourism and  
Regeneration 

Infrastructure Employability 
and Skills 

Boosting tourism and 
regenerating our region - 
creating world-class visitor 
attractions and investing in 
towns and cities to provide  
a year-round destination 
that will provide stand out in 
international markets

connecting people to 
opportunity and services 
through enhanced and 
sustainable infrastructure

Putting in place 
arrangements to enable 
a constant pipeline of 
talent to support the 
growth created by the 
BRCD investments and 
ensure that the right 
skills are available within 
the region to support 
the emerging job 
opportunities

Innovation 
and Digital 
Achieving world leading 
competitive advantage 
in key sectors: building 
our innovation and digital 
capability - facilitating 
invention, commercialisation 
and widespread adoption 
as a driver of economic 
prosperity and increased 
well-being

BELFAST REGION
CITY DEAL

4 Page 66



INNOVATION
The BRCD will invest more than £300 million in  
five industry-led centres of excellence, focusing 
on the industries of the future, providing new tools 
and utilising data insights to support increased 
productivity and business competitiveness.
AMIC - Advanced 
Manufacturing 
Innovation Centre will 
provide the springboard 
for manufacturing 
innovation in NI, 
providing a specialised 
environment for Advanced 
Manufacturing and Engineering 
sectors to access the very latest 
manufacturing technology and Industry 4.0 
smart automation, supported by experienced, 
professional engineers and a state-of-the-art 
Factory of the Future.
CDHT - Centre for 
Digital Healthcare 
Technology will provide 
a world-class space for 
academia, industry and 
clinicians to innovate and 
boost the productivity of 
the life and health sciences 
sector by accelerating the 
development of medical technology 
devices and diagnostics. Technology, 
Community and Clinical Living Labs will be 
based beside the Ulster University Belfast campus 
and at the Royal Victoria Hospital.
GII - Global Innovation 
Institute is a unique 
combination of expertise, 
combined with a ground-
breaking partnership 
approach to delivering 
scalable computing 
solutions. GII is aiming to 
transform Northern Ireland’s digital 
economy by substantially increasing 
both the volume and range of digital 
innovation taking place within the region, and 
developing skill sets to meet industry needs, 
focussing on health and agri-food.

i-REACH - Institute of 
Research Excellence 
for Advanced Clinical 
Healthcare an integrated 
clinical research centre of 
excellence, iREACH is an 
NHS, industry, and research 
facility. It will transform the 
region’s ability to test new drugs, 
medical-technology, care pathways 
and societal interventions. It will leverage 
the opportunities that exist at the interface of 
medical research and digital transformation. 
Studio Ulster (formerly 
Screen Media 
Innovation Lab - SMIL) 
will provide a large-scale 
Virtual Production studio 
complex to include 
world-class commercial 
Virtual Production stages, 
fully supported by an integrated 
research, development and innovation 
centre of excellence in real-time and Virtual 
Production. Studio Ulster will drive a revolution 
in production pipelines across converging sectors 
with application in film, broadcast, commercial, 
animation, games, immersive and visual effects.

5Page 67



DIGITAL
The BRCD will invest £125 million in a challenge-
led, flexible digital programme that will maximise 
the benefits and opportunities of the Innovation 
centres of excellence and focus on areas where 
the region can be distinctive and competitive. The 
key interventions include: 
The Belfast Region 
Innovation Challenge 
Fund
•	 This £55 million fund 

will support an agile 
approach to address 
the emerging needs and 
unique characteristics of the 
region and be designed to stimulate 
collaborative innovation and investment. 

•	 The fund will stimulate innovation to address 
the region’s ‘Grand Challenges’ of (i) artificial 
intelligence and data, (ii) health and wellbeing 
and (iii) sustainability and resilience.

•	 Funding opportunities are likely to include a 
range of financial instruments including capital 
grants, small business research initiatives, 
challenge prizes and equity/debt investments.

Enabling Infrastructure
•	 £40 million of funding 

to invest in digital 
connectivity (including 
advanced wireless), 
data infrastructure 
and other enabling 
infrastructure to support the 
Belfast Smart District and wider 
regional innovation. 

Regional Innovation 
Hubs
•	 £30 million of 

investment will deliver 
a series of Innovation 
Hubs across the 
region.

•	 The Hubs will build upon and 
leverage existing sectoral strengths 
including cleantech and creative 
industries in order to promote innovation 
activity and new business growth across the 
region via local hubs.

•	 The i4C Innovation 
Centre at St Patrick’s 
Barracks regeneration 
site, Ballymena 
represents the first 
of these Hubs which 
will provide a physical 
base and support to increase 
levels of SME innovation and 
commercialisation activity. It will also 
provide skills and training solutions in 
the cleantech sector including the Hydrogen 
Training Academy.

6 Page 68



BOOSTING TOURISM AND REGENERATING OUR REGION
The BRCD will invest more than £300 million 
in delivering globally visible tourism products 
and reimagined town and city centres that will 
support sustainable year round tourism and drive 
economic recovery.
Bangor Waterfront 
will reconnect the town 
with the sea through 
a range of attractions 
and experiences.  The 
investment will provide 
high quality public spaces, 
a new Music Hub and will 
regenerate assets including 
Bangor Marina, Pickie Fun Park and 
watersports facilities at Ballyholme Yacht 
Club, enhancing the town and encouraging 
further investment.
Belfast Stories, a 
transformational anchor 
visitor attraction in 
Belfast will allow people 
to connect with the city 
and one another through 
stories, screen and social 
spaces. The experience will 
include a state of the art multi-
screen film centre and vibrant public 
spaces allowing for lively event programming 
and animation. 

Carrickfergus 
Regeneration will 
provide investment in 
Carrickfergus Castle, 
including its visitor 
hub and historic walls.  
Its connection to the 
town centre will regenerate, 
reposition and rebrand the town 
placing it firmly on the map as an 
authentic, heritage-led tourism hub - a 
‘must visit’ starting point to the Causeway 
Coastal Route.
Destination Royal 
Hillsborough will further 
enhance Hillsborough 
Castle by restoring and 
developing the historic 
Courthouse and Fort and 
investing in the Forest.  This 
will include opening a Social 
Enterprise Café and integrating and 
improving connections between these 
attractions and the wider village through 
improved public realm, to attract more visitors to 
this world class heritage village.
The Gobbins aims to 
build on this exhilarating 
visitor attraction through 
the addition of a stunning 
staircase, an upgrade 
to the cliff top path - to 
include a new rope bridge 
that stretches across the 
coastline - and the development of 
a new Welcome Hub which will include 
Augmented Reality experiences.

Image for illustrative purposes only c/o BDH Grimshaw. 

77 Page 69



CONNECTING OUR REGION 
Our investment of £140 million will help to 
connect people to opportunity and services 
through enhanced and sustainable infrastructure. 
Lagan Pedestrian 
and Cycle Bridge will 
connect Belfast city 
centre with Ormeau 
Park, providing access 
to jobs, leisure space, 
services and opportunities 
for residents and visitors, 
contributing to the improved health 
and well being of local communities. 
Newry Southern 
Relief Road will link 
the A1 bypass with the 
A2 Warrenpoint dual-
carriageway providing 
an alternative strategic 
route for traffic that reduces 
pressure on Newry city centre, 
facilitates onward travel to Dublin 
and improves access to other regional 
gateways.
Belfast Rapid Transit 
Phase 2 - BRCD funding 
will support enabling 
investment for the 
extension of this public 
transport network which 
will support improved 
access to health, education, 
leisure and job facilities and improve 
economic return across the region.

The Mourne Mountains 
Gateway will redefine 
visitors’ experience of 
the Mourne Mountains 
whilst supporting the 
sustainable growth of 
tourism and protecting the 
natural heritage and habitat of 
the region.  The project will deliver 
a world class visitor attraction, and will 
create improved, and more sustainable 
access to the Mournes.
Newry City Centre 
Regeneration will deliver 
a civic hub, theatre and 
conferencing facilities 
which, together with 
new public realm and 
grade A office provision, 
will revitalise the city.  The 
regeneration will also create and 
sustain jobs, increase visitor numbers, 
appeal to residents and stimulate the 
evening economy.

19047 Newry Theatre and Conference Centre
Stage 2 DRAFT
20/07/2021

BACK ELEVATION Scale 1:100 (A1)

8 Page 70



EMPLOYABILITY AND SKILLS 
The employability and skills profile of the 
local labour market is a critical factor in 
competitiveness. Despite a positive upward trend 
in skills over recent years, NI continues to lag 
behind its competitor regions in terms of the pace 
of change. The future skills system will need to 
be increasingly agile if it is to be in a position to 
respond effectively to these challenges and to 
changing market conditions such as automation 
and the pace of technological change. 
New NI Executive strategies and plans for 
employability and skills are also seeking to 
respond to this challenge. City / Growth deals 
offer an ideal opportunity to support, enhance and 
contribute to arrangements emerging through 
the creation of Local Labour Market Partnerships 
and the NI Skills Strategy for more joined-up 
employability and skills planning. 
The BRCD investment will support efforts to 
rebalance our local economy by building on our 
competitive strengths, increasing productivity and 
supporting the creation of more and better jobs.  
However, for it to succeed it will be critical that the 
right skills are in place to enable people to avail of 
the opportunities arising from this investment and 
that pro-active measures are put in place so that 
the opportunities emerging reach as wide a range 
of people as possible -  a fundamental aspect of 
City / Growth deals across the UK.
The BRCD partners will therefore work together 
to align our plans and resources in the following 
priority areas to help prepare an appropriately 
skilled workforce that can benefit from the 

employment opportunities that will emerge as 
a result of the transformative investments in 
innovation and digital, tourism, regeneration and 
infrastructure.
Skills for Growth: working with employers to align 
skills programmes and employment opportunities 
with the growth in sectors supported by BRCD; 
helping to create new apprenticeship pathways 
and fostering development of higher level skills;
Skills for Inclusion: creating opportunities to 
address skills imbalances and improve access 
to employment opportunities across the region 
through socially inclusive progression pathways; 
and
Skills for a Digital Future: helping to build our 
digital literacy from grassroots up and enhancing 
the digital transformation of businesses across 
the region, with a specific focus upon smaller 
enterprises.

The impact of Covid-19 further underlined 
the need to harness collective effort and 
investment in digital technology. Early in 
2020, a Digital ‘Task and Finish’ group was 
established by the BRCD partners to consider 
how to support an inclusive and sustainable 
recovery. Arising from this work, Further 
Education Colleges, working with industry 
partners, and supported by funding from the 
Department for the Economy, delivered the 
Digital Futures Programme, an innovative 
skill development and work experience 
initiative providing unemployed and under 
employed graduates with the opportunity to 
reskill in relevant digital areas, including Cloud 
Computing, Data Analytics or Cyber Security.

9Page 71



DEAL DELIVERY TIMELINE
SEPTEMBER 2018

Proposition submitted to  
UK Government

Chancellor announced BRCD

Heads of Terms signed

Outline Business Cases  
developed

Deal Document signed

Deal Delivery

OCTOBER 2018 

MARCH 2019

MARCH 2021 

DECEMBER 2021

2022 ONWARDS

•	 Stakeholder engagement
•	 Project delivery
•	 Further private investment leveraged 
•	 Collaborative working
•	 Full Business Cases approved
•	 Monitoring and evaluation
•	 Project completion
•	 Benefits delivered

10 Page 72



Page 73



 #BRCityDeal

 www.belfastcity.gov.uk/belfastregioncitydeal 

BCC 1437Images courtesy of Tourism Northern Ireland and partners. 

Page 74



 

Appendix 2 

 
 

BRCD Council Panel 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Minutes of Belfast Region City Deal (BRCD) Council Panel  

 
Date: 12:30 pm, 28 April 2021 

Councillors in attendance: 

Councillor Stephen Ross – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Alderman Mark Cosgrove – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Councillor Trevor Cummings – Mayor, Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Councillor Alistair Cathcart – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Alderman Alan McDowell – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Councillor Richard Smart - Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Councillor Stephen Dunlop- Ards & North Down Borough Council  
Alderman Brian Kingston – Belfast City Council 
Councillor Eric Hanvey - Belfast City Council 
Councillor Ronan McLaughlin - Belfast City Council 
Alderman Allan Ewart – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Councillor Sorcha Eastwood – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Alderman Michael Henderson – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Councillor Uel Mackin - Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Alderman Billy Ashe MBE – Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Alderman Audrey Wales MBE - Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Robin Stewart - Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Timothy Gaston - Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Charlie Casey – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Robert Burgess - Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Pete Byrne - Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
 

Officers: 

Marie Ward – Chief Executive, Newry, Mourne and Down District Council 
Jacqui Dixon – Chief Executive, Antrim and Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Stephen Reid – Chief Executive, Ards and North Down Borough Council 
Suzanne Wylie – Chief Executive, Belfast City Council 
Ronan Cregan – Deputy Chief Executive, Belfast City Council 
Damien Martin – BRCD Programme Director, Belfast City Council 
Majella McAllister – Director of Economic Development and Planning, Antrim and 
Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Susie McCullough – Director Regeneration, Development and Planning, Ards and 
North Down Borough Council 
Padraic Murphy – Programme Co-ordinator,  Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council 
Nicola Rowles – Interim Director of Development, Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Ursula O’Loughlin – Head of Economic Development, Mid and East Antrim Borough 
Council 
Conor Mallon – Director Enterprise, Regeneration and Tourism, Newry, Mourne and 
Down District Council 
Amanda Smyth – Head of Regeneration and Business Development, Newry, Mourne 
and Down District Council 
Professor Frank Lyons - Professor of Music and Associate Dean of Research and Impact 
in Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences, Ulster University 
Emer Husbands, Stephen Wallace, Ruth Rea, Theresa Slevin – BRCD Programme Office 
 

 

Page 75



1.0 Welcome and Introductions 

 

1.1 Mayor of Ards & North Down Borough Council, Cllr Trevor Cummings welcomed the members of the BRCD 

Council Panel to the meeting which was hosted by Ards & North Down Borough Council. 

Stephen Reid, Chief Executive of Ards & North Down Borough Council, outlined the key areas of focus for the 

meeting. 

2.0 Apologies 

 

2.1 

 

Apologies were received from: 

Cllr Glenn Finlay (Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council) 

Alderman Phillip Brett (Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council) 

Councillor Robert Logan (Mid & East Antrim Borough Council) 

Councillor Willie Clarke (Newry, Mourne & Down District Council) 

 

Apologies were received from the following Officers: 

David Burns – Chief Executive, Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council  

Anne Donaghy (Mid & East Antrim Borough Council) 

 

3.0 Declarations of Interest 

 

3.1 Cllr Cummings asked Councillors if they had any interests to declare in relation to the agenda.  No interests 

were declared. 

 

4.0 Minutes of Previous Meeting 

 

4.1 Cllr Cummings asked if the Panel agreed that the minutes of the previous meeting were an accurate reflection 

of the meeting. 

Cllr Dunlop proposed that the minutes from the last meeting were agreed. 

Seconded – Cllr Burgess. 

Members agreed the minutes. 

 

5.0 BRCD Programme Progress Update & Deal Development 

 

5.1 Programme Progress Update 

Stephen Reid, Chief Executive of Ards and North Down Borough Council and Damien Martin, BRCD Programme 

Director for BRCD provided a progress report to the Council Panel highlighting the progress in completing  

Outline Business Cases (OBCs), the majority of which had now been submitted for formal review by NI 

Government (and UK Government where applicable). 

Specifically, four of the five projects under the Innovation Pillar had been submitted for formal review and had 

started to progress through Casework Committee, including the Screen Media Innovation Lab, which Members 

Page 76



would receive a specific update in relation to at the meeting.  The final project, the Centre for Digital 

Healthcare Technology was expected to be submitted in late May/June 2021. 

Stephen Reid explained that all projects within the Tourism & Regeneration pillar had been formally submitted 

to NI Government for review ahead of the scheduling of Casework Committees for the most advanced 

projects. 

A digital innovation programme business case had been submitted to NI and UK Government in January 2021 

and detailed and constructive engagement with Government had been occurring in recent months ahead of an 

updated programme business case being completed in May 2021. 

In relation to the Infrastructure pillar, one OBC, relating to the Lagan Bridge had been approved and interim 

OBCs for the Belfast Rapid Transit Phase II and Southern Relief Road projects had been completed. 

Stephen Reid explained that employability & skills had also been progressing well, with positive engagement 

with the private sector taking place in recent months.  A final draft Employability & Skills proposition would be 

brought to the Employability & Skills Advisory Board during May. 

 

Stephen Reid set out the recent positive engagement that had taken place with a range of senior political 

representatives, including Executive Ministers, regarding the BRCD and noted the support for City & Growth 

Deals which had been included within the Department for Economy Economic Recovery Action Plan.  Stephen 

Reid explained that plans for enhanced business engagement were also being progressed. 

 

5.2 Deal Document 

Stephen Reid explained that positive progress had been made in relation to development of the draft Deal 

Documentation, including the development of an overall draft Deal Document.  Progress had also been made 

on a draft Implementation Plan and Financial Plan.  Work on the Deal Documentation was taking place in 

parallel to the development and submission of Outline Business Cases – and members were reminded that a 

signed deal document was required in order to establish the Accountable Body and allow funding to flow to 

projects which had OBCs approved. 

 

Stephen Reid outlined the contents of the Deal Documents and explained the approach taken by the BRCD, 

including that there has been a recognition of the impact of Covid-19 across the programme and projects.  The 

Deal Document has been based on best practice from other Deals across the UK and a draft governance 

framework has been developed which builds on existing structures and  includes the BRCD Council Panel 

remaining as an important element, providing political leadership for the next phase of the Deal. 

 

Stephen Reid also outlined progress on a draft Implementation Plan which focuses on key milestones, risks and 

benefits of projects and explained that the next step was further engagement with NI Departments in relation 

to the Deal Documentation. 

 

Page 77



Alderman Kingston noted the long-term nature of Belfast Rapid Transit Phase II and Southern Relief Road 

projects and asked for assurances that these could be delivered within the BRCD timescales. Damien Martin 

explained that that these projects were being led by the Department for Infrastructure and were still in early 

stages of development and there are ongoing discussion with officials on next stages which would include 

updated timescales. 

 

Alderman Ewart requested clarification around the submission of OBCs and the timescales for Casework 

Committees.  Damien Martin explained that 4 projects within the Innovation pillar (the Screen Media 

Innovation Lab, the Advanced Manufacturing Innovation Centre, I-REACH and the Global Innovation Institute) 

had either attended the Casework Committee or had a date scheduled during May.  The final innovation 

project, the Centre for Digital Healthcare Technology, was also expected to be submitted for Casework by 

June. 

 

In relation to Tourism & Regeneration, the Carrickfergus Regeneration and Newry Regeneration projects were 

expected to attend Casework Committee in the next month with the most advanced Tourism projects 

progressing to Casework during June.  Damien Martin further explained that the Belfast Destination Hub and 

Destination Hillsborough, had produced OBC1s and therefore would not attend Casework Committee but 

would be reviewed by a Departmental Panel. 

 

Alderman Ewart asked how a project moved from a Project Type B to a Type A.  Damien Martin explained that 

a Project Type B reflected the current stage of development of a project and an OBC1 would demonstrate the 

strategic and economic case of a project, with further work required, for example relating to commercial and 

operating/management models which are required for a full OBC.  Damien Martin noted that an approved 

OBC1 would still release capital BRCD funding to support further development of the project (such as detailed 

design), but an OBC2 would be required before the project could move to procurement of a construction 

contractor.  

 

Cllr Casey stated that Southern Relief Road was a key project for their Council area and welcomed the 

clarification on the process provided. 

 

Cllr Hanvey noted the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on our economy and welcomed that the BRCD has 

been conscious of this in its development of projects and programmes.  Cllr Hanvey urged expenditure to be 

released as soon as possible due to the criticality of City & Growth Deals to NI.  Cllr Hanvey asked for 

clarification of the role of CPD in the BRCD. 

 

Damien Martin welcomed Cllr Hanvey’s comments and stated that a lot of work had gone into developing 

approaches which can also help in the short-term, pre signing of Deal Document, including the Digital Futures 

programme.  He further explained that CPD were currently engaged in providing cost validation advice on 

Page 78



BRCD projects to the NI Departments and that the Executive had agreed to fund these costs.  CPD will also 

have a role in advising on procurement going forward – but more clarity will be provided in due course. 

 

Suzanne Wylie, Chief Executive of Belfast City Council, highlighted that there remained an affordability issue in 

relation to delivery of all of the projects, at their current scale, within the NI Executive funded Tourism & 

Regeneration and Infrastructure pillars – and wished to highlight that there may be some difficult decisions to 

be made by partners – with discussions ongoing with DoF, DfI, DfE and DfC. 

 

Members noted the programme update and the next steps- proposed by Alderman Henderson and 

seconded by Cllr Smart. 

 

6.0 Impact of Innovation Investment- example of Screen Media Innovation Lab  

6.1 Cllr Trevor Cummings introduced Professor Frank Lyons, Professor of Music and Associate Dean of Research 

and Impact in Arts, Humanities and Social Sciences, Ulster University. 

 

Professor Frank Lyons provided a detailed presentation outlining the impact of BRCD investment within the 

innovation pillar, through the Screen Media Innovation Lab, a project focused on virtual production which 

could place NI as a world leader, leveraging significant private sector investment and providing local 

employment opportunities. 

 

Cllr Byrne welcomed the presentation, stating that the benefit for the whole Belfast Region and beyond is 

extremely exciting and that projects like this should be highlighted more strongly. 

 

Cllr Casey also strongly welcomed the presentation and thanked Prof Lyons. 

 

Alderman Henderson reiterated the views of Cllr Byrne and Cllr Casey, strongly welcoming the presentation 

and exciting project. 

 

Alderman Kingston emphasised that the project was an excellent example of future proofing and stated that 

he agreed with the comments of others in their support. 

 

7.0 Press Release 

 

7.1 Cllr Cummings asked members if they were content to agree the draft press release circulated in advance of 

the meeting. 

Proposed – Ald Kingston 

Seconded - Ald Henderson 

Members agreed the press release. 

Page 79



8.0 Schedule of Meetings 

 

8.1 The next meeting would be hosted by Belfast City Council and it was noted that a date would be agreed and 

circulated amongst Members. 

 

Page 80



 

 

Appendix 3 

 

BRCD Council Panel 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Minutes of Belfast Region City Deal (BRCD) Council Panel  

 
Date: 9.30 am, 4 November 2021 

Councillors in attendance: 

Councillor Stephen Ross – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Councillor Alistair Cathcart – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Alderman Alan McDowell – Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Councillor Stephen Dunlop- Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Alderman Brian Kingston – Belfast City Council 
Councillor Ronan McLaughlin - Belfast City Council 
Alderman Allan Ewart – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Alderman Michael Henderson – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Councillor Uel Mackin - Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
Alderman Billy Ashe MBE – Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Robin Stewart - Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Timothy Gaston - Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Barra O’Muiri – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Charlie Casey – Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Robert Burgess - Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 
Councillor Pete Byrne - Newry, Mourne & Down District Council 

Officers: 

Stephen Reid – Chief Executive, Ards and North Down Borough Council 
David Burns – Chief Executive, Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council  
Ronan Cregan – Deputy Chief Executive, Belfast City Council 
Damien Martin – BRCD Programme Director, Belfast City Council 
Majella McAllister – Director of Economic Development and Planning, Antrim and 
Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Susie McCullough – Director Regeneration, Development and Planning, Ards and 
North Down Borough Council 
Padraic Murphy – Programme Co-ordinator, Lisburn and Castlereagh City Council 
Ursula O’Loughlin – Head of Economic Development, Mid and East Antrim Borough 
Council 
Conor Mallon – Director Enterprise, Regeneration and Tourism, Newry, Mourne and 
Down District Council 
Amanda Smyth – Head of Regeneration and Business Development, Newry, Mourne 
and Down District Council 
Theresa Slevin, Stephen Wallace, Ruth Rea, Lorraine Beggs, Lesley Holmes – BRCD 
Programme Office 

 

1.0 Welcome and Introductions 

1.1 Cllr McLaughlin welcomed the members of the BRCD Council Panel to the meeting which was hosted by Belfast 

City Council and outlined the key areas of focus for the meeting. 

2.0 Apologies 

2.1 

 

Apologies were received from: 

Cllr Glenn Finlay - Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Councillor Richard Smart - Ards & North Down Borough Council 
Alderman Audrey Wales MBE - Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 
Councillor Robert Logan – Mid & East Antrim Borough Council 

Page 81



Alderman Philip Brett – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Alderman Mark Cosgrove – Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Councillor Eric Hanvey - Belfast City Council 
Councillor Carl Whyte – Belfast City Council 
Councillor Sorcha Eastwood – Lisburn & Castlereagh City Council 
 
Apologies were received from the following Officers: 

Suzanne Wylie – Chief Executive, Belfast City Council 
Jacqui Dixon – Chief Executive, Antrim and Newtownabbey Borough Council 
Marie Ward – Chief Executive, Newry, Mourne and Down District Council 
 

3.0 Declarations of Interest 

3.1 Cllr McLaughlin asked Councillors if they had any interests to declare in relation to the agenda.  No interests 

were declared. 

4.0 Minutes of Previous Meeting 

4.1 Cllr McLaughlin asked if the Panel agreed that the minutes of the previous meeting were an accurate reflection 

of the meeting.  

Ald Kingston proposed that the minutes from the last meeting were agreed. 

Seconded – Cllr Byrne 

Members agreed the minutes. 

5.0 BRCD Deal Document  

5.1 Ronan Cregan, BRCD Senior Responsible Officer, delivered a presentation summarising the Deal Document and 

Governance Framework, the timeline of its development and the approval process currently underway.  It was 

noted that approval is now in place from BRCD partners, the NI Delivery Board and NI Executive.   Approval from 

the UK Government is outstanding, however this is expected to be provided in the next couple of weeks.   

 

The content of the deal document was outlined, its funding structure and its expected outcomes.  Governance 

arrangements for the delivery of the deal were outlined; these will be similar to current arrangements with the 

current Executive Board and Pillar Board structure.  It was reported that the role of the Finance Directors Group 

will be enhanced reflecting the increasing role for financial oversight and management of funding.  The Council 

Panel will continue to fulfil a key role in overseeing the implementation of the deal, as well as providing 

leadership on further collaboration opportunities beyond the city deal. 

 

Cllr Byrne queried the plans for the promotion and launch of the overall deal, stressing the importance of 

promoting the collective package of investment.   

 

Ronan Cregan outlined plans to hold a launch event at the end of Nov/start of December, subject to UK 

Government approval of the deal, to profile the complete programme of investment and all partners will be 

involved in this event. Damien Martin commented that the scale of the event will be significant, but it will be 

delivered in line with covid guidelines and. it is hoped that the date for the event will be agreed within the next 

week.  

 

Cllrs Byrne, McLaughlin and Casey stressed the importance of scheduling the event as close to deal approval as 

possible to maximise the PR potential and avoid the risk of communication being leaked in advance.    

 

Members noted the report on the Deal Document and the Government Framework.  

  

6.0 BRCD Programme Update & Next Steps   

Page 82



6.1 Damien Martin, BRCD Programme Director, delivered a presentation on the progress of the overall BRCD 

programme of activity and outlining the key next steps.  Whilst securing the deal is a critical milestone further 

work is required to develop key documentation to enable funding to flow .The PMO have developed the financial 

and implementation plan for the deal and are currently working with government departments to agree grant 

letters of offer and advance the approval of business cases for projects that are at an advanced stage of 

development.   

 

It was highlighted that significant work has been undertaken over recent months to progress business cases.  To 

date four business cases in the innovation pillar have been approved by Ministers and two projects within the 

tourism and regeneration pillar have progressed through casework (Mourne Mountain Gateway and 

Carrickfergus Castle & Regeneration), with the latter also securing DfE ministerial approval.  The Digital 

innovation Programme Business Case has also been approved and further work is required to develop individual 

Outline Business Cases (OBC) for the projects contained within this aspect of programme.  It was stressed that 

whilst the deal signing is a welcome stage to unlock funding, further work is required to advance many of the 

projects through the business case process, the approval of which is also required to enable funding to start to 

flow to individual projects.   

 

It was reported that beyond the capital investment pillars, joint working across the partners continues to take 

place through the employability and skills programme and reference was made to digital graduate programmes 

that had been developed as a result of the BRCD, research undertaken on apprenticeship pathways and 

exploratory work to identify means to increase inclusion and diversity within high growth sectors.   

 

Cllr Dunlop enquired as to the current position with regard to funding for two infrastructure projects (Newry 

Southern Relief Road and Belfast Rapid Transit Phase 2) and the funding commitment for the innovation hubs.  

 

Damien Martin responded highlighting that across the tourism and infrastructure pillars the decision of partners 

was made to prioritise tourism and regeneration projects and that there are therefore some funding constraints 

within the infrastructure pillar.  However, funding is in place for Newry Southern Relief Road and funding is also 

available for enabling investment in Belfast Rapid Transit Phase 2,  as detailed within the Deal Document, and 

engagement is taking place with government departments as to how the scheme can be fully delivered.  It was 

also confirmed that funding for innovation hubs has been secured through the overall Digital Programme but 

individual business cases will need to be developed for each hub, as per the approach for the i4C project. 

 

Cllr Byrne queried the timeline for the approval of OBCs, specifically from the completion of casework through 

to ministerial and DoF approval.    

 

Damien Martin reported that experience to date suggested that it has been around 3-months. However, it is 

difficult to be definitive as caseworks often result in additional queries, impacting upon the speed of approval.  

Ronan Cregan followed up by highlighting that individual project budgets have been ringfenced. Therefore the 

allocation of funding is not determined by the speed of approval through the casework process.  

 

Cllr Cathcart congratulated everyone involved in the progress achieved to date, highlighting key projects 

including the Bangor Waterfront Regeneration Scheme and emphasising the importance of the innovation hubs 

to job creation.   

 

Damien Martin reported that the partners are working on advancing the OBCs for the innovation hubs, 

highlighting the complexity of developing robust, sustainable financial models for these projects.  Reference was 

made to the progress of the i4C project in helping to develop a pathway through the approval process.   

 

Page 83



Members noted the report.  

 

7.0 Communication & Engagement 

7.1 A video produced for the Digital programme was showcased and Damien Martin outlined the key 

communication products being developed for the launch, including a summary deal document and a refreshed 

look and feel for the deal signing.  Plans are also underway to develop a new website for the delivery phase.   

 

It was reported that significant engagement work has been underway across the partners aligned to specific 

projects.  In recent months a key focus for engagement activity has been focused upon government partners to 

secure approval of business cases and approval of the deal. However, recently strategic engagement has also 

been taking place with key business representative bodies.  A draft communication protocol outlining the 

arrangements between partners and government departments has been developed and this is currently with 

departments for review.  

 

Cllr Byrne welcomed the creation of the video, referencing its ability to promote the collective programme of 

investment and the benefits it will deliver.   

 

Members noted the report and plans for further engagement with government department on the draft 

communications protocol. 

8.0 Schedule of Meetings 

8.1 Cllr McLaughlin highlighted that a schedule of meetings has been circulated with the next meeting to be hosted 

by Antrim & Newtownabbey Borough Council in February; the date for the meeting is to be agreed and will be 

circulated amongst Members. 

 

Page 84



 

 

 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 

Subject: PwC Good Growth for Cities 2022 Report: Taking Action on 

Levelling Up 

Date: 15th April, 2022 

Reporting Officer: Cathy Reynolds, Director of City Regeneration and Development 

Contact Officer: Marie Miller, Marketing Manager, City Regeneration & Development 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  

 

Yes  No  

 
1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on PwC’s Good Growth for Cities 

2022 Report: Taking Action on Levelling Up.  

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 The Committee is asked to note the update on PwC’s Good Growth for Cities 2022: Taking 

Action on Levelling Up report, which measures the performance of cities and regions across 

the UK as indicators of ‘Good Growth’ and ranked Belfast as the highest-ranking city from 

the devolved nation. 

 
3.0 Main Report 

 

3.1 

 

Background 

The Demos-PwC Good Growth for Cities Index is an annual report which looks at broad 

measures of economic performance alongside well-being indicators to develop a metric for 

 X  

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 85

Agenda Item 5b



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

‘Good Growth’ of cities. Specifically, the report ranks 50 of the UK’s largest cities based on 

people’s assessment of 12 key economic wellbeing factors, including jobs, health, income 

and skills, as well as work-life balance, house affordability, travel-to-work times, income 

equality, environment and business start-ups. This year’s report also includes two new 

indicators covering safety and vibrancy of local high streets. Indicators within the report align 

to the Council’s strategic objectives such as the Belfast Agenda, Corporate Plan, BRCD.  

Belfast City Centre and Regeneration Strategy (BCCRIS), Bolder Vision for Belfast and the 

Reset for Growth report, as well as a number of other strategies and programmes. 

 

Using these ‘Good Growth’ indicators, the report ranked Belfast in eighth place, and highest 

ranked city from the devolved nations. Other cities in the top 10 include London, Manchester, 

Birmingham, Glasgow, Newcastle, Liverpool, Leicester, Sheffield and Bristol. Members will 

be aware of the projects and programmes Council are delivering aimed at job creation, 

regeneration and place making, vibrancy and making Belfast a city a great place to live, 

work, visit and invest. The recent findings from this report are a positive sense check in terms 

of our direction and focused priorities, and also highlighting the need to ensure that we 

continue to work to position the city to compete both nationally and globally. 

 

Contained within the report are case studies of best practice at how investment in 

townscapes, support in community cohesion, efforts to foster local pride and attract new 

types of businesses are being used to boost growth. Belfast was selected as a case study 

for inclusion within the report, referencing a balanced and deliberately interventionist 

approach to regeneration.  Work being undertaken by the city to invest in place-making, 

open and green spaces, community infrastructure, connectivity and cultural and tourism 

offerings in order to create a more attractive, accessible, and vibrant city centre which 

connects to surrounding communities are highlighted as best practice. It also referred to city 

investment plans including a citywide commitment to investing in neighbourhoods, leisure 

and community facilities and to strategies that integrate physical regeneration with cultural, 

social and environmental regeneration.  It highlighted the Bolder Vision for Belfast as being 

key to a stronger and more resilient city core and acting as a call to action for the council, 

civic partners, local businesses and the wider local community.  It also highlighted how 

Belfast is working to establish itself as a cultural centre in order to realise it’s global cultural 

and economic ambitions, referencing the 10-year cultural programme, UNESCO City of 

Music and the Belfast Stories development plans.  The city’s innovation and inclusive 

economic growth plans, supported by the BRCD investment and Belfast’s position as the 

number one city for FinTech investments were referenced and that further investment in 

Page 86



 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

digital connectivity and supporting centres of excellence would drive Belfast forward as a 

global digital and scientific centre and globally significant destination for innovation. 

 

While the report welcomes the Levelling Up White Paper, analysis within the report 

demonstrates that Government, public and private sectors need to continue to work 

collaboratively to address regional inequalities and capitalise on the once in a generation 

opportunity to create successful places and deliver good growth. Members will be aware that 

the  Council is working collaboratively with public, private, community and key anchor 

institution partners across a number of partnerships including Innovation City Belfast, Dublin 

Belfast Economic Corridor, Belfast Region City Deal and the Climate Commission and to 

deliver strategic programmes of work including A Bolder Vision, a Future City Centre 

Programme and neighbourhood regeneration aimed at delivering our shared collective 

ambitions as outlined within the Belfast Agenda.    

 

The report notes that in general cities which performed well in this year’s index had strong 

local economies, and strong environmental and safety credentials. It also notes that the 

pandemic has caused a shift in public priorities, with people wanting to be more connected 

with their local communities and to live in greener, fairer places. Members will be aware of 

the effects of the pandemic in Belfast, and efforts by the Council to address the impact on 

our communities and businesses, including the delivery of the DfC Covid Recovery 

Revitalisation Programme and via Belfast: Our Recovery plan. The report has found that the 

shift in public priorities has also altered the growth prospects of cities and regions as people 

change how and where they want to work and live, with small and provincial cities benefitting 

more in the context of the levelling up agenda. This provides an opportunity for Belfast in 

terms of its desire to attract and retain residents in the city to deliver on our Belfast Agenda 

ambitions including to attract 66,000 new residents by 2035.   

 

The report tracks regional and city recovery across different demographic and societal 

groups including young workers, ethnic groups, and women, however it does not publish the 

breakdown per city and region.  

 

The report also proposed four key areas for cities and regions to consider as they develop 

Levelling Up plans and continue to address economic recovery.  In order to secure a fairer 

economic recovery and build sustainable growth it highlights that local and central 

government and the private sector should focus on the following:   

 

Page 87



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

1.  Levelling up and the reality of regional inequality  

2. Capitalising on growth outside the larger metropolitan cities  

3. Driving social mobility and addressing intergenerational inequality 

4. Green growth to provide the basis for all future action 

 

There are various actions that sit below these priority areas for central and local government 

and businesses relating to investment in relationships across the public, private and third 

sectors to develop place strategies for place-based transformation; investment in high 

streets; sector focused employment investment; reskilling and apprenticeships; local 

economic strategies; housing education; improved transportation links; circular economy 

and green growth; net zero and sustainability.   

 

These action areas align to Belfast’s strategic ambitions as outlined in the Belfast Agenda, 

and propositions outlined within the Innovation & Growth Commission ‘Reset for Growth’ 

report aimed at amplifying the city and region’s future success focused around priorities on 

being more globally relevant; immediate action on climate change and turning this into an 

economic opportunity; housing development; developing a stronger core city and delivery of 

a Bolder Vision and a focus on building world-renowned business clusters.  

 

 

3.10 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

None associated with this report. 

 

 

3.11 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/ Rural Needs Assessment  

None associated with this report. 

 

4.0 Document attached  

 
4.1 

  

PwC Good Growth for Cities 2022: Taking action on Levelling Up report 

 

 

Page 88



�������������	���
����
������������������������������������ !��"�������#���# �$�%
������ !����"����

Page 89



����������	
��
�	��������� �����

���
��
�
	������������� � ��!"�
�	�����#
	�$�
�	��%��$�%������ &'(�����

�
	���	�$�)*��	
��	���� +',�	#$�������
�
�#� -�,��	#$
�� �&.�#��
��� �/

0112�031456�713�8959:;�<=>?@A�=BC?D@�D@�EFGFEE?@A�HIJK Page 90



�������������	�
������
���������
���
	������
��������
��
�������������������������� �!"�#�"#�����$!��� �%�!&����#��'�&�(�)�#���*�!*���#&��*�#$�)+�,�
�����������������
����������������
���������
����

�����
���-�������&�#�)��"���&�*.'��$�*��"���&$�)/�0��$��&!0�*��)�&�)�#&�!**!��.&�� +�1��2�����
������������������
�����������
�

2������
2������
���������
��������������������-��
�����������
����-��������������
��������������������
���
	���������
��2����3��2�������������-����������������
���$!.&�� �"!��4�&��#��!&)+,���������2��
��2������5�-�22����6
�7�����8�
����������2�
������������������������2��������������������9

��9�
����	
��:��������

������
��������������9
-������������������������2
��2�2���������22�������
��
�;��
��������	���������
���
���2����
�������
�����������������
��



���������
��������).$$�))".��*�#$�)���4���#$�!))�����<=+>?@AB�CDEFAG�HIJK�LM�NO�PIQRLSTU�VWX Z[[\�Z][̂ _̀�a[]�bc_cde�fghijk�glminj�nj�opqpooijk�rs tuvwwx�vAwyz{�|wA�?DzDF}�~J�RSQ�J��RLS�LS��I�I��RSQ��� tuPage 91



���������	
����
�
��	��	
�
������	�	�������������������������	�����������
�������	�	�
�	
���	
������
���������	������	����������
���	
�����	��
�����
�

����� !"��#�$$%&'()�*+,�-./0,123�455),/)�2*)�672-�5/�*+,�89:�;,�.7,�<,62//2/6�*5�=/0,7)*./0�+5;�2*�+.)�,>.3,7<.*,0�.47,.0?�0,,-@755*,0�2/,A=.42*2,)�2/�5=7�)532,*?B�C+,�157,�;,�=/0,7)*./0�;+.*�072D,)�*+,),�2/,A=.42*2,):�*+,�<,**,7�5=7�-75)-,3*)�5E�),3=72/6�.�E.27�,35/5123�7,35D,7?�E57�.44B����������
��F���F��������

����G���
HI�J�K��F�K����������J	�	�
�L
F�M���
����
���F�������������
�������	�	�
��
F����	�

��	��������

��������
�����N���L
F�M����O
�P���
F���������
������	

������������
��	��	
F	�����
���
F�����
�
��
��FF	�	�
������
���
��������P�	
���
�����
�����

����Q�P
��	
��������������
O	��
�����OH�	���P���
�������
	
������

������
F������
�	��
��
���RS�TUUVWVXSY�TSU�WX�Z[\[]W�̂X_[�X̀�Wa[�_XZ[�XbcVXd̂�	

��
��	���	����F�P��������
F��	�����	
������
�L
F�M�	
���F�
�����
���	
F	�����
�������	
��
�������
F������	P��
�������������	���
�����
��e
�	
�����	��
�����
������
O�F����P��
����������P�	���������	F�����	���	��
��
��������
���
��������	
O����������
���N�	
�������������
���
��������
�����������
���O��N�������
�P��
������O�F�
�	���	
���P�	���������
��
���	�������������	����P�	
�������F��
�	

��
�
�����
����OH�	���P���
����	
�����F	
��	P��	�
��
F������
�	��
��
���N������	��	
���

	P�������	���
�����
�	���P��O��������������F	���P���������
�����������
��
�	
������������
�f��
��	
���	�������

������������
���
F�
O	��
���H��������
��������
���
��
���	���������P�	������������������
��	������
���f�������	
��������������
	
�P�	
�������F��
�����
��F�������

���������	����F�����������������F	
��	
�������������	�
���������
�	��
��
���
F����	
�������	�������
Q���VW�̂T̀[ghi�ja[Z[�kXdgU�Tll[TZ�WX�b[�̂VmSVn]TSW�̂dllXZW�̀XZ���
��	�
�	F���������������	��������o���	����
F����������paVg[�VW�V̂�UV̀n]dgW�WX�b[�lZ[]V̂[�TbXdW�Wa[�[qW[SW�WX�kaV]a�������
F��	����
�F�	��
����
�����
��
��	��	
����
�
�P�������������������������������������P��
��	�	
�����������lT̂W�WkX�h[TẐY�TgXSm�kVWa�Z[gTWVc[gh�̂WZXSm�]XSnU[S][�VS�������������
�����O������
����
�F����������	�
��������lXldgTWVXS�WX�Z[\[]W�XS�Wa[�WaVSm̂�Wa[h�cTgd[i�ja[�UTWT�VS]gdU[U�VS�WaV̂�Z[lXZW�̂dmm[̂Ŵ�WaV̂�V̂�aTcVSm�T�̂VmSVn]TSW�	�������
����������	��������
�
����F	�����
�������
�f������	�	�
����������������������	

����	
������
�L
F�M������
���
�����������
��	�
�P���������
�����������	
�F�P��
���
���
�	��
��
�����
F�
���������F�
�	��
��

r����
���
	
���
��
����
�
�
�����	���F������
������P��
����	
��������������P���
��������������
���	F���������	
������
��
�����P�	
��������
�	��
��
���
F�	
�����F	
��	P��	�
��L
�
������
�
����	
�	
�������	
������
�������
��	�����������	
�����	
�	����	�	�
��s�
�F��
��������������	�
����
������������	��������
�	������������
���������
��������	�	�
�	
������
���
	
�f�
�����
�s���
��������tM������
F�I��������f��	���
���
���
����K��

�u�����eFF�F�vKue�������������
�	
�wxw���
F�wxww��������F�����������������������	��
��	�	�
��N����������	������F���������
������
����
��������
F�����	
�	����	�	�
�	
����P���������F�	
�������
��M���������������	
��������
F���	��	
���
�������������������Q��	������lgT][̂�b[S[nWWVSm�̀ZX_�Wa[�WZ[SÛ�Z[̀[Z[S][U�TbXc[�TZ[�VS�����y���������������
�����z�
���������	

��
��
F���	

	
�����������	����
F����������
�������	�	�
�	
�����z	F��
F
��
F�����{����������P��
��M����P���F�P��������
F��	���N�������������
��	�
�	
�
����������
���	�	�
�����	
����
�
�P������F�
����������������P��
��
�P�����
������������	���	
���
��������
�	
��
�����������P�	���������
��
��
F�����
��F�����������������	
�����
�	�
��������������	������
�����	
�������o�	�O���{���������

�������
���
	
�	
F	����
�����������
������
�XllXZWdSVWV[̂�̀XZ�]VWV[̂�TSU�XWa[Z�TZ[T̂�WX�b[S[nW�̀ZX_��������
�	
��
���������������������	����
F�P�	
��������������	
	�
�������	�����

����F��	����K��F�K�������N�	
����������	
����	���F�
�������F	�����
�����������F��
��������������������������H
���	
�����
F�������M������������������
������O�����	�
����F�	������
��	���������	
����	������
��L
���F�F�	
�������
��
��F	�
����������������������������M�����
��������	
��
���
��	
����

����
��
����������������
	�������
	�
��������
������
������������	F���
F���������
�������
����P�
	
�

�
�����P�	
���
�F����P��
���������	
����
�������
�|�	���������
F��	����
��M����P���F���
��������������
�
���	��������
��
�	
�����
��	�����
�	��	
����P�	���������
��
��������F��	����������	�	�����	������F��	����������	
�����
	�
����F�P��������P�	���	�
��������|�	���I���������
�
�����	
F�������������
	��������
����
F�F��	����K��F�K����������

�����}~��e��	��	
����	
��	�����o�	���	���	
��	�
��P��F����	�
��
F������P����	�
�P�������
��
���P�
	
�

�
���
F����������F��
��r
���P�����O	
������������	������
������K��F�K������
����
F���������������������������������������������������������������������� �550��75;*+�E57��2*2,)�N�O	
�����	�
��
�������	
������ Page 92



��������	�
������
������������	��	�
�����
�������
	����	������
����
�����������������
�
�
�������	��������
���
��
���	��������
�������������� ����!"  � "#�$��" "�%��& '(�)��������
��
������
��
���
�����������
������	�����������*��
�����	+���
�
�	����
����
+�������
���,-��������.�
���
�����
�������	��
���	�����
����	��*�	����
��
���" !�����&"�''��/ �������(0
2334�253678�935�:;7;<=�>?@ABC�?DEAFB�FB�GHIHGGABC�JK LMNOOP�NQORST�UOQ�VWSWXY�Z[\]̂_�[̀a]b̂�b̂�cdedcc]̂_�fg LMPage 93



��������	�
	����
��
	��	
�������������������������� ��!���"��#�$�%��� �%��&&����#��������'(���$����#� �%��&�!��$����'��!�"��"&���%��  �����)*+�,���� �"��$"��#�����"�-&�%�������  �  �������&��� (���#��#.� ��������"�������� ���#���� ��!�&�������%%��#���&�+�,����%����������!���� (�����������'��������""��������������/����������������"�-&�%���#���!�� �������� ���%���""���%�+�01�234567819�:3;�<;7=�>::9�>;:?=8�@:;�A6=617�BC91D�EFGH�GHI�GHFJK�GLJK�MINOP�L�QIRLQI�LSOTU�NILPVWFJS�GHI�XIWYOWNLJRI�LJQ�RHLWLRGIWFPGFRP�OY�RFGFIP�LJQ�WISFOJP�FJ�L�RONXOPFGI�Z[OOQ�[WOEGH\�]JQÎ_�̀HI�]JQÎ�PIIKP�GO�WIROSJFPI�GHLG�FY�SWOEGH�FP�IPPIJGFLaab�LcOVG�FNXWOdFJS�GHI�XWOPXIWFGbU�OXXOWGVJFGFIP�LJQ�EIaacIFJS�OY�GHI�SIJIWLa�XVcaFRU�GHI�YORVP�NVPG�SO�cIbOJQ�GWLQFGFOJLa�NILPVWIP�OY�IROJONFR�PVRRIPPU�PVRH�LP�[Me�OW�[fg_�hVW�LJJVLa�]JQÎ�ROdIWP�L�aFPG�OY�cWOLQ�NILPVWIP�OY�1i:C:j6i�?155416Ck�l�@mi=:;7�=81�23456i�691C=6<17�m7�j:7=�6j2:;=mC=�=:�=816;�?:;n�mC9�<CmCi17o�mC9�m;1�GHIWIYOWI�IPPIJGFLa�YOW�pVQSFJS�IROJONFR�PVRRIPP_�̀HFP�bILWU�EI�EOWKIQ�EFGH�MINOP�GO�VJQIWPGLJQ�FY�GHIPI�YLRGOWP�WINLFJ�WIaIdLJG�q�LJQ�GO�ÎXaOWI�EHLG�IaPI�GHI�XVcaFR�NLb�JOE�XWFOWFGFPI_�

Tr�sI�XVcaFPHIQ�OVW�YFWPG�[OOQ�[WOEGH�]JQÎ�FJ�Ttuu_�̀HI�YFWPG�[OOQ�[WOEGH�YOW�vFGFIP�WIXOWG�ELP�XVcaFPHIQ�FJ�wOdINcIW�TtuT_xr� H̀I�[OOQ�[WOEGH�YOW�vFGFIP�]JQÎ�NILPVWIP�aFYI�ÎXIRGLJRbU�GHFP�ELP�PIaIRGIQ�GO�SFdI�LJ�OdIWLWRHFJS�XOWGWLbLa�OY�GHI�PGLGI�OY�HILaGH�OVGRONIP_

sI�YOVJQ�GHLG�Laa�OVW�OWFSFJLa�NILPVWIP�OY�IROJONFR�PVRRIPP�LWI�PGFaa�ROJPFPGIJG�EFGH�XVcaFR�dFIEP_�yVG�OVW�WIPILWRH�WIdILaIQ�GHLG�aOE�RWFNI�WLGIPU�HLdFJS�L�PLYI�JIFSHcOVWHOOQ�LJQ�L�dFcWLJG�aORLa�HFSH�PGWIIG�LWI�LaPO�ROWI�GOXFRP�OY�XVcaFR�FJGIWIPG_�H̀I�XOXVaLWFGb�OY�GHIPI�GOXFRPU�LJQ�GHI�INXHLPFP�XaLRIQ�OJ�FG�FJ�OVW�LJLabPFP�OY�XVcaFR�XWFOWFGFIPU�XWONXGIQ�VP�GO�VXQLGI�GHI�]JQÎ_�sI�JOE�FJRaVQI�GEO�JIE�NILPVWIP�OY�IROJONFR�PVRRIPP�GHI�XVcaFR�YIIaP�PGWOJSab�LcOVGz�HFSH�PGWIIGP�LJQ�PLYIGb_

{||}�{~|�����|~��������������������������������������� Tr�sI�XVcaFPHIQ�OVW�YFWPG�[OOQ�[WOEGH�]JQÎ�FJ�Ttuu_�̀HI�YFWPG�[OOQ�[WOEGH�YOW�vFGFIP�WIXOWG�ELP�XVcaFPHIQ�FJ�wOdINcIW�TtuT_xr� H̀I�[OOQ�[WOEGH�YOW�vFGFIP�]JQÎ�NILPVWIP�aFYI�ÎXIRGLJRbU�GHFP�ELP�PIaIRGIQ�GO�SFdI�LJ�OdIWLWRHFJS�XOWGWLbLa�OY�GHI�PGLGI�OY�HILaGH�OVGRONIP_���#��������!�������� �̀LKFJS�LRGFOJ�OJ�aIdIaaFJS�VX�� Page 94



��������	
�	����
	
��	�����
����	���	���	���������	
���	����	���	�	��� �!"� #	�$�%#	� 	#$���	�&'(�#� "�	��)�#�*�	
�	
��	�
���	���	���	���������+	,-./0	1	��
�����	���	�����
����	����	���
	2���3�	4���5	���	6�������	
���	
�	���	�����
����	
���	2���+7���	���	89����
	
��	��	
��	���
	�����
��
	���������	� 	(:�	; <�=	)��#	����>	���	��� �!"� #	<�"������	� 	 
����	����
���	�����
��6�	��	���	����
��	4���5
	���
	)�?�)�	<:�	#(	":��� #	"( !<� "�	� 	#$�	�&')(�&� #	���9�
+	4�	6��
���

	��6���
	����������
	���	� "(&�	<��#��@:#�( 	���	��� �!"� #	� "������A	;#	��	��������	
���	6�����	��	��������	��	�	
�������2	��������	
�	
��	�������6	���	��	��2	���	
��	����
���	�����
����	����	��
	��	��
���	2����+
B�	��	���	��������	�����
�
	���	���������	���	�����
��	�66������	
�	
����	�����	��	����
���	�����
��6�+	C���	2���
	
��	�����
�	��	��6�	��������	����	��
�������	���	�	�����6	�������	���	�2	D����+	E�	����	�	�����
	�
�
��	��������6�	������6�	
������	6��F���
	����2���	��	�����	
�	����6�	
����	�����
����+	G��
���	��
����	6��	��	�����	��	
��	B������5	��6
���+

HIJKL0	1M	N0-OKL0O	PQ	0RPSPTIR	OKRR0OOU	L-SV0W	XIJX0OY	YP	/PZ0OY	IS	Y0LTO	PQ	YX0IL	Z0IJXYISJOU	LPKSW0W	YP	S0-L0OY	ZXP/0	SKT.0L

,-./0	1M	[KL	L0\IO0W	]PPW	]LPZYX	Z0IJXYISJO	RPT -̂L0W	YP	_̀_̀
8���6�a	D����	b	c��	B���2���	d���ef
g 7��� 4�6��� h���
� E��9i����	�����6� j��		���������� h������ C�������
 89���� k���������
 4�6���	���
����
��� 8���
2 h���	8
���
	l	8�������� em e� em n o e� n e� n n jbB jbB���e n ep e� e� � m n � e� em em q������ r s r s r r t r s s t tuT P̂LY-SY	SPY0M	vPT -̂LIOPS	YP	/-OY	w0-LxO	L0̂PLY	IO	SPY	̂POOI./0D��	
�	
��	�5
��
	��	
��	4���5	�������
	��	�����	��
	������	��9���	�	6���������	��
����	
��	�6����	��	
���	2���3�	�����
	���	
����	��6�����	���
	2���+yzz{	y|z}~�	�z|	��~���	������	������	��	���������	�� �̀Page 95



���������	
��
��
���
�������������
������
��
����������
������� 
 ��
����!�����"#
 !$ "!$ ��%
���
�!�&
� ��
���
� �
"���""!�$
�'
�$��%�
��
������%(
!�
���%�
��
���� 
)�#��%
$��$��' !�
!��*��"!�!��
��%
)�����
���'��%
��
� �
'�)"!�+�
'�!��!�!��
��%
��������
�����%
� �
!��*��"!�!��
&!� !�
��$!���
��%
������!�!��,
-!� 
� �
'�)"!���!��
��
� �
.���""!�$
/'
- !��
0�'��
��
1
��)����#
1211(
&�
��&
 ���
�
�"�����
��%������%!�$
��
� �
����������+�
�!�!��,
3 ��$ 
� !�
�!�!��
�������
�4�"��!��"#
��
$��$��' !�
!��*��"!�#(
!�
����$�!���
� ���
���
��"�!'"�
!��*��"!�!��
& !� 
������
'��'"�
��%
��5��&"�%$��
� �
���%
���
����
����%�%
������$!��
��
������!�
�������#,
3 �
- !��
0�'��
���"!���
61
���!���"
"���""!�$
�'
7�!��!���+
��%
����
���
'"���
��89
�4'��%
%���"��!��
������
:�$"��%9
!�������
'�#(
��'"�#����
��%
'��%���!�!�#
9
����!�
��
%�����!�
!���������
����!%�
.��%��
��%
� �
;��� 
:���9
�'$��%�
!�������������
��%
'�)"!�
����!���9
��%���
��!��9
!�'����
 ��"� (
&�"")�!�$
��%
'�!%�
!�
"���"
������!�!��


3 �
���!�)"��
&�
��'����%
��
'���
��
���
<�%�4
������ 
��""
)���%"#
!�
"!��
&!� 
� �
����������+�
61
&�""=����%�%
�!��!���
>��
%����������%
)#
?@
��
A
�''��!��B,
C�
�!�!��
��%
��$!���
������
� �
/D
%���"�'
� �!�
"���""!�$
�'
'"���(
� �#
&!""
���%
��
�%�'�
�
�!�!"��
&�""=����%�%
EFFGHEIJK
LJMN
OEN
PQR
ST
JMUFVWU
TH
IHQXSRMG
TJMSG
'����������
��
� �
���%
���&� 
<�%�4
� !�
#���(
!�
��%��
��
!%���!�#
� �
����
��%
"����
���������"
!�%!������
&!� !�
� �!�
$��$��' #,
<�
!�
!�������!�$
��
����
� ��
!�
� �
- !��
0�'��+�
61
�!��!���(
� �
���!�������
!�
��!���%
>!�
��"��!��
��
�����!��)!"!�#
Y
�"!����
� ��$�B,
:��!�������
����!����
��
)�
��
!�'������
�������
��
������!�
�������
�����%!�$
��
���
���"#�!�(
��%
���
�!�&
!�
� ��
�!�!��
��%
"���"
"��%���
� ��"%
����!%��
� !�
!�%!�����
!�
� �!�
"���""!�$
�'
'"���,

Z��[�@���\
]��̂��
_�����
@��
�̂�
̀���̂
a@��- !"�
� �
.���""!�$
/'
- !��
0�'��
�����
!��
������!��
��
!�'���!�$
� �
������!��
����!%�
��
.��%��
��%
� �
;��� 
:���(
!�
!�
!�'������
��
����$�!��
� ���
���
EGMEX
bSTJSQ
TJMXM
GMcSHQX
bJSIJ
MdFMGSMQIM
XScQSPIEQT
� �""��$��,
-�
�4'"���
� !�
���� ��
��
'�$�
1e
!�
� �
����!��
��
7:�����!�
�������#
��
!�%!����%
)#
��'"�#����+,
3 �
����
���
�����!�$
��
!��*��"!�#
&!� !�
.��%��
��%
� �
;��� 
:���
!�
�����$��
!�
�� ��
�#'��
��
!��*��"!�!��
���
���������%(
��� 
��
� ���
)��&���
%!�������
�� �!�
$���'�(
���
��%
&����(
��%
%!�������
$������!���,
3 ��$ 
� �
�����
��
��$!���"
%!�'��!�#
!�
��!�!��"(
��
!�
�%%����!�$
!��*��"!�#
&!� !�
��$!���,fggh
figjkl
mgi
nokopq
rstuvw
sxyuzv
zv
{|}|{{uvw
~��� ����
���]�̂
���
������
3�5!�$
���!��
��
"���""!�$
�'�� Page 96



���������	
���
��
��
��������������
���������������������������������
��������������

���

�������� ��

��!"##"$%#�&�'$()#�*+,-�"%�./,�0,1,22"%3�45�6/".,�7-5,+ 8$9�9,�:,-#)+,�,-(/�0467�:"##"$%�"%�;$$<�;+$9./�=$+�>".",#�?@?A0"1"%3�B.-%<-+<# C�D$E#�F�4%,:52$G:,%.�+-.,C�H%($:,�F�;I8H�5,+�/,-<�#(-2,<�EG�+,3"$%-2�5+"(,�"%<"(,#C�H%($:,�<"#.+"E)."$%�F�J-."$�$=�:,<"-%�.$�:,-%�"%($:,K+-%#5$+.�L�H%=+-#.+)(.)+, C�K+-%#5$+.�F�*1,+-3,�($::)."%3�.":,�.$�9$+MN<)(-."$% C�BM"22#�F�BM"22#�OAPQ?RSBM"22# C�BM"22#�F�BM"22#�O?TUS8,-2./ C�8,-2./�F�0"=,�,V5,(.-%(G6,22QE,"%3 C�6$+MQ2"=,�E-2-%(,�F�W�"%�,:52$G:,%.�9$+M"%3�:$+,�./-%�RT�/+#�5,+�9,,M7+"<,�"%�52-(, C�8"3/�#.+,,.#�L�#/$5#�F�J,.-"2�#.$+,�$5,%"%3#�L�(2$#)+,#C�X,9�E)#"%,##,#�F�X,9�E)#"%,##,#�5,+�/,-<�$=�5$5)2-."$%8$)#"%3 C�8$)#"%3�F�8$)#"%3�5+"(,�.$�,-+%"%3#�+-."$�-%<�$9%,+�$(()5-."$%�+-.,>+":, C�B-=,.G�F�K$.-2�(+":,�($)%.�<"#($)%."%3�=+-)<�L�(GE,+(+":,�5,+�/,-<�$=�5$5)2-."$%J,#,-+(/�L�I,1,2$5:,%.�OJLIS QI"3".-2�($%%,(."1".G Q�0$(-2�2,-<,+#/"5 Q
YZZ[�Y\Z]̂_�̀Z\�ab̂bcd�efghij�fklhmi�mi�noponnhij�qr stPage 97



��������	
����
�	
����	�
����
������������
�����
���
� �! "#�!�
���$%��
��
&�
'�#�$
�!
()*
+,()
(-
,
.,/0
0*1-2*034
5-6(
1/(/*6
1-7(/78*
(-
6**
/5+0-2*5*7(6
/7
()*/0
9--:
90-;()
61-0*6<=
>(
/6
,?6-
*71-80,@/7@
(-
6**
()*
+,7:*5/1
),6
?*2*??*:
()*
A%�B !�
"�%$
��
��C�
$�����
&��D��!
���
� �����
�!$
?-;*6(
0,7E*:
1/(/*64
;/()
()*
@,+
7,00-;/7@
6?/@)(?3
()/6
3*,0=FGH
IJ
KLMNLOPHQ
NR
SGNQ
THLMUQ
NRVHW
XYRQNQS
YZ
I[
NRVNXLSYMQ\
]NSG
GŶQNR_
XỲ aYQHV
YZ
Y]RHMbYXX̂aLSNYR
LRV
GŶQH
aMNXH
SY
HLMRNR_Q
MLSNY\
LRV
QcNPPQ
XYRQNQSNR_
YZ
TŶSG
QcNPPQ
LRV
LV̂PS
QcNPPQd
eZ
SGHQH
I[
NRVNXLSYMQ\
SGH
ON__HQS
VMNKHM
YZ
ǸaMYKH̀ HRS
OHS]HHR
JfIgbIh
LRV
JfIibJf
NQ
]YMcbPNZH
OLPLRXH
jk/@80*
lmd
FGHMH
LMH
LPQY
OMYLV
ǸaMYKH̀ HRSQ
NR
SGH
QcNPPQ
YZ
]YMcHMQ
jL_HV
Jnom\
LQ
]HPP
LQ
NRXỲ H
VNQSMNÔSNYR
LRV
PNZH
HWaHXSLRXT\
aHMGLaQ

pqrqstuvw
txq
puyq
uv
rqzu{|q
}~p�uvw
��ttqpvy��Y]HKHM\
SGHMH
LMH
QN_RQ
YZ
VHXPNRNR_
GN_G
QSMHHSQ
LRV
RH]
ÔQNRHQQ
YaHRNR_Q\
]NSG
SGH
aLRVH̀ NX
âSSNR_
aMHQQ̂MH
YR
{�yuvqyyqy
t~
�v�
vq}
}��y
t~
wqvqp�tq
s�yx�
�~�yuvw
GLQ
LPQY
OHHR
ǸaLXSHV\
]NSG
L
QGLMa
VHXPNRH
NR
SGH
GŶQH
aMNXH
SY
HLMRNR_Q
MLSNY\
GN_GPN_GSNR_
GY]
GŶQNR_
LZZYMVLONPNST
LRV
Y]RHMbYXX̂aLSNYR
MLSHQ
GLKH
ZLPPHR
QNRXH
SGH
QSLMS
YZ
SGH
aLRVH̀ NXd
�HQaNSH
HZZYMSQ
ZMỲ 
SGH
�YKHMR̀ HRS
SY
LVVMHQQ
GŶQNR_
LZZYMVLONPNST\
SGMŶ_G
QXGH̀ HQ
Q̂XG
LQ
SGH
�SL̀ a
�̂ ST
HWH̀ aSNYR\
SGH
GNQSYMNX
NRXMHLQHQ
NR
GŶQH
aMNXHQ
LMH
QSNPP
KHMT
̀ X̂G
LaaLMHRSnd
�H
HWaHXS
aMNXHQ
SY
XYRSNR̂H
SY
MNQH
NR
JfJJ\
SGŶ_G
LS
L
QPY]HM
MLSH
SGLR
NR
JfJI
LQ
HXYRỲ NX
XYRVNSNYRQ
MHŜMR
SY
aMHbaLRVH̀ NX
PHKHPQdk/@80*
l�
�2*0,@*
1),7@*
/7
61-0*
6/71*
l������4
�3
/7:/1,(-0
-.
()*
>7:*�

[m
�NRXH
]H
GLKH
LVVHV
S]Y
RH]
NRVNXLSYMQ
NR
ŶM
XỲ aYQNSH
�RVHW
LRV
GLKH
LR
HRSNMHPT
RH]
]HN_GSNR_
QTQSH̀ \
]H
GLKH
MHOLQHV
ŶM
LRLPTQNQ
SY
JfIgbIhd
FGNQ
HRLOPHQ
̂Q
SY
R̂VHMQSLRV
SGH
LRR̂LP
XGLR_HQ
SGLS
]H
]ŶPV
̂Q̂LPPT
QHH
]NSG
SGH
�RVHWdnm
�]�
XỲ `HRSQ
YR
e��
�YKH̀ OHM
GŶQH
aMNXH
ZN_̂MHQ
�ŶMXH�
�]�
�RLPTQNQ
jJfJIm
����
��� ¡¢
£��
¤¥¡¥¦§
̈©ª«¬­
©®̄«°¬
°¬
±²³²±±«¬­
́µ�� Page 98



��������	�
��
���
�
�������������������������������������������������������������

 !"#$%&�'()�*+,-./0/�123245

��������������������������678!#9�,+9�:!"#+%;!"<=�,#%�<=%�<(!�=0>=%/<�?%#8!#;0+>�$0<0%/�0+�<=0/�.%,#@/�A+9%7B�678!#9�?%#8!#;/�(%--�!+�0+$!;%C�=%,-<=C�/,8%<.C�+%(�D"/0+%//%/�,+9�/E0--/�12FG5C�=%-?0+>�HI�JKLMNK�OHJ�PNJH�QRSLK�QIJOHOITU�:!"#+%;!"<=�(,/�-,/<�.%,#@/�=0>=%/<�#,+E%9�$0<.C�D"<�/-0??%9�<!�/%$!+9�?-,$%�<=0/�.%,#�9"%�<!�,�?!!#�?%#8!#;,+$%�!+�V!D/�,+9�=!"/%�?#0$%�<!�%,#+0+>/�0+�2323B� (0+9!+�0/�0+�<=0#9�?-,$%C�?%#8!#;0+>�#%-,<0W%-.�(%--�,$#!//�<=%�D!,#9�!+�,--�;%<#0$/C�(0<=�V!D/�?%#8!#;0+>�?,#<0$"-,#-.�/<#!+>-.�<=0/�.%,#B�X%,90+>�#!"+9/�!88�!"#�<!?�8!"#C�?%#8!#;0+>�/<#!+>-.�!+�0+$!;%�,+9�/E0--/�12FG5B���������?#%/%+</�<=%�!W%#,--�YOJHNOZMHOIT�I[�LOHOKJ\�JLINKJ]�YKPTKY�D.�<#,W%-�<!�(!#E�,#%,/�1̂̂ _*/5�,+9�!"#�D,/%-0+%�!W%#�234̀a4bB�cd�����������	�e�cd�������������������f����d�����������d�������g"%�<!�<=%�%7<%+<�!8�<=%�A+9%7�#%8#%/=C�(%�(!"-9�+!<�,9W0/%�;,E0+>�,�$!;?,#0/!+�D%<(%%+�<=%�/$!#%/�0+�<=0/�.%,#@/�#%?!#<�,+9�<=!/%�0+$-"9%9�-,/<�.%,#Bhiij�hkilmn�oik�pqmqrs�tuvwxy�uz{w|x�|x�}~�~}}wxy��� ��Page 99



���������	�
	���

�������������	�������	�������	��	���	� �����!	 �""��#$��	%�&	������	��	'"��(�%!�	!�)�	��	��	��"����(��	���"���%�	��%	*��"	*%�&��+	,�	�	�������	���-.	��	��	�� �	���	���-	��	�/�%��%"���%-	����%��	��"	�%��������%��	(����-.	(��	��	0�-�����	������������.	����	��	���	��������	1�%��� ���.	��%��	���)�%������.	�	���&	��	�%�)���	�����%	���"2��%��%�	345	678	9:4	;434<63=	5687>6<7	64	7?@	A@87	B45CD��	�����	���"�%�	�%�	�&�%�	����	���	��!��-	��	���	����	 �-	���	���"	������	&���	��	���	����%�+	'"��(�%!�#�	%���	�����%-	��"	�%����)�	�����	 ����	��	���������	��	���%���	&�%0�%�	�%� 	��%%���"��!	�%���.	��"	&���	��&�-�	"%�&	���%����+	E��	��	���	���%�F��% .	GHIJKFLM	���	���	���	���%���	�����%	��%".	��"	 �%�	(%��"�-	��	 �-	��)�	�%� ���"	���2��������	��	&�"��.	���"��!	��	�	����%���"	&�%0��%��+$��	���-	���	�	!%���	"���	��	��!�	���"	N�(�	��"	��&	���"	N�(�.	(��	���%�	��	�	(�!	!��	��	(��&���	O	�������!	��	�	 �����!	 �""��	��	'"��(�%!�#�	&�%0��%��+	$��	�����	�����%��-	��"	���	��%���%�	�%�	PQRSTUVW	QV	XYTZU[[UVW	Q\\QX]SVU]UYT	]Q	TS\\QX]	̂QXZYXT	]Q	\XQWXYTT	UV	]_YUX	R̀XYYXTa	̀Vb	]Q	cXUbWY	]_Y	WXQ̂ UVW	[̀cQSX	d X̀ZY]	Ẁ\+	E��	����	%��"�	��%���	������%	�����%����e	�����%�!��!	�	(������"	��(��%	 �%0��	��"	����)�����	��"	!%�&��	68	fg7764h	f>@88g>@	94	8gff=i	9j	7?@	>6h?7	9j;<@	345	&�%0�����	����%+	k���0�	 ��-	����%	��%!�	 ��%��������	������.	����	��	l��������%	�%	E�% ��!�� .	'"��(�%!�	"���	���	��)�	=3>h@	4gmn@>8	9j	n>9:4;@=5	867@8	=@j7	o3<347	ni	7?@	"� ���	��	��"���%����������	����	��	���	(���"	����+	$��	���-	���"�	��	����%	 �%�	�����	��%	(���������	��	�����	��	��"	!%�&	��������(�-+	,�����%	0�-	�������!�	��	]X̀VTPQXdUVW	pbUVcSXW_qT	RU]r	stuvwt	tuxywzu{tuv	vz	|t	}v	~zw	v�t	~�v�wt+	,	0�-	�%��%��-	68	79	355>@88	7>3j;<	<94h@87694	64	7?@	<67i	345	6mf>9o@	7?@	2�����-	��	���	��(���	%��� 	��	0�-	���������+	�����	���	���-	68	<94;5@47	9j	3	87>94h	@<949m6<	>@<9o@>i�	67	n@=6@o@8	7?37	�%�������	��%	�%�!%���	%���	��	���	2�����-	��	���	&�%0��%��.	%�"����!	���2��������.	��"	��������!	���	�/�%��%"���%-	��!��-	��	�� �	��	'�%���#�	!%������	������	��"	������+

���

����	��	�����
�	��	����
����	�	
�����	�������
����	
�����
	�

������
	������	�
�	���	����������	��������	�������	�
	�����	��	�������	�������
�����	���	�
����
���	�����
���	�
�	�
����	������������	��	����	�����	���	��	�����	����

��� 	�¡�¢£¤	¥�¡	¦§£§̈©	ª«¬­®̄	«°±­²®	²®	³́µ́³³­®̄	¶·¹̧ ºQQb	ºXQ̂ ]_	PQX	»U]UYT	$�0��!	������	��	��)�����!	��¹̧ Page 100



��������	�
��
����
��������������
��������������������������
������� �!�����"�
���
����������# ����
�������
$�����������������"���������
��

%&'()*+�,-.�/0123454�67879:

/4�4;&-0�50���������<�-*�&=4*(>*�1�?1(@*A�5?B(&>*?*0C�D&(�.1(A5DD�C;54�3*1(<�C;10@4�C&�5?B(&>*?*0C4�50�E&=4<�50)&?*�10A�;*12C;F�G'C&0�HIJ�KLJMHN�HOPQ�RHSL�PTUITVWHIX�Y1504<�4C*??50Y�D(&?�5?B(&>*?*0C4�50�E&=4<�50)&?*�A54C(5='C5&0�10A�-&(@Z25D*�=1210)*F��[����
��
���	�
��[�����
����"��������\����[�������
���[�����"�];54�Y(1B;�4;&-4�C;*�A5DD*(*0)*�50�̂0A*_�4)&(*4�=*C-**0�C;54�3*1(�10A�214C<�;1A�-*�'4*A�&'(�(*D(*4;*A�?*C;&A&2&Y3�D&(�C;*�B*(5&A�789̀Z789aFb'*�C&�C;*�*_C*0C�&D�C;*�̂0A*_�(*D(*4;<�-*�-&'2A�0&C�1A>54*�?1@50Y�1�)&?B1(54&0�=*C-**0�C;*�4)&(*4�50�C;54�3*1(c4�(*B&(C�10A�C;&4*�50)2'A*A�214C�3*1(Fdeef�dgehij�keg�lmimno�pqrstu�qvwsxt�xt�yz{zyystu�|} �~Page 101



���������	�
	���
��������	�������	��������	����������	����	� ��� �!���	��"" ������#��$���	��%��	�	&'(')*+,	'),	,+(-&+.'/+(0	-)/+.1+)/-2)-3/	'44.2'*5	/2	.+6+)+.'/-2)7	8����	���!���	���	9��:!�;���9"���	��	���	����	����<	= �	=����;�	����	���	!�;���9"���	���	��	=�	�����	$��	���	��"" ������	� ��� �!���	��7	>���	���� !��	!�;����$����	���	����	������	��	�$$��	"���	����!������	����""�!�����<	�� ��	�������	?@ABCDE	FG	EH@IC?HE	J?I	KDFLMIC	AFDC	NFHCO	DFFAEP	FGQRC	�9���	��!	�"9��;�!	� �� ���	�$$������7	S��	���	�����<	�����	���!���	���	��;������	��	9����:"�%���<	�9��	��!	�����	�9����<	��"" ����	��$����� �� ��	��!	��������;���<	��	������	�	"���	��������;�<	�������=��<	��$�	��!	;�=����	����	������	T	�	9��9��	$�� ��!	����	������	�����	!����	���	��!��	��"" ����	��7����	��;���"���	9����	���� !�	�	������!�	��""��"���	��	��;���	��	#��$���U�	��!��	�����=� ����!�	����	����������	����	-)/+6.'/+	4503-*'(	.+6+)+.'/-2)	V-/5	*W(/W.'(X	32*-'(	'),	+)1-.2)Y+)/'(	.+6+)+.'/-2)X	'),	+(2)6'/-)6	/5+	*-/0	Z	*-1-*	34-)+7	>��	����	���	��;����!	���;���	��	�����=� ����!	������<	� ��	��	��"" ����	�������	��!	�9����	$���������<	��!	����	������ �	��	!�	��	���� ��	$ �!�	��	�����=� ����!	��;��7	>����	$ �!�	�����	�����	�������������	��	�99��	$��	� 99���<	��	��� ��	$��	��������	���	�����	��"" ����	��	������	$���������7	[;��	���	����	$��	�����<	$��	�\�"9��<	#��$���	���	��;����!	�7]̂_̀"	��	���	���� ��	$���������	$��	��"" ������7�������	��	9����	$��	���	����	������	��	��������	�	�������<	��������	��!	"���	���������	����	����7	>���	��	 �!��9����!	=�	���	#��!��	a�����	$��	#��$���<	�����	��"�	��	������%	���	���	����U�	�������	��!	9�����	���	 ��!	��	= ��!	� ������=��	��!	���� ��;�	������7	>��	;�����	����	� �	���	�"9�������	�$	��$�<	�������=��	��!	;�=����	�����	9�����<	��!	�$$���	�	����	��	������	$��	���	�� ����<	��;��	9�������<	�����	= ��������	��!	���	��!��	�����	��"" ����78��%���	����!<	#��$���	��	���%���	��	����=����	���	����	��	�	� �� ���	������	��	��!��	��	�������	���	���=��	� �� ���	��!	�����"��	�"=������7	S�	9���	�$	�	bcd0+'.	*W(/W.'(	4.26.'YY+	��	e_ef<	��	��	$�� ����	��	9��;�!���	���	�����	� �� ���	�$$�����<	���� !���	���� ������	��!�9��!���	���������<	 ��g �	9 =�	��!	���	9��h����7	i����	$��	�	j���	�$	� �� ��	��	e_ek	���	�����!�	 �!�����<	=���������	#��$���U�	9�������	��	�	lmno�[	����	�$	p ���	��!	!�;���9���	�	]̂__"	���!"��%	�� ���"	������	��	���	����	������	T	��	� �������	�\9�������	����	#��$���U�	9��9��	��!	9����������	��	���	�����7

q��	= ������<	#��$���U�	�"=�����	�\���!�	$��"	�� ���"	��	Q?J?RMJO	ECDLMRCE	HF	DCECJDRN	J?I	ICLCOFKAC?H	rstuvw	>��	����U�	����;�����	��!	���� ��;�	�����"��	������	9����	���%	��	��9�������	��	���	! ��	"��%��	������<	� 99����!	=�	�	xb&)	y+(z'3/	{+6-2)	|-/0	}+'(	-)1+3/Y+)/7	n�����"���	��	$��	���	��!	��	#��$���	=���"���	���	� "=��	���	����	$��	���=��	q��>���	��;���"����	��!	��9	n ��9���	����	$��	���	"�!����	��$�����	!�;���9"���7	>���	$ �����	��;���"���	��	!������	��������;���<	$ �!���	����;���;�	��! ����	��� �����	��!	� 99������	�������	�$	�\��������	��	�����!�!	��	!��;�	#��$���	$�����!	��	�	~OFBJO	IM~MHJO	J?I	ERMC?HMQR	RC?HDC	J?I	~OFBJOO�	EM~?MQRJ?H	!����������	$��	����;�����7���
�����	����
������
	���
�	�
�����	����������
�	����	��
���	������
����	������������	����	���������	����	��	�
�������
�	���	�
����	��������	�

���
��	���	����	���	�������	��	���	�������
�  ¡	�¢ £¤¥	¦ ¢	§̈¤̈©ª	«¬­®̄°	¬±²®³̄	³̄	́µ¶µ́́®̄°	·̧b¹ º22,	º.2V/5	z2.	|-/-+3	>�%���	������	��	��;������	 9b¹ Page 102



��������	�
����
��
�������������������������������������������������������������������
������ !"��������#

$%&'()*�+,-�./012343�567689���������3:%,3�;:)�<%%=�<'%,;:�>/=)?�3(%')3�@%'�(%AB4/)=�0&;:%'4;4)3�4/�C/D10/=�0/=�)E&4F01)/;�0')03�4/�$(%;10/=�0/=�G01)3�B);,))/�678HI8J�0/=�678KI67L�.1A%3;�011�-%AB4/)=�.&;:%'4;4)3�3:%,�0/�4AM'%F)A)/;�%F)'�;:43�;4A)�M)'4%=N�,4;:�-0'=4@@�-0M4;01�O)D4%/P3�QRSTRUVWTX�RYZ[\]̂Y T̂X�Y\QX�T\XW_̀̂ a


����
��
���������������������������������

b9�-%AB4/)=�0&;:%'4;4)3�0')�;2M4(0112�A%')�34A410'�4/�34c)�;%�dC+3�;:0/�(4;4)3N�0/=�:)/()�dC+3�:0F)�B))/�(:%3)/�03�0�A%')�0MM'%M'40;)�D'%&M�@%'�(%AM0'43%/L�e:43�(%AM0'43%/�3:)=3�14D:;�%/�:%,�(%AB4/)=�0&;:%'4;4)3�M)'@%'A�')10;4F)�;%�%;:)'�0')03�0('%33�;:)�(%&/;'2L�

��f�����������	����f�������������������g����f�����������f�������h&)�;%�;:)�)?;)/;�%@�;:)�>/=)?�')@')3:N�,)�,%&1=�/%;�0=F43)�A0i4/D�0�(%AM0'43%/�B);,))/�;:)�3(%')3�4/�;:43�2)0'P3�')M%';�0/=�;:%3)�4/(1&=)=�103;�2)0'L
jkkl�jmknop�qkm�rsostu�vwxyz{�w|}y~z�~z�������yz{���  �Page 103



���������	�
	��
����������	�������	������	��� �	��	���!���	������	������������"��#��$	%��#	��	���	&���&�	���&��$	 �	��	���	���&�'��(	)��&���*�	���#�����	$���	%+	'���	����	,-.	/	%������$	$�����	��	��� �&	0(---	���	1�%�	�	+���2	3���*�	�	������	����	����	���	% �	���	��	���	����	������	��	����	������2	�����	456	7849:;	67<=<>9	?@6A	B7@<;;	456	C<B@DE	456	F=B=78BG	���!����	������	$���	���	�������	/	�&&��$	,(---	���	1�%�	6H6@9	96B@	B=D	B77<I=48=?	J<@	4A<KFJ45;	<J	BGG	=6A	=64	1�%�	$�����2	"��#��$	����&(	���	���+*�	�������$�	��	��	�����	���	������ ������	��� �&	/	��	&�!����	� ������%��	��'' ������	����	LMNOP	Q	RSTUVSTWX	VST	YZX	VMYMTX2	3��	�����	� ������+	�����	��	�������	���	��$��	#��&	��	1�%�	��&	������ ������	��	���	$�����	�������	��	+� �$	������	��&	�����	��	��!���+2	����	����	��	'��&(	���	���+	��	TX[XRN[\	NY]	VSWM]	S[	ON[U]	RNYZ	̂TN_QYX	LM]N[X]]	Q[P	YZX	XPMWQYNS[	]XWYST2	̀�	���	��� ��&	' ���a%������	�� �&	��!���'����	��&	���!���	CI;8=6;;	bB@4=6@;58b;	J<@	c6=4@BG	deIB@6E	fBG6;:	F@;4	)������	g ������	h�������	��	�����(	�����	��	���	��'�	��	���	���	���&i ������	��	gg)	)+'� 2	3���	��'��	�'�&	��!���'����	���'	)��&���	j��!�����+	��	���	����!�����	��'� �	&�!����'����	��&	���	j��!�����+	��	k� ��	�����	��	���	k�����	��	)�����!�	̀�& ������2	3��	���+	��	��#��$	�	]XWYSTlVSWM]XP	Q̂ T̂SQWZ	YS	\TSRYZ(	���$����$	#�+	�������	���� &��$	m��3���(	���	������!�	��& ������	��&	�&!����&	'�� ���� ���$	��&	��������$���	��#�	��'�� �&	��'����& �����2	̀�	���	$�!��	����	��	�	� '%��	��	��'�$����	�����	 ��(	� ��	��	h����	��&	��������+	��	���	m��3���	�� ����	��&	���	3n	���& �����	�� &��	g�&	����	��	���	������!�	������2o�	����	��	���	����!��+	������$+(	���	�����	� ������+	��	��!�����$	��	����!�$������$	���	���+	������	��	��	�'��$��	���'	���	���&�'��2	m�������	��	)��&���	���	��� ���&	��	���a���&�'��	��!���	�����&+	��&	���	��!���'���	��	��&	��� �&	)������	ki ���	'����	���	���+	��	����	�����&	��	���&	���	�����'��	����!��+	���	�����2	̀�	�&&�����	���	�����	� ������+	��	����	���#��$	��	&�!����'���	� ���&�	��	)��&���	���+	������	/	�����������$	��!���'���	��	�������� �� ��	����	����	WS[[XWY	YZX	RNPXT	TX\NS[	YS	YZX	WNYp2	3��	qrL[	̂OQ[]	VST	YZX	sXYTS	��'�	��	� �	1� ���+	��'��	������	���	������#	��&	'���	����	&� %��	���	���i ���+	��	���!����	��	��'�	�� ���2	m �����	��!���'���	��	������&	��	���#	����	���	�'���!�&	t����	

��&	&�!����	�	��'��������!�	 �%��	� %���	���������	�+���'2	̀�	��	����&	����	�������� �� ��	����	� �����	���	���	uv0-'	o����	��	���	)��&���	g�+	����������	&�!����'���(	�����	���	�� ����	����	��	��	������	���	���	��&��	��$���������	��	���	o�������	�����	����2��
����wx	yxz	��	�xxz�x	��	���
�{�	�
�	xyx���
	�
�|��z	xz{��
	�
|zx�}z
�	��x	�z�	��	x�
�
�	��
�
z
x���x~	�
{�y��
�	���	����	�	�����	���������	���	����	�x	{�
x��z
z�	��z	}�x�	xy{{zxx�y�	������������	�������	��	�������
����	������	���	����� 	¡¢£¤¥¦	¢§̈¤©¥	©¥	ª«¬«ªª¤¥¦	­®r̄ °SSP	°TSRYZ	VST	±NYNX]	3�#��$	������	��	��!�����$	 �r̄ Page 104



��������	�
����
��
����������������������������������������������
������ !"��������

#$�%&'$�&()*�&+&(,)$-�.%$�/**-�/0*1.%�2+-$3�)4*0$)�5*0�.%$�67�89:�&0$&)�;+�9+<(&+-=����������0$>0$)$+.)�.%$�)4*0$�5*0�$&4%�89:?�0$(&.;'$�.*�.%$�&'$0&<$�)4*0$�5*0�&((�9+<(;)%�89:�&0$&)�;+�@ABCDBE=F*0+1&((�&+-�2)($)�*5�G4;((,�;)�.%$�%;<%$).�0&+H$-�89:�.%;)�,$&0?�*I.>$05*0J;+<�FIJK0;&�1%;4%�%&)�&�);J;(&0�%;<%�)4*0$�1%$+�(**H;+<�&.�.%$�@AB7D@A�K&)$(;+$�;+-$3=�8*+-*+�&+-�L*0H?�M*0.%�L*0H)%;0$�&+-�9&).�N;-;+<�89:)�&0$�.%$�K;<<$).�;J>0*'$0)�50*J�.%$�@ABCDBE�K&)$(;+$�;+-$3=


����
��
��������������������O�������������P���������������P�Q���R������

G*I04$S�:1F�T+&(,);)�U@A@BV �WP�����������	�X�WP�������������������O����P�����������P�������YI$�.*�.%$�$3.$+.�*5�.%$�2+-$3�0$50$)%?�1$�1*I(-�+*.�&-';)$�J&H;+<�&�4*J>&0;)*+�K$.1$$+�.%$�)4*0$)�;+�.%;)�,$&0Z)�0$>*0.�&+-�.%*)$�;+4(I-$-�(&).�,$&0=
[\\]�[̂\_̀a�b\̂�cd̀def�ghijkl�hmnjok�ok�pqrqppjkl�st  uPage 105



���������	�
	���

����������	�����	��	���������	����	�����	������	������ ����	!�������	"��	���	#���$��	��	�$�	����	�#	%���	%�����	&�����'	��	�����&��	���������	#��	()*++,-./-.	0),	(1-(,20	13	*	04*5/0/1-*+	(/067	8��	������	������	���9��	��&��������	��	����	�#	���	:;:<	%=	�$""��	��	!��9��	>��'	���	��	&$�������	��	���	�$�����	#��	:;:?	!���	�#	!$��$��7	@�&��	�������	�#���	���&��9�	��	��	��	�A������	&���'	�����	"����������	����	�������	���	�$���	���$�������	&��	����	9�	�������	#��	������'	���	B$��	$�9��	&�����7	8��	!�$�&��	���	@�&��	C���������	D����������	��E�	"���	E���	5,+/F,4*0,	5,(/G/1-G	*41H-5	0),	062,	13	.41I0)	0),6	I*-0	01	2H4GH,'	�A�������	������$������	��	�����	������	����������	����	&����	������9��	������	#��	�A�"���7	>�	�������	��	���	���������	��	�	������	��&�	��	���$���	����$�&��'	!�������J�	��&��9���������	������	���K�	����	���$����	���	�&���"��	��	�����&�	��E���"���	���	K�&K�����	���	���$������'	�$&�	��	���	�������"��	������	���$����7	!�������	���	��E�����	�����	�$"�	��	���	LMNO	PQROSQMTUV	WQVVN	XY	OSQ	Z[\	XY]V̂_XYP	̀abcT	XY	U	d7?K"	����	����	���&�	����	����	���	C���	D��B�&�J�	�&���&	eXRTQN\	UN	WQVV	UN	ROSQM	PMQQYSR̂NQN	UY_	RfL]QNb>�����	�������"��	������'	!�������	��	#�&$����	��	241g10/-.	10),4	4,-,I*F+,	,-,4.6	G1H4(,G'	��E�������	�����$"	���	&����&��	��&�	"�����'	��&K����	����&$��$���	"������	���	�$��������	����h�����	���������	��$�&���7	i�	U	LMNO	fRM	ĵMRkQ\	SRMXlRYOUV	NUOQVVXOQN	WXVV	mQ	VÛY]SQ_	#��"	n2*(,2140	o14-I*++	����	����'	��	����	�#	���	pqJ�	����������	r�������	s��&�	s�������78����	��&��	������	����������	���	���E��	�������	9�	�$�����	���	E��&�	�#	���������	��	���	�����	�#	9���	���	!�$�&��J�	�����	���	���	:;?;	E�����	#��	!�������	������	9�	���	��������7	t�B��	���������	&�"������	��E�	��E�����	�	����K���	��"���	�"���	���	�$9��&	#��	�&����	��	&��"���	&�����'	���	��	��$����7	u�	�	���$��'	���	��&������	���	"���	��	���	������	���	9����	��	��$���$�	�&���"�&�	v	���&�	��&��������	�	E��$��	#��"����K	#��	�$������9��	��E����"���7	i�	����	&���'	���	������"����	���	9�&K��	9�	���	��&��	�$�������J�	w��&�����	�����J'	���&�	���$���	G1(/*+	*-5	,-x/41-g,-0*+	(1-G/5,4*0/1-G	��#��"	���	��&������'	���	B$��	�&���"�&�	�����7

yz��
{	��z	��|�}�z~�}z	��~�|��{~	�
{	�z����~	��	~����
�	��}~z	���|z~�	���
�~�	|���}
���z~	��z	�������
�	
���	�
z�}�����z~	����	~����z	��	��z	�z���	��	��z	
����
�~	�z�z���
�	}�	��z
{��	~}|�	�~	���	�����	���	�	�������	������	��������	

����	������	 ��	¡¢�¢£¤	¥¦§̈©ª	¦«¬̈­©	­©	®̄°̄®®̈©ª	±²³́ µ115	µ41I0)	314	o/0/,G	8�K���	�&����	��	��E������	$�³́ Page 106



����������	
��	����
��	���	������������������������������ ���!������"��� ���#!�������!#�$�#�%�!��������!����!�����������&'$�(���)�����������#�����!��!��������!����������������!�*����!�!����#��!"�# ������#!%#����(����������"�����%�����%����$��������������������������#�+�,-.�/0/12343�564073�76�37.6089.�8.6:7;�40�3</119.�=47493>�:;4=;�:9�?9149@9�43�1/.8912�A.4@90�?2�7;9�.439�6B�;2?.4A�6.�;6<9C:6.D408�5/779.03E�F47493�3-=;�/3�G12<6-7;�/0A�HI979.>�B6.�9I/<519>�/.9�9I59=79A�76�399�37.6089.�JKL�8.6:7;�./793�40�?67;�MNMO�/0A�MNMM�7;/0�1/.89.�=47493�<6.9�8909./112E�P9/0:;419>�7;9�Q6-7;�R937�43�9374</79A�76�399�7;9�;48;937�JKL�8.6:7;�./79�6@9.�7;9�3/<9�74<9�59.46AE
&'*����!�!����#��!"�# �S#!��TUVWXYZ[\�%�#��]�A9<6037./793�6-.�B6.9=/37�B6.�7;9�̂_�9=606<2�6@9.�7;9�MNÒ�C�MNMM�59.46AaE�b/39A�60�6-.�1/7937�9374</793>�7;9�̂_�9=606<2�:411�.9/=;�473�5.9C5/0A9<4=�6-75-73�/7�/.6-0A�MNMM�cOE�d48-.93�5-?143;9A�?2�7;9�,eQ�40�d9?.-/.2�MNMM�3;6:�7;9�̂_�9=606<2�8.9:�?2�aEfg�40�MNMOE�R9�9I59=7�7;9�̂_�9=606<2�76�=60740-9�8.6:408�/7�hEOg�-0A9.�7;9�iL==919./79A�J.6:7;j�/0A�kEhg�40�7;9�il4<479A�J.6:7;j�3=90/.46�40�MNMME\�%�#��]m�n��#��#Y!�Yn��#��#�%#!(���S!#�&'�o����pXq�rstZ[�nu�v�Zttw

Q6-.=9x�,eQ�J.633�y6<9374=�G.6A-=7x�=;/409A�@61-<9�<9/3-.93>�G:F�̂_�H=606<4=�,-7166D�z�y9=9<?9.�MNMO{7�43�4<56.7/07�76�0679�7;/7�6-.�/00-/1�B6.9=/373�/.9�?/39A�60�7;9�9=606<4=�/=74@472�40�5.9@46-3�29/.3�|?/39C29/.�9BB9=73}E�{0�MNMN>�=9.7/40�39=76.3�B917�7;9�4<5/=7�6B�0/7460:4A9�16=DA6:03�<6.9�36�7;/0�67;9.3E�{0A-37.493�3-=;�/3�iL==6<<6A/7460�~�d66A�39.@4=93j�/0A�iL.73>�H079.7/40<907�/0A�.9=.9/7460j� :9.9�;47�;/.A�|kMEkg�/0A�MhÈg�A9=.9/39�40�MNMN�=6<5/.9A�76�MNÒ�19@913�.9359=74@912}E��;939�39=76.3�7;9.9B6.9>�?98/0�MNMO�60�7;9�?/=DB667�<6.9�36�7;/0��������������������������������������������������4B�<6.9�06.</1�=603-<57460�5/779.03�.97-.0Ea}�G:F�̂_�H=606<4=�̂5A/79>�y9=9<?9.�MNMO ������������������������� ¡¢£��¤¥¡¦¢�¦¢�§̈©̈§§¡¢£�ª« Z[Page 107



������������	
	�����
�������	
	�������������	���������������������� �!"#��$����"�%������&"�'(���)* �+�,"���"���+�!�&��*�"��(�,"  �"!*����"������'�!"������-��%.�/'�01234521�64�671�28958:;<56�=4>56?052�>1�2<>�85�@A@AB�,�����"!������!����������,"  ���������*�����-��"��������'�)!����C�&"'�������)�'����!����'��!� ��*�'+"'&�*�����'�.�/'����� ������D,E�F��� ��G�������(�,�����"!�������� ��"'�H�'+�'�,"  �C�����'"'&�IJKLMNK��$����"��*��L*�'+�!"����-�')���*����-�" �C �����!�OP�-DQPR��'+����� ��"'�������&"�'�����C�����'"'&�NIKLSTTK��$����"��P�-DQP�C%������'+��$�UTUU.V����-����-"�,�+��)��,"+���$���������$�����������"'�UTUU�C%��#* ��"'&�W�%����'�!"��+���(��-�'����'+�"'$��!��"�'�*)C "���+��-�������*����%���(��'+������#"��"'&��#*�����"�'��,����-��$�������$������!"'&�����-��%.
XYXZ�[�XYXX�\��
�������������

������D,E�]̂ �_���!C���UTUS�̀��'�!"��a)� ��W��)� "'����)��bcQ����"!������'�����-��%�������C%��������$���UTUS��'+�UTUU.�d"'������'(�����aed�����*)C "���+�����]̂ L,"+���'')� �bcQ�"!*��������������������"'�UTUS.�/��'�������������" ��������"��'�,�� !����STK�����+��$�,�����"��,���C�$��������*�'+�!"�(�,�" ���)�� ������E�'�)!���d�'�"!�'���)�-�%�;45:0f2�;452?f10�;45:=15;1�7<2����)�'�+�g)"�W %���������� �-� ���C�-��*��L*�'+�!"���-���&�.�P���" ��� �������-���+�g)"�W %��$���� ��W+�,'������'��'��+������"��"�'�(� ��+"'&����������'&�C�)'��LC��W�$��������������"'�UTUS.�h��',�" �(��������������������#*����+��������� �,�������-��"���$��!�����*�'+�!"��+)������)** %����"'��$$����.�P�� �������(�$����#�!* �(�+�� "'�+�� "&�� %�"'�UTUS�C%�T.UK�C)��,�����"!���������������,"  �����������'&���01;4i10j�4k�lmno�85�@A@@�<2�;452?f10�;45:=15;1�016?052�"'�����%���M.�d��������)������h"'"'&��'+�g)���%"'&(�$���1p<f3q1B�2<>�28958:;<56�2?33qj�28=1�1kk1;62�85�@A@lB�*��!*�"'&���'�"')�+�+�� "'������������������'������+�C%�SJ.IK.�V���#*�����������$$����������-�����"'�UTUU�,"��������������&��,"'&�C%�r.NK�"'�UTUU.a)��$)  ����"!�����C%������������"'�s	tu���v.
MR�D,E�w�_���!C���]̂ �̀��'�!"��a)� ��W

xyyz�x{y|}~��y{���}���������������������������������XY ���������
�������	
	�����W"'&����"�'��'� �-�  "'&�)*XY Page 108



��������	�
���
����������������
���������
���������������������������������������������� 
������
����������!�����
���"�#�
���
����
����������$�
�������%

&'()�*+,(-*+.�./0/.�+*+.1)()�()�-*/�-2�,'/�(*34,)�5/�4)/�5'/*�6+.64.+,(*7�,'/�89:�(;3+6,)�,-�/+6'�6(,1<)�/6-*-;1�(*�,'/�=*>/?@�&'/�-,'/A�6-;3-*/*,)�-2�,'/�89:�6+.64.+,(-*� (*6.4>/�,'/�BC9=DEFG�.-6+.�(*2/6,(-*�A+,/)H�,'/�8--7./�I-J(.(,1�(*>/?�+*>�K*(0/A)+.�B.+(;+*,�B-4*,�),+,(),(6)�L)//�,'/�:33/*>(?�2-A�24A,'/A�>/,+(.)M@
GM�8(0/*�64AA/*,�6-*>(,(-*)H�-4A�3A-N/6,/>�89:�7A-5,'�A+,/�()�J+)/>�-*�+�O:66/./A+,/>�7A-5,'<�)6/*+A(-@�P-5/0/AH�(*�-4A�KQ�R6-*-;(6�C4,.--SH�5/�+.)-�(*6.4>/�+�OT(;(,/>�7A-5,'<�)6/*+A(-�5'/A/�,'/�89:�7A-5,'�A+,/)�+A/�.-5/A�,-�/+6'�)/6,-A�(*�,'/�/6-*-;1@

U-4A6/V�CWU�8A-))�D-;/),(6�XA->46,V�6'+(*/>�0-.4;/�;/+)4A/)H�X5B�KQ�R6-*-;(6�C4,.--SH�D/6/;J/A�YZYF

[\\]�[̂\_̀a�b\̂�cd̀def�ghijkl�hmnjok�ok�pqrqppjkl�st �$Page 109



��������	�
�
��
���
��������������
�������
��������������������������������� ���

!"#$%&'�()*�+,-./010�234356

���������1..#07$-7&0�)8&$&�&-%8�%17/�.1&0�1,�7&$90�":�170�-,,#-.�%8-,;&�1,�<=+�;$")78�$-7&�1,�3435�-,>�170�0%"$&�1,�78&�<"">�<$")78�:"$�*171&0�?,>&@A�?7�10�%.&-$�78-7�%171&0�)1..� 8-B&�B&$/�>1::&$&,7�"CC"$7#,171&0�-0�78&/�$&%"B&$�:$"9�78&�&%","91%�19C-%70�":�*D=?EF5GA�

HIIJ�HKILMN�OIK�PQMQRS�TUVWXY�UZ[W\X�\X�]̂_̂]]WXY�̀a

 �����������������������b-c1,;�-%71",�",�.&B&..1,;�#C

 Page 110



����������	
����
	����	�������	����	��	���	�����	���	����
���	��	
��	
�������	�
�����
	��
������
	��	����	����	 !"	#$#%&'('	('	($)(*#+(,-	�.	.�%%	&-#�	/0��-'	���	1213	���	1211	�
	��
��	�4�������	����	��
	���	5���	�45��
���	����	
��	���	6�������	���	������
789����
	�����	���	
�4��	
��
�	��	:������	���	���;�
���	��	
��	���	
������
�	�<6	������	����
	��	1213=	>����4���	?�4�����4��	���	@�4��������	���	����	��
�����	����
	��	����	����	A82B	��	12138	C��
	�
	�������	�4�	��	���	������	����������
	��	����D������	
�
���
	��	���
�	
����
	����	���	EF	
���	�������	G	
4
�	�
	6

����������	H	I���	@����
�
�	���
�	����	5�	JK8LB	��	1213	�

������	��	���	MN@89�����
����	
����
	����	�������	������	��	���	�����	���	����
���	��	
��	
�����	�
�����
	��
������
	��	12138	

OPQRQSTP	UVPQWVUX	YZ	TR[TPY\V[	]X	VS _̂QXSVR\:���������	
�����4�
	��	5�	���	��	���	��
�	���������	����
����
	��	���	�����	̀ab�5
c	���	a��
���c	�����5��
	#%�$-	#**��$+	.��	#���$)	#	/.+d	�.	���	e$)-f	gd-$	
��5����78	h�����	�����
	��	����������	���4�����	����	 ��	��	��
���
�	��	
��
4���	
�������	���
�	�������
	�	5��
�	��	���	�������	�
�����8	i��
4����	�����
	��	4�����������	����������	�����
	4
	��	
��	���	�
�����
	��
�����	����
	���	������	�
��

	���	
�4����8

j�#).��)k	l�))-�'/-%)	#$)	m�$)-�%#$)	#%%	n-�.��o	n���%&	��	���	�����	���	���	����
���	��	��
����	����	
�����	��	1213	��������	��	�����	
����
8p������	����������	�
	����
���	��	����	5�	L8qB	���
�	�
	�������	��	����	����	���	EF	�������	����	��	12138	C��4��	��	�
	���	�����	��	5�	
�������	�����	�
	���
�����	������
�	����	�	5��������	����
�	
�4��	5�	�������	5�����	����	����
���	������	��	p�����	��	
���	������8	��	�
	��

�5��	�����	�
	���	�������
	��
�
�	����	������	����	���4��	��	���	
���	����	
���	
����������
	����	������4
��	
4���
���8rTstUV	uv	���������
	���	1213	�<6	��
�����	����
	����	���	1211	�<6	����
�
8	6
	1211	5����
�	��	
��	����
�	�<6	������	����
	��	�����	����	q82B	̀?�������7	��	L83B	>̀����4��7�	����	��	�������	�<6	������	����	��	1211	��	w82B	�
��

	���	
����
	��	���	�����328

327	N���=	C��
	������
	��	���	EF	����	�<6	����
�
�	��	w83B8	C��
	�
	�4�	��	���	���	��
��	�4��������
	5����	4����	
��
���������	��	�4�	
����
	���	���	����	������	�����

rTstUV	uvx	yvyu	YR[	yvyy	YRRtY_	z{|	sUQ}\~	UY\VZ

@�4�
�=	>�9	6����
�
	̀12137

����	������	���	������	������	������	��	���������	�� y�Page 111



��������	��
��	�
����
���
�������������������������������� ��!"�#�����$�����%�&�'���������(� ������������������������)���������)���*����������������� �+������������ ���,����+������� ��������, ��� ���-�.����+��,�� ���������� ���� �������/01203405�67689�:0�50;0<2�2=>2?�@-�A���,��,��$���������,,������ ���������� ���� ���� �����������&��B�� ����&�������B�������$��)�C-�D��+������B���������������������� ���������E�������� ���������� ���� ���F-�G ��� ���H�����������B������ ����&�������B���������������)��E��������I-�G ����+�������$���&�)�&����E�����������J���������$���� �������,����� �K$�����*�+������)����������� ���������� ��������, ��� ���� �$������&������$����E�������� ���������������$��)��������!"�������-�L�+�$��*�+ �� ���&����������+�������$�$��+�� ����� ����EE������)�&��������������M�����������+������������������$����$���� ����N����+����� �-�.��� ������B��+���������+�$��������������� �����,��&�������������,��������,���$����*���������,�+��B�������&���������������������������������&����������E����-�O��PQ��
��RR�������������*�� �����������������&���� �, �����E��)�������������� �����,�����������������D���N*����������,�� �������$��)����&���,���,���$��)���E������&)�!��$������#���������������������S�����, ��*�S�������*�T�$��E���*�T���������T�����-

PQ��
��RRU�V�
��W������	��������Q�W����X�	
���RY����YZ[�\���X��W��QX]�̂�
�_̀_̀��������Q�W����Q�����[����Q�QW��aWQb�
����c
�XQ�[�ad[���

��������	�Re�P�\
��
̂�_̀__

(�����f�##g@�'�,��������&�������B��f�#��������#�����&)�������)�������������� ����)�h�NE���������i�j�%�����)�CgCC@-klHF-Fl F-FlHI-ml I-mlHn-Cl n-ClHm-nl m-nlHo-@l
pqqr�psqtuv�wqs�xyuyz{�|}~����}���������������������_Z Page 112



���������	
�	
��	
����	���	��
�����	�
�
��
���	�
����	���	�������� �	!"	��!#�	!�	$�%&��#�'	(��)%�	"�''	*+	,-./	���!##	���	$0	*��1���	2!&�3*��	4545	6	2!&�3*��	 454,7	1�%��	1�	#��	��'��%&�'+	�!�#%#����'+	���!##	!8�	�%�%�#-

9:;<=	>	#�!1#	����	���	'�� �#�	��)	#3�''�#�	)�����#�#	%�	���	�'�%3	����	!"	$�%&��#�'	(��)%�-	?�	#��	���	 �����#�	)�����#�	%�	@!�)!�	AB!�!8 �#	!�'+C7	1����	���	�'�%3	����	"�''	"�!3	D-,/	%�	E��8��+	454,	�!	F-G/	%�	E��8��+	4544-	H���1�%'�7	I1%�)!�	��#	#���	���	'!1�#�	)�����#�	#%���	 E��8��+	454,7	'�� �'+	*���8#�	���	�%�+J#	'�*!8�	"!���	1�#	����	�KL��
��	MN	
��	L����K��	���������NO	P���	��	��������	*+	���	���� �	!"	Q-,/	�!	4-R/	!"	���	1!�S%� 	� �	�!�8'��%!�	�'�%3%� 	$�%&��#�'	(��)%�	%�	I1%�)!�-

9:;<=	TU	9VW	XY	:Z[	;V\\V]	XY	̂_\̀	̂<:_]	a:\=b	Vc	dZ_e=ab:<	fa=[_\g	̂Vaa=̂\	:b	Vc	Xh	i=;aj:à	kYkX

lmnop	qr	lst	uvp	mwx	nsyysz	uvp	{|y}	|w{~pm�p�	|w	y�p	�w|vp~�mo	�~px|y	{om|zmwy	~myp�	;̀	W=â=Z\:�=	WV_Z\	�WW�g	�:Zj:à	kYkX	\V	�:Zj:à	kYkk
I!8����	�1(	���'+#%#	A454,C

I!8����	((5,	�� %!��'	'�*!8�	3��S���	('�%3���	(!8��	*+	8�%���+	��)	'!��'	�8��!�%�+	A�����%3����'C	�	��*�8��+	4544

�% ��#�	$�%&��#�'	(��)%�	�'�%3���	�%�+ E��	4544 E��	454, @!1�#�	$�%&��#�'	(��)%�	�'�%3���	�%�+ E��	4544 E��	454,B%�3%� ��3 .-D/ D-F/ B�%#�!' �-,/ Q-G/B��)"!�) .-�/ D-,/ (��'3#"!�) �-5/ Q-G/@!�)!�	AB!�!8 �#	!�'+C F-G/ D-,/ 2!�1%�� �-5/ Q-4/@��)# F-F/ G-Q/ I!8���3��!� 4-R/ Q-Q/@%&���!!' F-F/ G-F/ I1%�)!� 4-R/ Q-,/H�����#��� F-�/ G-4/ �% �	?+�!3*� 4-D/ Q-�/@!�)!� F-�/ G-F/ (�3*�%) � 4-D/ Q-Q/H%))'�#*�!8 � F-,/ G-,/ ��"!�) 4-D/ Q-,/?!'&����3��!� F-5/ .-D/ ���)%� 4-G/ Q-4/I8�)��'��) F-5/ .-D/ ������ 4-F/ Q-5/
������#�	)�����#�	#%���	E��8��+	454, @!1�#�	)�����#�	#%���	E��8��+	454,@!�)!�	AB!�!8 �#	!�'+C 64-Q�� @�%��#��� 6,-���@!�)!� 64-��� B�'"�#� 6,-���@%&���!!' 64-5�� ��"!�) 6,-����'�# !1 64-5�� 2!�1%�� 6,-���I!8����) 64-5�� I1%�)!� 6,-4������	������	���	������	 ¡¢£¤¥	¡¦§£̈¤	̈¤	©ª«ª©©£¤¥	¬­ k®Page 113



���������	�
	���
�
���
�����	�������	��	�����	����	������	��	� !��	��"���!#���$����	%��#��&� #	� �	����	"���	����������	��	 ��� ����&	��' ��	��"���#���	���	��"���!#���	��	������	�� ��(	����	�� ����	 ��	 ������	 ' ��	�� �	���	&��'��	� �	���	����	)*+,-./0123	.0-2*).4/5	67/	-.13	78)	8	39*0:	80;	:<9=.0:	!�!�� ����(	���	���#!���#���	��	������	���	� ���� �	 "�� &�(	 ��	�����	��	 	��� ��>�	& !	��	����	�?!��� ���	@/1=//0	17/	A99</)1	80;	B9)1	8+C*/01	8</8)5	D*<.0:	���	! ���#��(	�����	'������&	&����	� "�	����#�	�"��	#���	�� �	 ��	#���	��&���(	'���	���	�����&	����	��	��"��&	 	! ������ �	'����E	F��	����	!� ��	��	� �G��	�����	���H� ������	'���	 	IJKLIJ	MN	OPKQRSOTJ	UVMWXY	Z	'����	'���	��	���"��	��	80	8B@.1.9*)	2/4/22.0:	*A	)1<81/:3	80;	8	+9-*)	90	,4/	��� ��&��	[��"�����&	�!	 ������ ����>E	F���	��� ��	'���	��	� ��'�����	���'���	�'�	# \��	�"����	���	%��#��&� #]	���	̂M__MPWJLQXY	̀L_JS	��	��##��	abaa	 ��	���	McJPOPU	MN	def	��	���	� ���	abgb�E	F�	���"�	���	&��'��	 &��� (	%��#��&� #	��	!������&	 	��"�����&h�!	��� ��&�	�� �	 �#�	��	iMMSX	XYJ	KOXj	JKMPM_j	ij	kliP	L	jJLV(	��� ���&	�Emn(bbb	\���E	F���	��� ��&�	��	@*.21	8<9*0;	,4/	o/3	8--/2/<819<)	1781	=.22	;<.4/	-780:/		 �	�� ��]	p5	q90:/<r1/<Bs	B9</	/+,-./01	SOPUQJ	cMX	NRPIOPU	 ��	����� ���	��"��"��	!�'���	���	���	����	��	�� ���	����� ���	������#	���	��"���#���EaE	F��	tLSX	uOV_OPUYL_	vPKQRSOTJ	̀VMWXY	eXVLXJUj(		 �	 !!�� ��	��	���"�	��&���� ����	 ��	� �G��	��!��" ����	���	 	H� ����	��	 	#������	��	%��#��&� #>�	!������	���������EgE	%��#��&� #>�	JLVQj	OPXJVTJPXOMP	LPI	cVJTJPXOMP	_MIJQ	��	�����	��!!���	���"����	��	���������	 �����	���	 &�	� �&�	�� �	!��"���	���#	������&	������	���"����EwE	xJUOMPLQ	KMPPJKXOTOXj(	��������&	����	&����	 ��	��&�� �	���� ���������(	 ��	 	��#!�������"�(	 ����� ���	�� ��!���	���'��GEnE	yz{|}~{{���	}�	�}����	�}�����	�{	����z	 �����	���	�����	������	��	%��#��&� #(	��"�����	 ��	$��"��� #!���	��	����� ��	� ����	�#�������(	�#!��"�	������&	�� �� ���	 ��	��� ��	&����	\���E	

F��	��� �	 ��������	��	 ���	# G��&	�������	��	������	������� ��	���	�����&���	 ��	�� ����&��	���	����	 ��	���	!��!��	 ��	� ���&	��	��� ���&	 	̂OXj	�iSJVTLXMVjE	F��	�����" ����	'���	!������	 ��	�� ��	� � 	 ��	����&��	��	%��#��&� #(	��������&	 	� ������	��	���	�������	�� ��	��	���	����	 ��	�� �G��&	��	!��&����	��	��"�����&	�!E	����&���	'���	��	����	��	������� ��	G��	������	��	���	����(	���	� ����	��	�����	������	 ��	��	���"�	!������ �	���������	 ��	! ��������!	 !!�� ����E���
�
���
��	������
��	��	�����
�	���	�
��
�	��	������	��	����	���	�����	���	
���	��	
���	�	���	������	��

�
�����	����	����	�����	��	���
�����	���	�����	������	���	�� ¡�	¢£�	¤££¥	��£	�£ £¦�§̈©
«¬¬­	«®¬̄ °±	²¬®	³́°́µ¶	·̧¹º»¼	̧½¾º¿»	¿»	ÀÁÂÁÀÀº»¼	ÃÄfÅ M̀MI	̀VMWXY	NMV	̂OXOJS	F G��&	 �����	��	��"�����&	�!fÅ Page 114



��������	
�����
��
�����	��	���	�������	��	��	������	��	������� 	!�"��	#	�$$��������	�%�	&���%���	'(')	���	'(''	*+,	���&�%	�����	-.	������/	0%�	1���%	2���	��	���������	��	���	345	4674583	9:;	7<=>34	<?358	6@	ABAC	?@D	ABAAE	F465GH	 -����	��	�%�	�����$.���	�����������	��	�%�	������	��	�%�	������/	0%�	1���%	2���	���$����	������	���������	��	���	������	����I�����	��	-��%	.����J	K$.����% 	LM����	���	����������%	��	����	�	��&/!�"��	#N	OPOQ	��R	OPOO	STU	�
�VWX	
�W�	"Y	
�����QQ

1�����J	K&Z	,��$.���	['(')\))\	]������	���	���	�M%�����I�	��	�$$	$���$	���%�������	��	�%�	������/	0%�	&���%���	*+,	���&�%	�����	���	-����	��$.	��	�%�	������	���	�����������	��	$���$	���%�������	�%��	����������	�%�	������/	1���	$���$	���%�������	��	���%	������	���	�M�$����	��	�	����$�	��	�%�	�������/

]����� '(')	*+,	���&�%	���� '(''	*+,	���&�%	����1���%	2��� /̂'_ /̀)_1���%	L��� a/b_ c/b_L���	��	L��$��� a/̂_ c/a_d����� a/e_ e/a_1���$��� a/)_ e/b_L���	f��$���� /̀b_ e/̂_2���	f��$���� /̀b_ e/̂_g���%	2��� /̀̂_ e/c_h��i�%���	���	0%�	j��-�� /̀a_ e/c_g���%	L��� /̀a_ e/c_g���%���	k��$��� /̀e_ e/)_2�$�� /̀l_ e/(_
mnno	mpnqrs	tnp	uvrvwx	yz{|}~	z��|�}	�}	������|}~	�� O�Page 115



����������	�
���
��
����������	�����
����	�����������	������������������ ! "�#�$� !  �%&'�()�*���)#����+,����#��-�-��#�����.�����/�0#����������#)(���12�3#��$�������#��-�-��#�����.�����4�)��#.��.��,5������0#��������6�$�.�����������)�#�#�,���5���.��#��7�,0�����#�$�3��)��0�����/)#�8��"9"!15�#)������0#��$����������)��(�)�%&'�()�*���)#�������+���� ! "�#�$� !  ���#���#)(�)�.������(���)#��,5�*���������:.�-������4�;��$���<�;��$���/3�)��(������,12�=���������8��,�$������#���0+�)��4�4#.��)�5�+���*��+����>������0#���$)�>�)�����������4�����*�)8��(�-#���)���.#���$�+,�����-#�$�0�.2�
?��+����>����#���0#���)5�-)�>��.�#��.������*������*�)�@A@BCDEFAG�HABGEI�DJK�LKGKMEEFGN�OJAP�DG�FGHJKDIK�FG��,+)�$��)���0��*�)8��(�-#���)��2�'��-��-����-��$��������0��.�00����(�����#)(�)��)+#��.�����5�#�)���������.#���-��$��(�.#��+���:-�.��$5�+������(�����)�.�>�)�����4��0#���)5�.��,��.���0����0�)�������#���#)(�)�.�����2�Q�*�>�)5������������#)�,����8��*��4�������)��$�*����+������#���$�R�;��$��������#����(���,�#+�>��#>�)#(��)�.�>�),�)#������ ! "�*��.��.���$���((������#��0�()#�����#*#,�4)�0���0���#)(�)�.������.���$�+����0-�)#),2����	����S��T��������T���
���������U�	�����������VWX��	�
���	�����	��Y���
Z���������������	�����������������	�[���\

]��).�̂�7*_�'�#�,����/ ! "1àab�̀cadef�gac�hieijk�lmnopq�mrsotp�tp�uvwvuuopq�xy�z Page 116



���������	
����
�������������	�������������������������� !������� "#�������"�$��%��&�"������ !'���(��!�)������� ����$�� ���� ��*��+!'���� !'���*�'�&&���!��'���(� ���"�� !'���"��� ��(��+���,-.�/.0�01�2.3.40�5-16�07.�-.819.-:;<�����$��+��%���!���!�')�����=�$����!(�>��������? ����&�"+�����!��!�@+ �������A��*��!�(��(� ���" �� �� �)�A+��(�$��!��!�)�A+��!������ !'���" �� +����������*�+�'�'��*�������� #����� ������&+������ !'����#� ������A�� '����!�@+ �������&�+!'�*����!�� "����(��!B�C����*��������������A�'�& ��!�����!��������+"�+����&���" ������"����(��!(�&��* �'BD�����E��F���G�����������'�����������! ������ "���!�%�+!(�*��#����'+��!(������ !'���")�*�� �������!(��!'�" ���!���� �������"�!���"���"�$��%�&���%�+!(�*��#���������� ��$��%�����!(B<��H������IJ���(���(���)�KLKM�NO�� *�������*������� ��$��+!�����%��!�� ��!(�MPQKR�%� ����'����!"����"��'��
A�( !��!�KLLMB�C���@+ ������ *�+!�����%��!����$����&��������(��+��'����A���*�RS��&���� ��MPQKR�%� ����'��&���07.�4-/0�0T6.�T3�UV�:.,-/W�/TX3,YYT3X�07.�/Z88.//�T3�07.��� �+������ ������(�$��!��!���������!��'���������'�%�+���+!�����%��!��&��������� !'���"B[!������ ���@+ �������*�$��)�*�� ����� *������ �(����@+ ������!�@+ ������!"�� ����!��"�!���" ��%��! "��$��%�+!(� '+���B�C����"�+�'�� ���%�A���\�� �!�'�A%������������'�������!�&+�������'+" ���!����� ��%�" �����A�� #�B�C������"�����!��&� �� !'���"�����"#�!��"�!��%)�*�����]�A�'�� !'�������"��$�'����A����� ��$��%���*)������#��%����� $��'��$�!�������!"�� ����!��"�!���" ��%��! "��$��%�+!(� '+���B��������������!'�$�'+ ��� ���!���"+���!��%�"�!���A+��!(���������"�!��%)���������+�'�!���!�"��� ���%�A�����"��$�'� �� ��������(!��&��"�!���"���"�$��%B�̂ ����)� '�����!��&�5Z-07.-�/0Z_T./�̀TYY�2.3.40�07.�.81316:�T3�07.�5Z0Z-.W�,/� ������+��#����'�*��#&��"���!���������� A�+��� �#���*����(�� ������ �!�!()�� #�!(��������������'+"��$��*��!����%�'��+���� ���%��!���������"�!��%BH������IJa�b������	������������������������
��	������	������	�
����
�����
����
�cddI�ef�g�cdcI�eJ

h�+�"�i�jkh�l�m�+!(��������!����!��'+" ���!)������%��!������� �!�!(�nkooCp�k�$��A���KLKM
qrrs�qtruvw�xrt�yzvz{|�}~�����~��������������������� c�Page 117



��������	
��
������������������������������������������������������������������������������������� !�����"����#��������������$�%������&'(�����������)�����������������������"�������)������"�������������������������*+,%-. /���������������������0�����������������$�1����"�������������������������������������������)���2�������������3����������(�������������������������4��������������������������������������4�����5 6�*����4������������������.���������"��34�����������)���4�76�8�)��4�����4����������������������#��3�������������������������9�����������������:7����6�������4����#��3���������������������������������������.��������������� ;(� <�����2�������������������������)������������)����������������������������������������4�����������2��$�=���	>�?@�ABCBDEF�GHBIJEKLIBHM�NOGABF�PL�BMQHRS�OAKGJ�TKA�JBKJEB��4��� UV$=���	>�?@W�X�>Y�Z
[Y>���\[�>�������	
��]�\̂
>_�
���>
�Z>�̂�>_�?̀a�bcd?e�f?��
�cdc?�fgh

i�����5�1j/5�k�"�������3����������"���������4�����l�&������������"�����������5�m������9�����������������n�����:$�k������������������ U�o�)��"���!j! $
 !:�p������������������������������(�#����������������������������������������������������������������#����������.0���� ;:�8��������*�������0���������qr���������*��������5�&��r����������s�*�����)���������t1uq��������l�-����"���!j!j <:�&o%i+o�l�+���"���!j!jvwwx�vywz{|�}wy�~�{���������������������������������gd Page 118



���������	
�	
��	
�
��
	�������	�

	�
�����
���	���	������	������	����������� 	�! ��	 �!�	 ����	���"�!�#���$	��%���&	'�(�%��)	$���!����	 ��	#�**����$�	��	����������� 	��%���	+� (���	�!$�	� ���$	�����	*���	���"	 �	��� "�!�#���$	�!�� �	!	����	� ��,���	��$ ���	���!�#���	�$�����$	��$�%���& -�� �	��#�%�#�!��	�!%�	 ��	��(�� 	����������� 	�! �	�*	!��	� ���$	������	.	(� �	/&01	�*	 ����	!��#	234	!$����	!��	������	$! �������#	!�	���������#	��	5652	7/)	$���!��#	 �	/&31	�*	-�� �	��#�%�#�!��&	8��	#�**����$��	��	���$�� !��	�*	������	234	 �! 	!��	���������#	��	����!����#	��	9:;<=	>&

?�!�(����)	���	@ ���$� �	A!�	B!�	C���� 	5652	���(�	� ���$� �	�!�	���!� ���	�!%�	���!���#	� �++�����	����	�D��	
��	E��
	��D��	F����	��	
��	GHI	J����	���	���������
	#�**����$��	��	 ��	�!�	+� (���	� ���$	������	 �! 	!��	K�������	����	F��	L��
��	��	������	���	�������	���	��D�	(������#	#�����	 ��	�!�#���$&	M 	��	�%�#�� 	 ��	�$�����$	��$�%���	��	�� 	��!����	�� 	�%����	!$����	 ��	�!N��	� ���$� �	������)	!�#	��	����	������ �%�	*��	��#�%�#�!��	*���	-�� �	+!$,�����#�	 �!�	 ����	*���	���"-�� �	+!$,�����#�&
OPQ=RS��!���)	TUVWX=	YZ	����� �! ��	 ��	#�**����$��	��	���#��	�!�	�!�2[	+� (���	���	!�#	(����	��	 ��	\]&	8��	�!�	�!�	�!�	�����!���	�����%�#	�%��	!	��̂	��!�	�����#)	(� �	 ��	���#��	�!�	�!�	����!��	������������	�����%���	��	5656	#���� �	���! �%�	���!$ �	�*	 ��	�!�#���$	��	(����&

9:;<=	>_	̀=Xa=Rb:V=	Pc	WR=Qd<Pe=f	Y>g	d=Pd<=h	ijkYl	mn	o	jkjY	mnp	
q���$�r	s6tr	u!+���	�!�,� 	� ! ��	+�	� ���$	�����	.	\���������� 	+�	� ���$� �r	A�����	v�� 	��!���!���	!#N�� �#w&	u! �� 	����!��	��	23	x�%��+��	5652&

5620	7/ 562t	7/ 5656	7/ 5652	7/8� !� y&/1 y&61 [&21 y&y1-�� � /&t1 /&31 y&[1 /&01?�̂�#	z	��� ���� 0&[1 t&61 26&[1 t&/1M�#�!� y&[1 y&/1 [&31 y&t1A!,�� !�� {&31 t&01 22&21 3&{1|!���!#���� t&{1 3&/1 {&31 25&/1}������ /&31 /&01 y&t1 0&01|�!$,	z	s*��$!�	z	}!��++�!�	z	|�!$,	|�� ��� t&[1 {&[1 22&{1 26&51~ ��� [&[1 {&y1 {&61 t&31

2[w	S��	$�!�� �)	(�	#�*���	���#��	�!�	�!�	��	����	(� �	 ��	~xq��	#�*��� ���	�*	 ��	 ����������&	M 	��	#�*���#	!�	 ��	#�**����$�	+� (���	�����	!�#	(������	������	�!������	!�	!	���$�� !��	�*	�����	�!������& ����	������	���	������	������	������	��	���������	�� nYPage 119



���������	
����
������������	�����������
������������������	����
������������������
�����	������

���
�������������	�
�����
�����������		�		
������
�������������������  !�"�#$%&� '���(%�%&!(�$�(%)�$*+�,'��-'!# � %./$0-�����
������
���������	
���������������
���
���	
�
�	����	�
�����
��

���
��
�����	��������
�������������

�

��������
����������������
��
��������������1�
�����2�
�������3��������
���	������	���	�
�����
	����
	���������
����% ������ �/-�&4('�/-�&��+�,/$"� �0�&�/-4$�-�.!55������6�
����
��������
��	�����
�
���������
�����������������������
�����������
7899:�;<=>?�@:�<AA<8BC:DBE�B<�9F=9G�H9:G98�9IC@JDBE�D:�BK9�LCBC89�M<8NL<8O9P�����
���
������2�
�������3��������
������
��Q����

�����������6���

�����	
����������
����
��������
��R�6�
���������������S��	������
���
����
��
�	�
��	����������
��


�	� %������ �#$%&� '��"$�����(%�%&*�$�)%54 !%�+�T4- �UVW����������������������������
��


�	�����������S��	�����������
��XYZ���������[
�
�������S�	
�Y\Z���������������
���������
����
��
�	�
��	�
�������
���������
��
���������������������������
��X]Z����������̂����	������	�����
	�
����
���
��
�
����
������	���	����
������������
������������������
����������������	�
��
�������������������������	�����
�	�����	��!&_$%)�&�� -�!��_/$�� /5�5�/)��/�0�̀�a!�5��.%$b!�"���

���	������������	���	�
��
������������
���
������	�
��
�����������������
��������
�������
�������	������������
�������������

cDHC89�de?�f9GD@:�g�f9@:�H9:G98�A@E�H@A�@B�hijMDG9

[�����k�̂l[�m�n���
��	���������	��������������������	
�����������������
���

�k�P[�n�Q�����o�]Y�m�3�������������

pqqr�psqtuv�wqs�xyuyz{�|}~����}����������������������� Page 120



��������	
����
	��������������������������������������������������������������� ������� ��!������������"������� �#�� ��$%����&������� ����&�����'�� ��&������������������'��#������ �"�� ����������������#�"�� ������������������&��&�������&�������� ���(�)����������� ����''�����������������'��������������������"��������������������������#� �� �����'��������� ��'����#���*+,�-����������&������ ��������"��'�������������.�����"�/0�12�3455�6789:4;046�0<=0�0<4�>?�12�7;4�7@�0<4�:720�A47AB=C<18=55D�9;4E9=5�879;0B142�1;�0<4�64F457C46�37B56G�=;6�0<=0�642C104�0<4�CB424;84�7@�64CB1F=017;�310<1;�0<4�B4A17;G�CB769801F10D�12�<1A<420�1;�H7;67;�=;6�0<4�I790<�J=20K��������'����������������������L<4�H4F4551;A�>C�M<104�N=C4B�=;;79;846�=�C=8O=A4�7@�PQ�:12217;2�@7B�54F4551;A�9C�@7B�0<4�>?�07�=8<14F4�RD�QSTSK�L<4�U7F4B;:4;0�:=D�312<�07�;73�@7892�7;�0<4�640=15�7@�<73�0<424�:12217;2�3155�R4�6451F4B46�=0�C=84G�=;6�2<7956�577O�07VW�M7BO�310<�578=5�54=64B2�=;6�1;6920BD�07�64F457C�=�B7=6:=C�@7B�0<4�6451F4BD�7@�4=8<�7@�0<4�PQ�:12217;2G�1;85961;A�79051;1;A�:4=29B=R54�=;6�=8<14F=R54�0=BA402�07�0B=;25=04�A7=52�1;07�F121R54�79087:42KW�J20=R512<�=�>?X3164�79087:42�@B=:437BOG�YZ[\] _̂̀ àZb�_�cd\_e�eYfZaga\Z�\h�Y[\Z\]a[�̀i[[Ỳ j̀�=;6�A=0<4B�<=B6�4F164;84�=A=1;20�0<12�@B=:437BOG�07�0B=8O�0<4�1:C=80�7@�A7F4B;:4;0�@9;61;A�=;6�6451F4B�0=BA4046�1;04BF4;017;2�07�29CC7B0�54F4551;A�9CKW�H4F4B=A4�0<4�@9;61;A�C=8O=A42�B4@4B4;846�1;�0<4�M<104�N=C4B�310<�=�F143�07�=66B4221;A�0<4�@B=A:4;046�;=09B4�7@�<73�27:4�1;F420:4;0�6481217;2�=B4�:=64G�B4@B42<1;A�0<4�CB7842242�=22781=046�310<�6481217;�:=O1;A�=;6�B4279B81;A�07�924�0<4�=F=15=R54�@9;62�=2�Yhf[aYZgkl�_̀�̂\̀ àckYm

��������'����������������n9B�B424=B8<�2<732�0<4�C9R518o2�CB17B10142�@7B�54F4551;A�9C�A7�R4D7;6�1;F420:4;0�1;�1;@B=20B9809B4�=;6�0B=;2C7B0K�H78=5�54=64B2�2<7956�87;2164B�B42C7;61;A�07�0<4�C9R518o2�87;84B;2�1;�7B64B�07�6451F4B�U776�UB730<�@7B�0<41B�B4A17;K�M4�29AA420�0<=0�578=5�54=64B2�577O�07VW�/;F420�1;�B45=017;2<1C2�=8B722�0<4�C9R518G�CB1F=04�=;6�0<1B6�24807B2�=2�=�@79;6=017;�@7B�64F457C1;A�87:CB4<4;21F4�20B=04A142�@7B�C5=84XR=246�0B=;2@7B:=017;G�@=81510=046�RD�=�@B18017;5422�=;6�4;=R51;A�C5=;;1;A�2D204:KW�p7892�7;�CB7F161;A�<1A<�E9=510D�4:C57D:4;0�0<B79A<�24807BX@789246�1;F420:4;0G�1;85961;A�1;F420:4;0�1;�<9:=;�8=C10=5G�07�R7720�=F=15=R54�q7R2�=;6�:=08<�0<424�07�578=5�2O1552G�C=B01895=B5D�@7B�D79;A�C47C54KW�r4F457C�=;6�1:C54:4;0�1;04AB=046�CB7AB=::42�7@�1;F420:4;0�1;�1;@B=20B9809B4�=;6�578=5�24BF1842G�1;85961;A�1;F420:4;0�1;07�<1A<�20B4402G�07�8B4=04�2=@4G�2920=1;=R54�=;6�F1RB=;0�578=5�87::9;10142K��������'�������������n9B�CB4F1792�B424=B8<�2<732�R921;42242�<=F4�0<4�7CC7B09;10D�07�R9156�C9R518�0B920�RD�C5=D1;A�=�AB4=04B�B754�1;�0<4�54F4551;A�9C�=A4;6=�s�1:CB7F1;A�0<4�7CC7B09;10142G�2781=5�:7R1510D�=;6�4E9=510D�1;�0<4�C5=842�0<4D�7C4B=04K�t921;42242�8=;�577O�07VW�L=O4�=�CB7=801F4�B754�1;�64F457C1;A�578=5�487;7:18�20B=04A142G�1;�C=B0;4B2<1C�310<�578=5�=;6�B4A17;=5�54=64B2G�07�164;01@D�20B=04A18�CB17B10142�07�R7720�CB769801F10D�=;6�29CC7B0�1;;7F=017;KW�N5=D�=�AB4=04B�B754�1;�6451F4B1;A�=�@=1B�B487F4BD�=8B722�0<4�>?G�310<�=�C=B01895=B�@7892�7;�B42O1551;A�=;6�9C2O1551;AG�07�4;29B4�C47C54�=B4�4E91CC46�310<�0<4�B1A<0�07752�@7B�@909B4�q7R2G�C=B01895=B5D�1;�AB44;�AB730<�1;6920B142KW�I44O�8755=R7B=01F4�F4;09B42G�1;85961;A�C=B0;4B2<1C�=;6�877B61;=017;�B7542G�310<�84;0B=5�=;6�578=5�A7F4B;:4;0G�8<=B10142�=;6�87::9;10D�AB79C2�07�8B4=04�R921;422�7CC7B09;10142�=;6�1:CB7F4�0<4�4@@4801F4;422�7@�54F4551;A�9C�1;04BF4;017;2Kuvvw�uxvyz{�|vx�}~z~�������������������������������� ����������#� �'����������L=O1;A�=8017;�7;�54F4551;A�9C ��Page 121



���������	�
����
����
����
��
����	����������
�
	����������
��������������� !�"���""#�$�%&�'$��('�)�*%!�!����#��+%'"#�#�!�,��-������$#��!.�,%��#��+%'"#�#�!�-#��#����$#��!�*'��,��/%!��'!�*�'""��$#�$.�&'��#*%"'�"0�-����*��&'�#�$�%�,'��'�(�&���#�*#'"�'��'!1�����"'�����'���*�����"0�*�'""��$�(�,0�"�-�-'$��"���"!.�*����*�#�#�0�#!!%�!.�'�(�!2#""!�(�&�#�'�#��13���!����$�#����(�&��(��*#�!��4#!��,��-����%�,'��'�(��%�'"�'��'!1�5"��!��678��)�9�$"'�( !��:5�#��;<6=�-'!�'���#,%��(����&��(��#�'��"0��%�'"�'��'!�>��#$�"#$��#�$��������(�����'#��'#����'(#�#��'"��%�'"�&��(%*�.�'�(�&��&�"���-���*���"�$#�!.�!%*��'!�'$�#?��*��'�(�����$0�$����'�#��1�@���
�
�A
��������	��
B����������������������!��%"(�*���#�%�������*�$�#!������&�����#'"�#��&���#�*#'"�'��'!�'�(�����#����(�&��(��*#�!���'���4#!��,��-����%�,'��'�(��%�'"1�C���#�*#'"�'��'!�'���'���#!2��)�$��'����!�*#'"�'�(��*����#*��4*"%!#���-#���%��!��#�%!�#�&���������'�(�#���!������)�������������������#��(#$#�'"�*����*�#�#�01�D�����������������'!��'(��&��$��!!�#��*��,'�#�$�����(#$#�'"�(#�#(������%$��#�#�#'�#��!�!%*��'!�E%#"(#�$�F#$#�'"�GH�>�-#���C��/�*���#$',#��'#�#�$������'*��IJ8�*����'$��,0�������(��)�;<;J1�K����#��*���!����"���""#�$�%&�#�#�#'�#��!�!%*��'!����!�.�����������������'0�-#!�����,����'�!&'�����',�%����-�,%($��!�-#""�,��'""�*'��(.�'�(�!�����'"#!�#*��'�$��!�#����(�������'#��'#����%!�1D������������&�"#*0�!��%"(�'#�������"&�&"'*�!���"&�����!�"��!1�E%!#��!!�'�(�"�*'"�$��-�����+%#��!�!%!�'#��(�!%&&����'��'�"�*'"�"���"�-�#*��#!�!��!#�#������"�*'"��&&���%�#�0�'�(�*����4�1����������������*�%"(���'!!%���"�*'"�"�'(��!���'��#�!�&��&�!'"�)���*'&#�'"�#���!������'�(�(���"�&�����#!�-����-�#"�.�,0�,%#"(#�$��������&�#�*#&"�!�#���'!�'���%�*�(�)���*�%��0�(�'"!.�'�(�&���#(#�$�'�L(���"%�#���)�'��-��2 �-�#*��!��!�����&'�'�����!�-#��#��-�#*��(�'"!�-#""�,��'$���(1�

@���
�
�A
��	
��	�	�����
�M�*'"�"�'(��!�!��%"(��4&"���������&&���%�#�#�!�'�(�#��+%'"#�#�!���'���4#!��-#��#�����#����$#��!1����0��'��������&&���%�#�0����*'&#�'"#!�����������*����!%**�!!��)��%�'"����&���#�*#'"�'��'!�����%$��!%!�'#�',"�����(����-�����'��*'��&�-�����#$�,�%�#�$�*#�#�!�'�(�,�#�$��*����#*�'�(�NOPQRS�TUVUWXN�TRPY�XO�XZU�[\[RS�R[URN]�̂V_U[NXRV_QV̀�XZUNU�QVXU[_UaUV_UVPQUN�bQSS�TU�XZU�W[NX�NXUa�cO[�[ÙQOVNd�'!�'�-��"�.����,%#"(����(����-��1�D�5!�!�'��(�&���#�%!"0.�'"��!��678��)�9�$"'�( !��:5�*'���)����&��(��#�'��"0��%�'"�'��'!�#��;<6=.�'�(�������'����'�0��4'�&"�!��)�!%**�!!)%"��%�'"����#�������!�*'&#�'"#!#�$�������#���%�'"�'!!��!.�!%*��'!�e���-'""�f!���g&��"#$������e���-'""h1�i�$#��!�'�(�"�*'"�"�'(��!��%!��!��2�'"����'�#����&&���%�#�#�!����aObU[�̀[ObXZ�VRXQOVRSSj�RV_�TUVUWX�XZUQ[�POkk\VQXQUN�����%$��#���!�����1�D�����&'�(��#*��'!��4&�!�(�����!����*��#�$!��)�&��&"� !�"#�#�$�'�(�-��2#�$�'��'�$�����!�#��%�,'��'��'!.�'�(�&"'*�(�$��'�����'"%�����!%���%�(#�$�$�����'�(l����$'�(���!&'*�1�M�*'"�"�'(��!��'0�-#!�������&�'!#!�����#���))��#�$!��)�$��'����-��2?"#)��,'"'�*��'!��#',"��'"����'�#��!�)���*#�0�"#�#�$.�,0�*��'�#�$�'))��(',"����%!#�$��&�#��!.�!�'��(�-��2#�$�!&'*�!.�'�(�#�&���#�$���'�!&���'�#���"#�2!�,��-����%�,'��'�(��%�'"�'��'!1�D�E%#"(#�$�'��#���'?��$#���*#�*%"'���*����0�*�%"(�,��'�)�*%!�)���"�*'"�"�'(��!.�#��'�-'0���'��#�*���#�#!�!�$�����$��-���'�(�!��&&#�$�"�*'""0.�&�����#�$�����*��!%�&�#����)�&��(%*��)����-#��#��������$#��1�
mnno�mpnqrs�tnp�uvrvwx�yz{|}~�z��|�}��}�������|}~����� Page 122



��������	�
������
��
������������������������������������������������������������� ������������!�������"���������������"�����������!�"����������������������������������"��������#�$�����%����������������!�����������!����������������������$�������$�&'()*+'�,-./)012�3�4�����"�����"������������"������5������"����!������������$��%����!� ��%�����������������$��� � ������������������������������������$$���!��������������������6������������"������������������������������������!������������$�������#����������������������!���������"����������������6�
3�����������������!�"������������5������ �������)07.'89'�&'()*)+):;�<-.�:=').�'>?+-;''9�)0�8�=;*.)@�,-./)01�'0A).-0>'0:2�B.'8:'.�&'()*)+):;�80@�:='����������������!�"�!�� ������!� �������� ��%�������"����������������������������������������������!�������"�����"�������#���������������������������������������������������������"����6�3�C�������������� ������"������!���#������������"��������$�� ��!�����"��"������"��������!���������� �������!������5���������������������������"�������������"�����������"�������������#���!�"�����5"�������"����������������$�������!�"�������!������������������!�"�����������������"���������6�DEEF�DGEHIJ�KEG�LMIMNO�PQRSTU�QVWSXT�XT�YZ[ZYYSTU�\] _̂Page 123



���������	�
	�����
���������	�����	����	������	��	 �!�"���	������#$	%�&�������'�	���	���%����	��	()*'+,-./	������" ��#	��#$��!#��	���	0���1#����	%����1	���	 ���1#����	�2	���	�3%�!��1	��$�4	'�	���	�%	#	556	2#!���7	&��!�	���	��$7	��8�8�1	���	$�!#$	��3��$�	��1����7/	 ��	��	��&	���	��	 �!�"�	���	!�����79�	$�#1���	556	��%%$���	2��	���	������4	:��$�	���	�����	1���	���	�%��#��	��	#	!��7/	��	��	���3���!# $7	$��;�1	��	���	�!���"�!�	#�1	!�$����	�2	 ���	���	��&!#��$�	(��7	������	#�1	���	�����	�2	�7��	(�" ���1	#�������7/	%�������	��	���	�"%���#��	��$�	��	%$#7�	��	 ���	���#$	#�1	�� #�	!�""�������	#!����	������" ��#4	���	�����	&#�	<=>	?@A<	BC	<=>	DE	<F	GF@HIJJK	LFHHB<	BC	MNMO	<F	<ILPJBCQ	���	������	��#�	1��8�	��#$��	���R�#$��7	S	���	TUVVWXYZ[	\]UVŶ_	̀abcad_	��#!���	#!����	��3	 ��#1	%�$$#��e	%�8���7/	�1�!#����/	�!���"7/	��8����"���/	&�$$ ����		#�1	�"%$�7"���4'�	#	 �1	��	YV ]̀Uf_	]_̂YgY_Xb_	aXh	̂cYgĝ	YX	Zi_	bUVVWXYZ[	���	�����	�#�	���	�%	���	������" ��#	j#��2#!������	#�1	'���8#����	�� 4	+�����	���	%#�1�"�!/	���	�� 	���	�%	���	556	2#!���7	��	��1��	��	��#�#����	#	556	��%%$7	2��	$�!#$	��#$��!#��	&��;���	#�1	��1�!�	!����4	k7	���	��1	�2	lmlm/	���	2#!���7	�#1	%��1�!�1	"���	��#�	�&�	"�$$���	��&��/	#�1	�3%#�1�1	����	�����	%��1�!��	��!�	#�	���$#����	��&��/	�!�� �/	"#�;�	#�1	�8��	%�$$�&�4	���	�3%#�����	�2	���	2#!���7	�#�	 ������	���	gUbag	Z_nZYg_	YXhŴZ][	oabc	ZU	gYp_	S	�����#$$7	��,���#����	������1	��#"��������	#�	8�$�������/	���	�� 	��&	��#���	#	%#�1	&��;2��!�	#�	%#��	�2	#	����,��!�	2�����	��3��$�	��1����7	#�1	�22���	2#!�$�����	#�1	�R��%"���	��!�	#�	#	!$�#�	���"/	$#����	#�1	 �#�1���	"#!�����4	�����	#��	%$#��	��	��	2������/	��	��#��	#	2�����	&��;2��!�	��	��#$��!#��	#�	&�$$	#�	��3��$��4	'�	�#�	!�""����1	��	#	qrs	YXb]_â_	YX	à ]̀_XZYb_̂/	&���	%����#""��	�22�����	�%%����������	��	t��;�1	u2���	(��$1���	#�1	%��%$�	2��"	��!���!���"�!#$$7	1�%��8�1	 #!;�����1�4	�������	���	�����#!�	%����#""�/	���	556	2#!���7	��	#$��	%��1�!���	"���#����	�!�� �	��	���1	��	�!���$�	��	���#��	!��$1���	&���	���	���	#�1	��	&�1��	%#���!�%#����	��	$�!#$	!�""�������4

�����
�����	v�
w�	wxxyw	��	
wx	��w	��w����
	�w	�
	�
z���	�
w���
���
	��	{��|x	�	w���
�	��z��	w
���}	z���
	~	�
z�x�w�
�	��z��	���w	���	��z��	�x���x	�
{	���|�{x�w�	����x�	���
	{x��
���
�	��	��������	�����������

����	������	���	������	��� ¡¢	�£¤ ¥¡	¥¡	¦§̈§¦¦ ¡¢	©ªq« ¬UUh	¬]U­Zi	pU]	TYZY_̂	�#;���	#!����	��	$�8�$$���	�%q« Page 124



���������	�
���
�����������
���
����

��	������	����
����
�������
��������������� ���!�!�"�#� $�!% ��&��%#�&�"'����"���()*���������+���,���!�#�"-����+���.�"�%�!������."� /&�.*�-�"��'%/�+�.�+���.�"�%�!���"���.��%,�.�"���&�!"�"-%�'��.!0�����123456�78�69:�34;<:215=�57>3?:<�@169�A1B1;C�1;D4617;=� %!"�%E�&�,��+*������%/!���.� �!*�-�&&� %�"��/��"%�-�����"����.%!��.�"'�+���#�"-����"���%&������"���'%/�+*�/�&�!!�B1C;1F54;6�45617;�1B�64G:;H�I�����
�J��������
��	���������K��".�&�+%,�.����"�!�%/&�� %�"��/��"%�!��$�-�'!�"%��&&�,��"��"����%/!��+� .�!�!0�L/.�M/"/.��%E�N%,�.����"�.��%."�O.�,��+�!% ��&��%#�&�"'�E%/���"��"�%�&'�PQR�%E�'%/�+���%�&�� %�!���.��%���%-��.!����"%�#��.��.�!��"�"�,��%E�!% ��&��%#�&�"'*� %���.���"%�STR�%E�%&��.���%�&�*���+�&�+�"��+�"���E� "�"��"��%���%-��.!������!�#� %���&�.+�&'�/��""����#&��E%.����'�'%/�+���%�&�0�U�O�!��"��.�!�%�!�!�E.%��"���N%,�.����"�"%����.�!!��%/!��+��EE%.��#�&�"'*�"�.%/+��! ����!�!/ ���!�"���V"����O/"'��W���"�%������XY�&��"%�Z/'[*����"��.�%E�69:B:�94\:�B::;�B1C;1F54;6�123A7\:2:;6B�1;�?7@:A]�.� ���%/!��+��  �!!��/��"%����/�.�!�%�!�,���%/!��+�!/��&'�����.��!�-�"��+.��"�.�̂%#�%��%."/��"��!*�!/ ���!�N.��"�.�_%��%�0�����N%,�.����"�!�%/&��!��$��&"�.��"�,�!�"%��� .��!��+�"����  �!!�%E��%/!��+������!�.�#&���.��!0�U�K��".�&�+%,�.����"� ���-%.$�-�"��&% �&��/"�%.�"��!�"%�#%%!"��%/!��+�+.%-"����� %��/"�#&��&% �"�%�!*����%.��.�"%�#%%!"�&�,�&&��+�/��������,�&%����"�%/"!����_%��%��������̂%.���".%�%&�"����.��!0�U� �̀�����+��%&� '�"%��&&%-�"���#/�&���+�%E���-��%/!�!�%��+.����#�&"�&����-�"���%���,�.%����"�&�%.������"'�,�&/����!�#����!/  �!!E/&&'��/.!/������!%����.��!Ta0�I�����
�J������
����
���
�b%/�+���%�&��c���&%'��!�/���.�Pde�-�.��"����.���.'�.� ��,�.!�%E�"���E/.&%/+��! ����TQ��/.��+�"���������� *��!���.�!/&"�%E�"���&�.+������ "�%��"����%!��"�&�"'�����.�"��&�!� "%.!0�_%%$��+������*�.�!�%����"!�"%�"���V% ��&�f%#�&�"'�Z�.%��"�.�PgPT�!����#%%!"��+����&%'���"�!�%/&��#����"%���.�%.�"'�E%.�"���N%,�.����"[!�.� %,�.'��.%+.�����cSQRe�

E%&&%-���#'����.�!!��+����"�&����&"���!!/�!�cSaRe��������.%,��+��  �!!�"%���/ �"�%��chhReTi0�_% �&�&����.!� ���!/��%."����� "�%���+�"��!����"���E%&&%-��+�-�'!j�U�_% �&�&����.!�-%.$�-�"�� ��".�&�+%,�.����"�"%�!�����&% �&���/ �"�%��.�k/�.����"!*�#/�&����."��.!���!�������+�&�+�"�%��%."/��"��!�"%��!!�!"�"���N%,�.����"[!���,%&/"�%���+����0�U�_% �&�&����.!���'�-�!��"%���+�+��-�"��! �%%&!���.&'����"�����/ �"�%�� ' &��"%���&��!��.����!�+�"!�%��,�.�������&%'���"�%�"�%�!������� %/.�+����"-%.$��+��������"%.��+��.%+.����!�c!���V�%"&�+�"�%��l%."�/�#.���E%.��%-�"���Y��&"� �.��lYV�M%/���"�%����!���+�+���'%/�+� ��&�.���-�"��"���lYVe0�I�����
�J�����
���

�
m91B�n:4AoB�p77<�pA7@69�q;<:r�B97@B�4�B1C;1F54;6���EE�.�� ������%-�TasPd�'��.�%&�!�.��$�"������%."�� ��%E�!$�&&!� %���.���"%�"�%!��Pdt*�-�"��'%/�+�.���%�&���&� ��+�&%-�.����%."�� ��%��!$�&&!� %���.���"%�%"��.�u���W����!/.�!*�!/ ���!��� %��0�Z/!���!!�!�!�%/&����+�+��-�"��"��!�!��E"������ "�,�&'���+�+��-�"��'%/�+���%�&������"���!$�&&!�!'!"��0�U�Z/!���!!�!�!�%/&��.� %+��!��"��� %!"�"��"�"���������� ���!�����%��"���/�!$�&&��+��W��.��� ��E%.�'%/�+���%�&�*�-��"��.�"��"�#��,�."/�&�E�"�+/������"�����. ��"�%��%E�%�&����".�����+*�%.�"��"���-��'#.���-�'!�78�@7AG1;C�94\:�24<:�16�1;5A:4B1;C?n�<18F5>?6�67�?:4A;�E.%�� %&&��+/�!�%��"���̂%#0�U�Z/!���!!�!� ���#�+���"%�.����+����"���/�!$�&&��+�v7>A;:n=�w>6�FAB6�69:n�24n�@1B9�67�1;5A:4B:�69:1A���,%&,����"�-�"����/ �"�%������".�����+��.%,���.!*��!�-�&&��!����.��"� �!����! ����!*�"%�/���.!"����-��.�����.%,����"!� ���#�������"%�.���,�+%.�"��"���&��.���+��W��.��� �0�U�Z/!���!!�!�!�%/&��&%%$�!".�"�+� �&&'��"�"���!$�&&!�!'!"��*�E% /!��+�%��!$�&&!�"��"�-�&&����#&��"��� ���#�&�"��!�%E�"���E/"/.�0
Tae��_Vxj�����()��%/!��+� .�!�!TQe�y%#�.�"��"�%��!"�"�!"� !�z�M/.&%/+��#'��+�Tie�V% ��&�f%#�&�"'�Z�.%��"�. {||}�{~|�����|~������������������������������������� ��Page 125



���������	�
	��
�����������	�����	������	�����	��	 �!��"	��	����#�$	%!�$�����!&�$��'�	��	$���(���	%�$	���	)����$� !�	!��	������� �*!�	!�����+	()� )	�$!(	&�$�	�)!�	��')�	&������	#�����$�	%$�&	! $���	�)�	(�$��	�#�$�	��!$,	-�� �	�)�	./01�+	'$�(�)	��	�!&�$��'�	)!�	����	�$�#��	��	�)�	23456789:;	<=;>?5;>?>@+	!	���&	��	����#!����	!��	���*��$�	%� *���	!$�*��	�� )����'�	!��	�)�	��%�	� ��� ��,	A)��	$!B��	'$�(�)	 �����*��	�)$�*')�*�	�)�	B!���&� +	(��)	�!&�$��'�	$!����	!�	�)�	��!���'	$�'���!�	�� )����'�	 ���	��	�)�	CD	�!��	��!$,	E�&!��	%�$	�����	��	 �!��"	$���!$ )	!��	��#���B&���	�B! �	��	�)�	 ���	�)��	��!$	(!�	�)$��	��&��	�)�	!#!��!���	 !B! ���+	!�	�)�	 ���	!��$! ���	&�$�	�)!�	F.,G��	��	��#���&���	%�$	 �&B!����	$� )	��	������� �*!�	B$�B�$��,	�!&�$��'�"�	'$�(�)+	)�(�#�$+	)!�	�$�*')�	 )!����'��+	��	�)�	%�$&	�%	H89;>8>:	8>;IJ4K8LM	8>	L=;	N8LM	!��	!	�! �	�%	�� �!�	&�������	O	(��)	�)�	 ���	!&��'	�)�	��(���	P1Q	�%	�� !�	!*�)�$���	!$�!�	%�$	�� �!�	&�������,	R�	$��B����+	�!&�$��'�"�	��$!��'�	%�$	�)�	 ���	%� *���	��	9;K8S;78>:	T487>;UU	4>9	=?K8UL8N	:7?HL=,	A)��	�� �*���	 �&&�����'	��	FV1&	%*����'	%�$	�� �!�	)�*���'+	!��	F.11&	%�$	!%%�$�!���	)�*���'	��	�)�	(���$	WXYZ[\]̂Z_	̀aX̀b	̀c	dX[[	̀c	cX]]̂_e	Z\]	̀	fYX	gX̀a	h[̀_	��	���	)�&���������,	A)�	�!���$	�� �*���	����#!��#�	�����!��#��+	�* )	!�	(�$���'	(��)	-���i!*�+	��	B$�#���	.j	�!%�	!��	�*��!��!���	B���	!�	!	���BB��'	�����	�*�	�%	)�&���������,	A)�	 ���	!�&�	��	N7;4L;	4	UJUL48>46K;k	N?>>;NL;9	7;:8?>	��	�*BB�$�	�)���	)�*���'	�����!��#��,	l�	B!$�	�%	�)�	m$�!��$	�!&�$��'�	n!$���$�)�B+	Fo11&	)!�	����	�!$&!$���	%�$	�$!��B�$�	��%$!��$* �*$�+	B!$�� *�!$��	'$���	B*��� 	�$!��B�$�	!��	 � ��(!��+	*B	��	P1G1,	p*$�)�$	��#���&���	��	��������	%�$	'$���	��%$!��$* �*$�+	��	!$�!�	�* )	!�	(!���	!��	���$'�,	-�&�	FPPV&	��	'�#�$�&���	��#���&���	��	����'	*���	��	�*BB�$�	�)�	$��� !����	�%	l�'��!�	q!��$"�	(!���(!��$	�$�!�&���	B�!��	��	 $�!��	!	r�$�s !$���	B�!��	��!$��,	R�	���	B�! �+	�)�	 ���	��	������'	��	6J8K9	4	>;H	UJUL48>46K;	98UL78NL	T?7	L=;	N8LM+	 ���*����'	(��)	�� !�	$��������	��	����'�	!	��(s !$���	����	(��)	�B! �	%�$	�!�*$�,	�!&�$��'�"�	'$�(�)	(���	 �����*�	��	!��$! �	��(!$�	��#���&���+	��(	t���	!��	����#!��#�	�*��������,	A�	�*BB�$�	B�!��	%�$	%!�$�$+	'$����$	'$�(�)	�)�	 ���	 �*� ��	)!�	�� ���	�%%	!	 ��#�$�!����	(��)	$��������	!��	

�*��������	!$�*��	 �$B�$!��	 ���r���)�B,	u!��	�� !�	�*��������	!$�	��#���B��'	v�#�$��&���!�+	-� �!�	!��	m�#�$�!� �	wv-mx	��$!��'���	!��	$� �'����	�)!�	�)��	 !�	&!��	!�	�&B�$�!��	���'s��$&	 ���$��*����+	(��)	B*��� 	!��	�)�$�	�� ��$	B!$���$�+	��	)��B	!��$���	�� �!�	���y*!����+	! )��#�	���	r�$�	!��	B$�&���	'$�!��$	�����#�$����,z����	�{	�	���{{�
�	
���	|��	
���	�||�������	��}{�
�~	����	��
������	������������	�������	�����	���	���	���	���{�	�||�������	�����{	�
	���	��~	�{	����	�{	���
�	���
��	���	
�{�	}
��}��	��	����	���	��������
����	����� 	¡��	¢£�£¤¥	¦§̈©ª«	§¬­©®ª	®ª	̄°±°̄̄©ª«	²³µ́ ¶??9	¶7?HL=	T?7	38L8;U	A!���'	! ����	��	��#�����'	*Bµ́ Page 126



�����������	
����	�
�	��������������	�����������������	���������������� !�"!��#�"! $���% #��#&�'�� ��(��#)��*�)��#%!��'�#"�%�++'��! *������&,+�%�� !�����- .�!#*�#�/�,&'�#�''�'��#)�+ %�+�+��)�!'�� ��!� !���'��'&'���#�,�+��01�2&!�-!��#�3 ,'�4�! *���!���'�,&�+���#��.�)�#%��,�'��� ��!�%5�����!�+���.����!� !*�#%�� ��67�!�"� #'��#)��#)&'�!0�'�%� !'� #�����!��! "!�''��#�)�.�+ ��#"�"!��#�8 ,'� .�!���*�1�9'�����% &#�!0�$ !5'�� $�!)'�#���:�! ��#)���"!��#�!��% # *0/�!�"� #�+�)����!�#%�'��!���*�!"�#"1�;���'�%+��!�'&�� !���#)��#.�'�*�#���'�#��)�)�� ��#'&!���%%�''�,+��"!��#��*�+ 0*�#��"! $'��#������+�%�'�����'�#��)�)�* '�1<���	����	�����������	����=���>&'���#�,�+��0�% #��#&�'�� �%+�*,�����- .�!#*�#���"�#)�/�$����-+�'" $�� '��#"�?2@AB��#�ACAD��#)������&,+�%��� #� ������- .�!#*�#�E'�F���G�! �>�!���"0H�4&�+)�4�%5�-!��#�!1�?�#�!�+�" .�!#*�#��#��)'�� �)�+�.�!��"��#'��'&'���#�,�+��0���!"��'/�$��+���#'&!�#"�����"!��#��% # *0��%�'�� �)�%!��'�/�# ��$�)�#/��#�I&�+����'1�����- .�!#*�#��'� &+)�+  5�� H�J�2&�+�#����, +)����! �%��� �)�+�.�!�#"���'�F���G�! �>�!���"0/�&'�#"��#.�'�*�#��� �)!�.��%��#"���������� !��! #�� ���## .��� #��#)��#%�#��.�'��+ %�+�+��)�!'��#)�,&'�#�''�'�� ��!� !���'��"!��#��#������.�'1J�;#��"!�����I&�+��0�*��'&!�'��#� �"!��#� ,8�%��.�'�� ��#'&!������+�"�%0� ������"!��#��!�#'��� #��'�# ����!�)&%�� #��#��% # *�%� �� !�&#��0�� !�!�"� #'��������.��0���� �%�����+�'�� #�"!��#� �� !�&#����'1J�@!� !���'���#.�'�*�#���#� ��%%�''�,+��"!��#���%�# + "��'��#)��#�!�'�!&%�&!�/�'&%���'��+�%�!�%�%��!"�#"��#�!�'�!&%�&!�/�� ��! .�)��8 ,'/��#%!��'��!�'�+��#%���#)��! * ���&'��,0�����"�#�!�+��&,+�%1<���	����	���	�����������2.�!�����+�'��0��!/�����#&*,�!� ��+ %�+��&�� !����'�)�%+�!�#"���'����� ��%+�*�����*�!"�#%0�! '��,0�DKL1�M�+�.�!�#"�"!��#�"! $���$�++�!�I&�!������!�"���)�%�'� #N*�5�#"��! %�''�'/��#.�'�*�#���#)�'5�++'1�O %�+�+��)�!'�'� &+)�+  5�� H�

J�P*,!�%������"!��#� �� !�&#��0�,0�&�)���#"�!�"� #�+��#)&'�!��+�'�!���"��'�� �� %&'� #��*�!"�#"�"!��#�'�%� !'/�'&%���'�!�#�$�,+���#�!"0�'&��+��'/�"!��#��!�#'� !���#)�+ $N%�!, #��#�!�'�!&%�&!�1J�P*,�)�'&'���#�,�+��0�����������!�� ��+ %�+��#)�!�"� #�+�)�.�+ �*�#����! &"������%!���� #� ��� +�'��%�)�%�'� #�*�5�#"��!�*�$ !5'/��%% &#��#"�� !�' %��+/��#.�! #*�#��+��#)��% # *�%�% #'�)�!��� #'1J�4  '���! )&%��.��0�,0��#.�'��#"��&#)'��#)�!�' &!%�'��#� �"!��#�&�'5�++�#"/�� �*��%��$ !5� !%��'5�++'�$�����*�!"�#"�"!��#�8 ,'1<���	����	������������2&!�AQ���9##&�+�?P2�>&!.�0�!�.��+'������% **��*�#�'�� ��&!� '���#)��#.�! #*�#��+/�' %��+��#)�" .�!#�#%��RP>-S��!�� #�����!�'�1����!���'���"! $�#"�� %&'��* #"�,&'�#�''�+��)�!'� #��!&'�/��!�#'��!�#%0��#)���!' #�+��%% &#��,�+��01�>&%%�''�&+�'�!���"��'/��'�!���!�#%�)��#� &!�!�� !��P>-��#)�-! $��H�9�F�$�T�0� �����#5�#"/��!��"! &#)�)��#��#�� #�'���''�''*�#�� ������!�'�!�#"��'��#)�$��5#�''�'/�$�����#��0�� #������&�&!�1�T�������'��#�*�#)/�,&'�#�''�'�'� &+)�+  5�� HJ�?!������% ��!�#���#)��%�� #�,+��'�!���"0�� �)�+�.�!�'&'���#�,+��"! $���,0�,!��5�#"�) $#�P>-�% #'�)�!��� #'��#� ���'��� ��*�#�"��,+���%�� #'��#)�'�+�%��#"������!��'��#�$��%�����0�$�#��� �% *����1J�U�5��&'�� ���## .��� #��&,'��#)�"!�#�'�� �% ++�, !�����%! ''��&,+�%��#)��!�.�����#'���&�� #'/�� ��*,!�%���## .���.��$�0'� ��$ !5�#"��#)�)�'!&���.����%�# + "��'1�J�VWXYZ[�\]̂Z_\WZ_\̀�abcYdeb�_WZ\Wa_f_̀_We�g\aa\c�d̀\� ��!�' &!%�'/��#%+&)�#"�)�%!��'�#"�$�'����#)��#�!"0�&'�"�1�J�M!�.��' %��+�* ,�+��0/��'�$�++��'�!�%��+��#)�"�#)�!��I&�+��0/��#�"!��#�'�%� !'�,0� ���!�#"��%%�''�,+���)&%��� #�+�����$�0'/��#%+&)�#"�'5�++'��! "!�**�'��#)����!�#��%�'���'/��#)��#%!��'�)�'&�� !��� !�%�!��!��! "!�''� #1
hiij�hkilmn�oik�pqmqrs�tuvwxy�uz{w|x�|x�}~�~}}wxy��� ��Page 127



���������		
���	
�����
�������	
	�	������������ �!�"#��$�%�&'()*�+����+,�)"#�-�,�* " �&�����.�"# &�/�0,1�)��#0���2&���"#��&0%��%�"#�����!/�0&� ���,�� �2&��� " ��&3�4# &�/�0,1�)��#0���%0����2,�2&20��% ��,�0�52&"%��"&�"��"#����, �� 6��0"0�"#0"�)��788988:�;<=�>7?9�@7A9�@BC9�8DEFDGH7F=�H>7FE98�=B�B<C�E9BEC7I>DH�A9GFD=DBF8�7FA�>7?9�DFHJ<A9A�=KB�F9K��0, 0L��&� ���2,�����.3�4#��)0/�)��#0��� �6�2�����2,�")����)� �� 60"�,&�,�%0 �&�6��& &"��"�) "#�"#��%�"#���B;89C?9A�DF�B<C�GC8=�9AD=DBFM�N>9�?7CD7;J98:�7FA�=>9�)� !#"&�0��� ���"��"#�%1�0,���2"� ���� ��40L���OP�L���)3�
$2��"��"#��� --�,��6�&� ��"#��)0/�)��#0���60�"2,���"#��0�0�/& &�"# &�/�0,1�)��602" ���0!0 �&"��,0) �!�6�%�0, &��&�"���2,�,���,"��0&"�/�0,�0&�"#��2���,�/ �!�%�"#�����!/� &� �6��& &"��"3�Q2,����,0���0��,�06#�"��������� �!�"#������.� &�&2%%0, &��� ��RS�T���UV3W#�,����60��02"#�, "/��������0"0� &�% && �!�!0�&�#0���L����L��6#%0,X���"��0��0��,��, 0"����60���,�,�! ��0��0�"�,�0" ��3�Y�)���,1�"# &�#0&���"�#0��0�%0"�, 0�� %�06"����"#��,�&2�"&3RS�T���UVZ�[T��U\\�	]̂�V_�̀ 	̂\S�� a_�b	�cT��]�S	� d_�e�fS�
�	g�
]�] h_�i	��S�� j_���
�� k_�b	�̂�TcS	�cl�m�� �)��-�%�"#�����!/�-�,�6 " �&� ���.�0���0!,���6#0�!�&l�O!,���� &"��-�6 " �&�0���6 "/�,�! ��&�-�,�"#������.

l���-�,%0��� &62&& ���) "#�0�,0�!���-���60��02"#�, " �&�0����"#�,&����#�)�"��-2,"#�,���������"#�� ���.1�"0X �!�066�2�"��-�-���L06X�����,�� �2&�,���,"&
l�m�� �)��-�2��0"���-��0"�&"�0�0 �0L����0"0�-�,� ���.��0, 0L��&l�O&&�%L����0"0L0&� l�(�����-�63n1ooop�qr�6 " s��&��-�)�,X �!�0!��"��"�&"�-�,�6��" �2 �!��0� � "/��-�)� !#" �!&�-,�%��0,� �,�&"2� �&

l�$�"�,% ���)� !#"&�-,�%�&2����%��"0,/����� �!�0����,�� �2&�0�0�/& &l�*0�62�0"�� �� 6�&l�m�L2&"��&&�6#�6X&
l�$�������6��6�2& ��&�-�,���60���2L� 6���0��,&�0����-- 6 0�&1�6��",0��!���,�%��"�0���L2& ��&&�&

t20�" "0" ���0�0�/& &

uvvw�uxvyz{�|vx�}~z~��������������������������������h� Page 128



��������������	
�����
	������������������������������������������������������������������������ ���!������������������������"����#����������������������������������$��%����������$��%�����#���������&��������%������������������$����'�#����������!�������'����"����(�)�����������#������������&���%����������������������������������#�������������� ���!��"#��#��������'��������������"����������#��������������#��������$����������!�������'�"��������%��������*���������������������'�����������������*����+,(
-./�
��0
1/2�
	��3/4�5�)����������������������'�������*���������*�������"��������������67+8&+,�9�(�(������������:��������������������';�� ���!����������67+<&67�����=#����������67+8&+,��*��������������������>?��������������� ���!@(�A����������������������� ���!�������'������*������������=#�*��������������#�"�����������������*���������������$�'�����������������������������������������������������(�B�������#���������������C7(6������������'����������7(6������������*��������"��������������������������������������������������� ���!��������"����'���(�)������������������������������������$�������������#��������������������*������D����D��$��� ���!�������������������'(�)������������������������������������'�������������������������������#��������������*�����"'�E��"�����B#���������(�)������������������������������$����*����%���������*��#�����������������������������������$����������#�������#����������(

F�G���HI
�3/4�5�J��1�G���K�2�.2��L	10����������/4�M�12	
�E������' N���#�� )�����������D�������' ������O����' P����������������������������$�������������#����������� 67+8&6767 QB +RS ������������"#���� T����������������������������� 67+8&6767 QB +RS ����� DUV �����������������"'����������������������� 67+8&6767 QB +WSV����� Q�����!�������' 67+8&6767 QB +7S���%&�����"������ S���������'�����$��%��������������RX���������$��% 67+8&6767 QB +7SY�*�������� E��"������������Z��E[6\]�DPB 67+8&6767 QB +7S)�������� B*����������#�������������$��% 67+8&6767 QB <S�̂"� >������'��������� 67+8&6767 QB\))�B <SV�����������_�O���� O���������������_�����#���� 67+8&6767 QB XSV�#���� V�#����������������������������������$�������#����������� 67+8&6767 QB RSO%���� O�����������#�������������+̀&6R�_�6X&̀R��$����aPb�WC� 67+8&6767 QB 6Sa�$�"#�������� a�$�"#������������������������#������ 67+8&6767 QB 6S

+,@������Z\\����(����(���\����������\����&�!�������'&��&"����(��� cdde�cfdghi�jdf�klhlmn�opqrst�puvrws�ws�xyzyxxrst�{| }IPage 129



���������	
�������
������������������������������������������������� �!��"� ���������#������$������������������������%����&�������������"�������"��"�����������"����������"��������%�������������'�(���������������"������"��������������������!����'�)�*	+��,��	-���.�/�����"������"�������012#222����%���� �� ��#�!��������3245� � ������������32'�)�6�7/������������%�����% �������"����������������"���������������������������������%�������"���%���������������� ��$����������������������������"�% �������'
)�8+��,9/����������������$��������������� ��"���� ����#���"�������"���������������$��$����������':�������������������%���������������%����������������������������"�������������������������"����������%�;3����12�"�����34'�:����������������"��������"������������������<����������������������=,>���?@�!����'��������% ��������������#�����������������������%����&�������������"���������%����������<�������#�A��"����������B��&������#����!����"�����'=,>���?@/�?���CD���������-���9�9��-�	����-9�7EF�G�-9��,����-�H��-��IJ��� J��� J��� J��� J���4 K����� 44 L��������% 34 M����� 04 M������!����������N��"&��� ;4 � ���"�O3 M��"������ 43 K���� 33 N������� 03 P�����O ;3 Q�����������O0 B��%�����% 40 R��������������R���� 30 S������ 00 A��!� ;0 K��"���O; T������ 4; J������ 3; (����� 0; U������ ;; U����!������O1 L��"����� 41 R��$����% ��������R������31 U����%���� 01 Q����R�"�%!������
����!��� ;1 B�����%����OV K�$�� ��� 4V K����O 3V B������� 0V N������ ;V U��%����W K��"����� 4W J�%!����� 3W N��&�X��X:���� 0W 
!������ ;W R�&�����������J���������Y B������ 4Y P���!���� 3Y Q��� 0Y N������ ;Y Z��&O5 N�������� 45 N�����% ��� 35 J���%�����O 05 N��������� ;5 B�������42 B������ 32 J�$����� 02 L����"�O ;2 M������[����� 12 L�����% ���O

32\�B��������%��X3245�N%����
����U� ��������P���%����34\�R��������������(LN������������������������ �� ������������"����"����������������������"��::R
����]����3234'�N���"�̂�(LN�_3234\#�̀K����������3234�a[���"���������������!��"�% ������3244����$���������&�������!��������%��X3245�N%����
����U� ��������P���%����bcdde�cfdghi�jdf�klhlmn�opqrst�puvrws�ws�xyzyxxrst�{|}@ Page 130



����������	
�����������
����������������������������������������� �!"#�$%&&�&'()�*$�&*+,&�,%)-*.')'/(�+*0/./1�'2�)-/�334#�56789:9;8<�9<�=>=9?=@?6�;8�;AB�C6@<9:6D4/�,&(*�,EE&F�)-/�G**1�G.*H)-�I21/J�K/)-*1*&*LF�)*M�N�OP����Q�����R
���������S�T,KU.'1L/(-'./�,21�V/)/.U*.*%L-W�G./,)/.�X,2+-/()/.W�Y'0/.E**&�T')F�Z6[9;8\�];B:̂�;_�̀a86\�];B:̂�b=<:\�ĉ6_76?5�d9:a�e/L'*2W�3//(�f,&&/FW�4/()�*$�g2L&,21W�4/()�X'1&,21(�,21�4/()�h*.i(-'./j�4/�,&(*�&**i�,)�)-/�E/.$*.K,2+/�*$�('J�+')F�./L'*2(�'2�4,&/(�,21�k+*)&,21W�'2+&%1'2L�#U/.1//2�T')F�e/L'*2W�g1'2U%.L-�T')F�e/L'*2W�I20/.2/((�T')F�e/L'*2W�G&,(L*H�T')F�e/L'*2W�T,.1'$$�T,E'),&�e/L'*2�,21�kH,2(/,�T')F�e/L'*2jl�#&&�mn�Y*+,&�g2)/.E.'(/�V,.)2/.(-'E(�oYgV(p�,./,(�'2�g2L&,21
q����������rs���s�s	t�����������	�utv%.�/+*2*K'+�,2,&F('(�,((/((/(�)-/�/+*2*K'+�L.*H)-�.,)/(�*$�+')'/(�'2�*%.�I21/Jj�4/�-,0/�E./1'+)/1�)-/�/+*2*K'+�'KE,+)(�U,(/1�*2�G.*((�f,&%/�#11/1�oGf#pj3-/�+*./�K*1/&&'2L�H/�-,0/�%(/1�)*�1/)/.K'2/�Gf#�'KE,+)(�,)�,�+')F�&/0/&�'(�)-/�,EE&'+,)'*2�*$�2,)'*2wH'1/�(/+)*.,&�'KE,+)(�)*�/,+-�+')Fx(�&*+,&�,%)-*.')'/(j�y('2L�)-/�&,)/()�1,),�,0,'&,U&/�,)�)-/�)'K/�*$�H.')'2L�$.*K�)-/�vzkW�H/�-,0/�,EE&'/1�)-/�(/+)*.,&�'KE,+)(�,21�$*./+,()(�)*�,&&�&*+,&�,%)-*.')'/(�'2�)-/�y{W�)*�%21/.(),21�,21�E./1'+)�)-/�/+*2*K'+�L.*H)-�.,)/�*$�/,+-�+')Fj�4/�-,0/�%(/1�*%.�y{�g+*2*K'+�v%)&**iM�|/+/KU/.�}~}��(/+)*.,&�$*./+,()(�%21/.�)-/��#++/&/.,)/1�G.*H)-x�(+/2,.'*�)*�)-/�vzk�}~���e/L'*2,&�Gf#�UF�'21%().F�$'L%./(�$.*K�}~}~�)*�}~}�j��,(/1�*2�)-/�E.*E*.)'*2�*$�/,+-�+')Fx(�'21%().F�./&,)'0/�)*�)-/�/2)'./�y{�/+*2*KFW�H/�,EE&'/1�)-/�(/+)*.�'KE,+)(�)*�/,+-�&*+,&�,%)-*.')F�$.*K�}~���,21�K,EE/1�)-/(/�)*�)-/�+')'/(�'2+&%1/1�'2�)-/�G**1�G.*H)-�I21/Jj�#11')'*2,&&FW�H/�-,0/�%(/1�*)-/.�K/,(%./(�,(�E.*J'/(�)*�_AB:̂6B�B6786�;AB�6�;8;�9��=8=?a<9<D�̀ 9̂<�98�?A56<�:̂6�G**L&/�X*U'&')F�I21/JW�)-/�y2'0/.(,&�T&,'K,2)�+*%2)��,21�)-/�+,(/�.,)/�*$�TvfI|w���,)�&*+,&�,%)-*.')F�&/0/&(�'2�)-/�y{j�4/�-,0/�H/'L-)/1�/,+-�E.*JF�'2�*.1/.�)*�,++*%2)�$*.�,&&�E.*J'/(W�U%)�-,0/�K*./�().*2L&F�H/'L-)/1�E.*J'/(�)-,)�H/�$//&�,./�)-/�K*()�,++%.,)/�K/,(%./(�*$�Gf#j�I2�)-'(�'2(),2+/W�H/�-,0/�H/'L-)/1�)-/�(/+)*.,&�,2,&F('(�,(�)-/�K*()�,++%.,)/�K/,(%./�*$�Gf#�,)�)-/�+')F�&/0/&j

���������������������������������������������������� � ������������¡����������3,i'2L�,+)'*2�*2�&/0/&&'2L�%E � Page 131



���������	
��
����
��������	�������������� �!��"�#�$� %&��'�&�(�� ��)**�+,-./*0�./1�,22��
���343����	�567
3
	89���
�:;
����	
<�='���"�"�� �>���������������� �?%@"'A�B���'A�&)**�+,-.//0�/,C�CC2�DEFGHIJHKELMNHOPQRIRNS�TU��;
�V���;
�W���"�� ��� �(�A�"������������B�A����(�� ��)�**�+,-2,.�202�*2XYZU��;
3[38���;
567
3
	8\�
�]U�̂�?������_�B�����=̀a)**�+,-..X*�XX0�X,Yb�
;��3cU�̂�567
3
	8�d;
̂�:	�����ef�gA����'A&�h��&%"�'�=�(�� ��)**�+,-./,1�X0.�.**
;
̂3[	�����567
3
	8

iU��	��]�
�j�̂���W'��A���_�������������� �!��"�#�$� %&��'�&)**�+,-./*0�./X�Y,,c�
36�̂���567
3
	8j�bb��k
�8;b�B��'���l&&�A'���_�B�����=̀a�)**�+,-.*/1�*22�2CY6���;
̂3�3�
�8;b�567
3
	8i

;��\���	
B��'���l&&�A'���_�������������� �!��"�#�$� %&��'�&)**�+,-./*1�1Y0�,C/�

�3b���	
567
3
	8i�ZU
�]�
7�;�l&&�A'���_�B�����=̀a)**�+,-.*/1�1/Y�121��ZU
3�3c�
7�;�567
3
	8:���������	
l&&�A'���_�B�����=̀a)**�+,-.*/1�Y00�/Y,[����3m3
���	
567
3
	8ic	U��j7�?%@"'A�&���'A�&������������""��>�%&n�o���""�p����q%@"'A�rstuvwsr�xy�zs�s{r|�xy�}~���rv���s�xy��rs�{~���s�vust�p#���p����� n���A� �p'�#�A��q"���q��@"��&��� �%� ���q��&&%������ ��@������>���"�&&_�p��p����p'�#��%��=������������ �q%@"'A�&�A����A"'���&���� �"'����'������'���&�"%�'��&_��A#'����@�������%�A���&��� � �"'������"%��>����#�����q�̀��n �#��?ph�gA����'A&��� �?�"'À�?��A�'A��#�"q&��%��A"'���&�%� ��&��� �#�p�@'=��A����'A_� ���=��q#'A_�&�A'�"_��� ����'��������"�A#��=�&��>>�A���#�'����=��'&��'��&�@̀�&���'�=��%��&A����'�&��#���' ���'>̀�=��p�#��qq���%�'�'�&��� ��'&�&������="�@�"_���='���"_����'���"��� �"�A�"�"���"n�o��#�"q������&�����='A��� ���A�'A�"_��q����'���"_�q�'A'�=��� �'���&������ �A'&'��&����&%qq����@%&'��&&���"%��A����'��n�o��#�"q�A"'���&��A#'����&%&��'��@"��=��p�#�p#'A#�����&�x�s�yz�swxvusr�y��x�svt�z�rv~srr��{tx~str��v~��s~wstr�{~��@��� ���&����#�" ���=��%q&n���������� ���'"&�q"��&��&����%��p�@&'�������pppnqpAnA�n%���A����'A&���������������������������� ��¡¢�£��£��¤¥¦¥¤¤�� �§̈** Page 132



��������	�
��
���������������������������������������������� �!������"#���������������$������%&�������������� ������������'�������������&��������������(�)&�����������������*������������������+�����'������������������
�����(�,������������
������
���&��%&�-.(�/�������������������$��
�����!������$���$� �&���������'���'�����������
��������&������$��&�����&�� �����+���0&���� �
��������������������*����������������� �������������&���������������������'��������1��������� ����!�������*��������������������("(�/������&����������������������� �!��������������������������!������

&������������ �*&�����������������'�����������������
�'�
����$����������������(
2(�/�������$��!��������������������������������&��������$�������1��������(�/��*����'�����������!����$������������
���'����'�������!����'��*����������������� ��1����
�������!������!�!�����$������������������������������*��������������&�����(��
�������������������� ���&���������������� ���������������3�����������/�����45�������6��������������(�.78"789:(;�����&��
�������!!!(��
��(��(&�

<==>�<?=@AB�C=?�DEAEFG�HIJKLM�INOKPL�PL�QRSRQQKLM�TU VWX��Y�XZ�[�\�]�Z�̂_�_�
�,������������������'�������&� VWPage 133



�����������	
��
����������
��


��
���������������
�������������� ��!"�!�#���$%&�'�()*&+)&,�%&-�.��/&)�����*0�,�'),1)*�,��%--*)���/&)2�%�/,3�%&-�-)�/()*�%�4%/*�*)$�()*3�4*�+�56789:;<=�>1%,�%*)�,1)�/+?�/$%,/�&��4�*�'�()*&+)&,�,*%&�4�*+%,/�&�%&-�,1)�-)�/'&�%&-�-)�/()*3��4�?�.�/$��)*(/$)�=9*%�/&'��&�&)��?�.�/$�*)�)%*$1�%&-�$�&()&/&'�%$*����.��/&)��@�,1)�?�.�/$��)$,�*�%&-�$/(/����$/),3@�A�5�)B?��*)��,1)�)�2�)�,/�&��%��?%*,��4���*���,�*)��4�C�()*&+)&,�*)�)%*$1�?*�'*%++)D�E�/&����/&�)B?��*/&'�1���,�'),1)*��)�$%&�$*)%,)�%�+�*)�)2�%��FGD�������H��� �


��
������������������ ��!"�!��I!��J��KI!����J

L1/��?�.�/$%,/�&�1%��.))&�?*)?%*)-�4�*�')&)*%��'�/-%&$)��&�+%,,)*���4�/&,)*)�,��&�3@�%&-�-�)��&�,�$�&�,/,�,)�?*�4)��/�&%��%-(/$)D�M����1���-�NOP�QRP�STON�PUV�WNXOYZQPWON�RONPQWNV[�WN�PUW\�TS]̂WRQPWON�_WPUOSP�O]PQWNWǸ�\TVRWaR�TYOXV\\WONQ̂�Q[bWRVc�dO�YVTYV\VNPQPWON�OY�_QYYQNPe�f)B?*)����*�/+?�/)-g�/��'/()&�%��,��,1)�%$$�*%$3��*�$�+?�),)&)����4�,1)�/&4�*+%,/�&�$�&,%/&)-�/&�,1/��?�.�/$%,/�&@�%&-@�,��,1)�)B,)&,�?)*+/,,)-�.3��%�@�A*/$)�%,)*1���)5��?)*��hhA@�/,��+)+.)*�@�)+?��3))��%&-�%')&,��-��&�,�%$$)?,��*�%���+)�%&3��/%./�/,3@�*)�?�&�/./�/,3��*�-�,3��4�$%*)�4�*�%&3�$�&�)2�)&$)���4�3����*�%&3�&)�)��)�%$,/&'@��*�*)4*%/&/&'�,��%$,@�/&�*)�/%&$)��&�,1)�/&4�*+%,/�&�$�&,%/&)-�/&�,1/��?�.�/$%,/�&��*�4�*�%&3�-)$/�/�&�.%�)-��&�/,Di�jkjj�lYWRV_QPVYUOS\VmOOTVY\�nnlc�ô�̂YẀUP\�YV\VYbV[c�pl_mq�YVXVY\�PO�PUV�rs�ZVZ]VY�aYZt�QN[�ZQe�\OZVPWZV\�YVXVY�PO�PUV�l_m�NVP_OYuc�vQRU�ZVZ]VY�aYZ�W\�Q�\VTQYQPV�̂V̀Q̂�VNPWPec�l̂VQ\V�\VV�___cT_RcROZw\PYSRPSYV�XOY�XSYPUVY�[VPQŴ\cx8Lyz{|}~�; Page 134



 

 

 

 
STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

 
 
 
 
 

Subject: 
 
NI Assembly Public Accounts Committee - Planning in Northern 
Ireland  

 
Date: 15th April, 2022 

 
Reporting Officer(s): Kate Bentley, Director of Planning and Building Control  

Contact Officer(s): 
 
Ed Baker, Planning Manager (Development Management)   
Keith Sutherland, Planning Manager (Plans and Policy) 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 
 
 
 
 

The NI Assembly, Public Accounts Committee (PAC) has published a report and 

recommendations in relation to Planning in Northern Ireland. This paper provides an overview 

of the PAC report and recommended response from the Council. The proposed response was 

considered by the Planning Committee on 12 April 2022 for notation. A full copy of the PAC 

report is provided at Appendix 1. The Council’s proposed response is provided at Appendix 

2. 

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 

 

The Committee is asked to note this report and agree the proposed response to the PAC 

report at Appendix 2. 

 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X  

Page 135

Agenda Item 5c



 

 

 
3.0 Background 

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

In February 2022, the Planning Committee considered two recent reviews of the NI planning 

system: 

 

 Firstly, the Northern Ireland Audit Office’s review of the NI planning system, a copy of 

which can be accessed here: https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/publications/planning-

northern-ireland and 

 Secondly, the Department for Infrastructure’s review of the implementation of the 

Planning Act (Northern Ireland) 2011, a copy of which can be accessed here:  

https://www.infrastructure-ni.gov.uk/publications/review-planning-act-ni-2011-report 

 

 

Following publication of the Northern Ireland Audit Office (NIAO) report, the NI Assembly, 

Public Accounts Committee (PAC) has been hearing evidence from key stakeholders. The 

following sessions were held. 

 

 Evidence from the Department for Infrastructure – 10 February 2022 

 Evidence from SOLACE – 17 February 2022 (including evidence from Kate Bentley, 

Director of Planning and Building Control, Belfast City Council) 

 Evidence from NILGA – 24 February 2022 

 

The PAC subsequently published its report on “Planning in NI" on 24 March 2022. This paper 

provides an overview of the PAC report and includes a recommended response from the 

Council. A full copy of the PAC report is provided at Appendix 1. 

 

As further background reading, Members are referred to the agenda item to the February 

Planning Committee on the NI Audit Office report and the Departmental review of the 

implementation of the Planning Act (Northern Ireland) 2011, see link below: 

 

https://minutes.belfastcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=167&MId=10643&Ver=4  

 

 Public Accounts Committee Report on Planning in NI 

 

3.1 

 

 

Overview 

Consistent with the findings of the NIAO report published in February 2022, the PAC report is 

extremely critical of the NI planning system. It concludes that the planning system in Northern 

Ireland is not working effectively or efficiently. The PAC calls for a fundamental review, led by 

Page 136

https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/publications/planning-northern-ireland
https://www.niauditoffice.gov.uk/publications/planning-northern-ireland
https://www.infrastructure-ni.gov.uk/publications/review-planning-act-ni-2011-report
https://minutes.belfastcity.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=167&MId=10643&Ver=4


 

 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

someone independent from the Department for Infrastructure, to bring about the long-term, 

strategic changes needed to make the planning system fit for purpose. 

 

In relation to performance, the PAC observes that since the transfer of functions in 2015, 

planning authorities have failed to deliver on many of their key targets, particularly on major 

and significant development. The PAC was “appalled” by the performance statistics. It states 

that it is simply unacceptable that almost one-fifth of the most important planning applications 

aren’t processed within three years highlighting that such poor performance has an impact on 

applicants, developers and communities and is risking investment in Northern Ireland.  

 

The PAC notes that progress on Local Development Plans (LDPs) has been equally poor – 

with none of the plans being able to progress to adoption in the seven years since transfer in 

2015. The PAC heard of the potential for LDPs to shape communities and make decision-

making processes easier, but noted that the process has been hindered by the complete 

underestimation of the complexity and volume of work required; a lack of key skills and 

resources available to councils. These challenges were considered to have been compounded 

by a series of unnecessary “checks and balances” implemented by the Department. The PAC 

urges all those involved in plan-making to work together to streamline remaining LDP 

processes and produce these important plans as soon as possible.  

 

The PAC goes onto to express concerns about the poor quality of planning application 

submissions (BCC is the only Planning Authority that has so far sought to directly address this 

through publication of its Application Checklist in 2018). The PAC is also concerned about a 

lack of transparency in decision making (officers advise that BCC follows good practice in this 

regard through clearly minuting the reason/s for the Committee’s decision where it overturns 

the officer recommendation. Committee reports also clearly explain where applications have 

been referred to the Committee by an individual Elected Member and reasons why). 

 

The PAC is critical of the role of the Department and its lack of action to address under 

performance in the system. It observes that the Department is not providing strong leadership 

in driving change and that it does not grasp the severity of the issues facing the NI planning 

system. In this regard, the PAC recommends that a commission is setup to oversee much 

needed change to the NI planning system, but that it should be chaired by someone 

independent of the Department. 

 

Page 137



 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The PAC is extremely concerned about the significant level of silo working within the planning 

system itself and comments that it one of the worst examples of silo working in the public 

sector that it has ever encountered. It notes the fragmentation between central and local 

government, statutory consultees and even within the Department itself highlighting that it will 

require a concerted effort from all those involved to work in a more productive way going 

forward. 

 

PAC Recommendations 

 

The PAC report makes 12 recommendations, some of which overlap with the 

recommendations of the NIAO report. The recommendations are reproduced below with 

additional context around each provided in the PAC report (see Appendix 1). 

 

1. The planning system in Northern Ireland is not working. The Committee recommends 

that a Commission is established to undertake a fundamental review to ascertain the 

long-term, strategic changes that are needed to make the system fit for purpose. This 

should be led by someone independent from the Department. 

 

2. The Committee has heard that there are a number of opportunities to make immediate 

improvements to the planning system. We recommend that a commission is established 

to identify tangible improvements that can be achieved in the short term. This must 

focus on problem solving, delivery and achieving outcomes within a fixed time frame. 

 

3. The Committee expects action to be taken to improve the planning system. In lieu of 

any accountability for performance within the system, the Department will provide the 

Committee with a radical action plan and provide the successor Committee with an 

update on the improvements made in six months’ time. 

 

4. The Committee recommends that the Department considers ways to streamline the 

remaining LDP processes, and works with councils to learn lessons from those that 

have been through the independent examination process with a view to taking a more 

pragmatic approach to the remaining plans. The Department and councils need to work 

collaboratively to produce these important plans as soon as possible. 

 

5. The Committee recommends that all those involved in decision-making ensure that 

processes are open and transparent, particularly where a high degree of interpretation 

Page 138



 

 

has been exercised. The Department and councils should consider how checks on good 

record keeping, to ensure transparency, could be carried out effectively. 

 

6. The Committee recommends that the Department should ensure that there is suitable 

and proportionate means of engaging with the planning system. This should include a 

deeper consideration of the appropriateness of limited third-party rights of appeal. 

 
 

7. The operation of the planning system for rural housing is at best inconsistent and at 

worst fundamentally broken. The Committee believes that it is essential that policy in 

the area is agreed and implemented equally and consistently across Northern Ireland. 

The Department should ensure this is the case. 

 

8. The Committee recommends that the Department urgently considers how it exercises 

its oversight of the planning system. In the Committee’s view, this must be accompanied 

with a cultural change. Intervention should be to support delivery and to make 

improvements. The current minimal approach is no longer sustainable. 

 

9. The Committee recommends that the Department and local government should 

implement immediate changes to improve the quality of applications entering the 

system. Whilst this may require legislative change, we do not believe that this should 

be an excuse for delay. 

 

10. The Committee recommends that planning authorities regularly review past decisions 

to understand their real-world outcomes, impact on communities and the quality of the 

completed development. 

 

11. The planning system must be financially sustainable and this requires an appropriate, 

long-term funding model. The Committee recommends that all those involved in 

delivering planning work together to achieve this. In the short term the Department 

should take the lead on bringing forward legislation on planning fees as a matter of 

urgency. 

 

12. There is a fundamental need for a cultural change in the way local and central 

government interact around planning. Whilst cultural change will take time, this should 

be reflected immediately in a more inclusive planning forum which includes 

representation from developers and communities. 

Page 139



 

 

 
 

 

 Next Steps 

3.8 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 

 

3.11 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.12 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.13 

As reported to the Planning Committee in February 2022, this is a pivotal time for the NI 

planning system. Publication of the NIAO and Public Accounts Committee reports represents 

a significant opportunity for much needed change and improvement.  

 

The Department for Infrastructure must provide a formal response to the PAC report within 8 

weeks of its publication (i.e. by 19 May 2022). The recommendations also require an update 

be given to the successor Public Accounts Committee on the improvements made in six 

months’ time. 

 

SOLACE (Society of Local Authority Chief Executives in NI) is expected to provide a response 

on behalf of the 11 councils. It is recommended that Belfast City Council also formally 

responds. A recommended response to the PAC report is provided at Appendix 2 for 

agreement by the Committee. 

 

The PAC's recommendation to establish a commission to oversee the fundamental change 

necessary for the NI planning system is welcome along with the proposal to include 

representatives of the development industry and communities. It is only through the 

participation of all key stakeholders that appropriate solutions can be developed and the 

necessary improvements delivered. The Council has a very important leadership role in this 

change process and will be seeking representation on the commission and any structures that 

feed into the proposed processes.  

 

The Department is organising an all-day workshop with local government officers on 29 April 

2022 to formulate the beginning of a potential plan or approach to addressing the issues 

identified. In order to achieve the stated objectives the discussions will need to resolve a 

number of aspects including: the overall purpose and scope of the review, governance 

including representation, assurance, monitoring and reporting arrangements, potential for 

outside support and expertise, resourcing and approach to implementation. 

 

It is hoped that these various reviews will establish a momentum and commitment to 

addressing the structural and operational challenges. It is therefore proposed that progress 

and any emerging proposals will be brought back to Committee as updates going forward.  

 

Page 140



 

 

 Financial and Resource Implications 

3.14 
 
 
 
 

The existing NI planning system is inefficient and underperforming and the PAC report 

correctly identifies the need to address its longer-term financial sustainability. In January 2021, 

the Council reported to NIAO that the net cost of its Planning Service is nearly £1.2m after fee 

income which demonstrated the Council commitment to the effective resourcing of this 

function. However, the Planning function is far from the cost neutral model suggested at the 

time of Transfer and the PAC’s recommendation that the longer-term financial sustainability of 

the NI planning system should be addressed is therefore welcomed.  

 

 Equality or Good Relations Implications / Rural Needs Assessment 

3.15 No adverse impacts identified. 

 

4.0 Documents Attached  

  

Appendix 1 – NI Assembly, Public Accounts Committee report (March 2022) 

Appendix 1a – Press Release 

Appendix 2 – Proposed Belfast City Council response to PAC report 

 

 
 

Page 141



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Mandate 2017 – 2022  NIA 202/17-22 

Public Accounts Committee 

PLANNING IN NORTHERN 
IRELAND 

This report is the property of the Public Accounts Committee.  Neither the report 

nor its contents should be disclosed to any person unless such disclosure is 

authorised by the Committee. 

Ordered by the Public Accounts Committee to be published 22 March 2022 

This report is embargoed until 00.01am on 24 March 2022 

Report: NIA 202/17-22 Public Accounts Committee 

Appendix 1

Page 143



 

2 

 

Contents 

Powers and Membership ......................................................................................................................................... 3 

List of abbreviations and Acronyms used in this Report .......................................................................................... 4 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................................. 5 

Summary of Recommendations .............................................................................................................................. 8 

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................................ 14 

Background ........................................................................................................................................................... 14 

The planning system is in need of fundamental improvement ............................................................................... 15 

No one has been willing to take responsibility for the overall performance of the planning system ....................... 17 

Progress on Local Development Plans has been slow and the Department’s input has led to further delays ....... 18 

There is a lack of transparency around key decision-making processes, undermining confidence in the planning 

system as a whole ................................................................................................................................................. 19 

Members of the public feel excluded from planning and more meaningful access to the system is needed .......... 21 

The Committee is concerned by how planning is operating for rural housing ........................................................ 22 

The Department’s leadership of the planning system has been weak ................................................................... 23 

The planning system has been slow to respond to quality issues .......................................................................... 24 

The current funding model does not recognise the value of the planning system and is not financially sustainable

 .............................................................................................................................................................................. 26 

The planning system is badly fragmented and this hampers effective delivery ...................................................... 27 

Links to Appendices .............................................................................................................................................. 30 

Appendix 1: Printable version of Report ....................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix 2: Minutes of Proceedings ............................................................................................................ 30 

Appendix 3: Minutes of Evidence ................................................................................................................. 30 

Appendix 4: Correspondence ....................................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix 5: Other Documents relating to the report .................................................................................... 30 

Appendix 6: List of Witnesses that gave evidence to the Committee ........................................................... 30 

 

 

Page 144



 

3 

 

Powers and Membership 

The Public Accounts Committee is a Standing Committee established in accordance with 

Standing Orders under Section 60(3) of the Northern Ireland Act 1998. It is the statutory 

function of the Public Accounts Committee to consider the accounts, and reports on accounts 

laid before the Assembly. 

The Public Accounts Committee is appointed under Assembly Standing Order No. 56 of the 

Standing Orders for the Northern Ireland Assembly. It has the power to send for persons, 

papers and records and to report from time to time. Neither the Chairperson nor Deputy 

Chairperson of the Committee shall be a member of the same political party as the Minister of 

Finance or of any junior minister appointed to the Department of Finance. 

The Committee has 9 members, including a Chairperson and Deputy Chairperson, and a 

quorum of five members. The membership of the Committee is as follows: 

 

Chairperson: Mr William Humphrey MLA 

Deputy Chairperson: Mr Roy Beggs MLA 

 

                Mr Andrew Muir MLA2 Mr Cathal Boylan MLA 

       Mr Maolíosa McHugh MLA Ms Órlaithí Flynn MLA 

Mr William Irwin MLA1 4 Mr David Hilditch MLA 

Ms Cara Hunter MLA 3 5  

 

1 With effect from 17 February 2020 Mr Harry Harvey replaced Mr Gary Middleton 

2 With effect from 31 March 2020 Mr Andrew Muir replaced Mr Trevor Lunn 

3 With effect from 19 May 2020 Mr Matthew O’Toole replaced Mr John Dallat 

4 With effect from 21 June 2021 Mr William Irwin replaced Mr Harry Harvey 

5 With effect from 18 October 2021 Ms Cara Hunter replaced Mr Matthew O’Toole 

  

Page 145



 

4 

 

List of Abbreviations and Acronyms used in this Report 

 

C&AG Comptroller and Auditor General 

DAERA Department for Agriculture, Environment and Rural Affairs 

DfI Department for Infrastructure 

NIAO Northern Ireland Audit Office 

NILGA Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

PAC Public Accounts Committee 

PAN Planning Advice Note 

SOLACE  Society of Local Authority Chief Executives 

SPPS Strategic Planning Policy Statement 

The Act Planning Act (NI) 2011 

The Committee Public Accounts Committee 

LDP Local Development Plan 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 146



 

5 

 

Executive Summary 

 

1. The Public Accounts Committee (the Committee) met on 10, 17 and 24 February and 

10 March 2022 to consider the Northern Ireland Audit Office’s (NIAO) report “Planning 

in Northern Ireland”.  The main witnesses were: 

 

• Mrs Katrina Godfrey, Department for Infrastructure 

• Mr Angus Kerr, Department for Infrastructure 

• Ms Julie Thompson, Department for Infrastructure 

• Ms Alison McCullagh, Society of Local Authority Chief Executives Northern 

Ireland (SOLACE) 

• Ms Kate Bentley, Society of Local Authority Chief Executives Northern Ireland 

• Councillor Steven Corr, Northern Ireland Local Government Association (NILGA) 

• Councillor Robert Irvine, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Ms Karen Smyth, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Mr Kieran Donnelly, Northern Ireland Audit Office 

• Mr Stuart Stevenson, Department of Finance 

• Ms Nuala Crilly, The Gathering 

• Mr Dean Blackwood, The Gathering 

• Ms Anne Harper, The Gathering 

• Mr George McLaughlin, The Gathering 

 

2. Performance issues within the planning system are widely known and are a source of 

considerable concern for this Committee. Since the transfer of functions in 2015, 

planning authorities have failed to deliver on many of their key targets, particularly on 

major and significant development. The Committee is appalled by the performance 

statistics. It is simply unacceptable that almost one-fifth of the most important 

planning applications aren’t processed within three years. Such poor performance has 

an impact on applicants, developers and communities and is risking investment in 

Northern Ireland. 

 

3. Progress on Local Development Plans (LDPs) has been equally poor – seven years 

into the process these plans are yet to materialise. The Committee heard of the 

potential for LDPs to shape communities and make decision-making processes 

Page 147



 

6 

 

easier, but the process has been stymied by a complete underestimation of the 

complexity and volume of work required, a lack of key skills and resources within 

councils, compounded by a series of unnecessary “checks and balances” 

implemented by the Department. The Committee urges all those involved in plan-

making to work together to streamline remaining LDP processes and produce these 

important plans as soon as possible. 

 

4. Issues with quality at all stages of the planning process are pervasive, affecting 

applications, statutory consultation, plan-making and the appeals system. The 

Committee is concerned about the long-term, cumulative effect of widespread quality 

issues. A planning system that allows poor quality applications risks poor quality 

development, which will only lead to further issues and additional costs for the future. 

The Committee heard that there are opportunities to improve application quality, but 

these have not been taken either centrally or locally. The Committee simply cannot 

understand the reluctance to implement change in this area.  

 

5. Whilst these performance issues are concerning, and must be addressed, it is the 

Committee’s strong view that the problems presented are symptomatic of a planning 

system that is beset by more fundamental issues. 

 

6. The Committee was alarmed by the volume of concerns around transparency that 

were presented during the course of its inquiry.  In the Committee’s view, a planning 

system that lacks transparency leaves decision makers ill equipped to defend 

themselves against allegations of impropriety and contributes to public mistrust. This, 

in turn, damages the reputation of the system and places Northern Ireland at a huge 

disadvantage to other regions when competing for investment. 

 

7. The Committee heard concerns about the lack of transparency from witnesses and 

through submissions received. The basis for making key decisions was often absent 

and this is extremely worrying. In particular the Committee are seeking urgent 

remedial action to ensure better transparency for those planning applications called in 

and for applications overturned by a Planning Committee contrary to the 

recommendation of the planning officers. The Committee are also seeking more 

transparency as to how councils exercise enforcement powers given the considerable 

variation across councils.     

 

Page 148



 

7 

 

8. Having discussed its concerns with the Department, SOLACE and NILGA, the 

Committee was struck by the lack of accountability for poor performance. A system 

that allows all those involved to miss targets, without seeking improvements, is a 

system in chronic failure. The Committee is worried by the Department’s 

misunderstanding of accountability, and was left with the impression that it is more 

interested in talking about issues, than taking the action needed to address them. 

This cannot continue, and the Committee expects the Department to provide the 

Committee with a radical action plan and provide the successor Committee with an 

update on the improvements made in six months time. 

 

9. In the Committee’s view, the Department is not currently providing the strong 

leadership needed drive transformational change within the planning system. The 

Committee is very concerned that the Department does not grasp the severity of 

issues facing the planning system, does not recognise the urgent need for change 

and has a poor understanding of its role in implementing change. The Committee 

urges the Department and the Head of the Civil Service to consider how leadership 

could be significantly strengthened so as to exercise an effective oversight role. 

 

10. The operation of the planning system is one of the worst examples of silo-working 

within the public sector that this Committee has encountered. There is fragmentation 

at all levels - between central and local government, within statutory consultees, 

amongst the local councils and even the Department itself appears to operate in 

functional silos. The Committee believes that there is an urgent need for a radical 

cultural change in the way in which central and local government interact. If the 

planning service is to improve, the Department and councils must start to collaborate 

as equal partners. This will require a concerted effort from all those involved to work 

in a more productive way. 

 

11. The Committee were astounded to hear of the case of Knock Iveagh where a wind 

turbine was granted planning permission on the site of an historic monument. Whilst 

the planning permission was granted by the Department of the Environment before 

planning powers passed to local government, there have been many opportunities 

since where the Department and the local council could have worked collaboratively 

to find a solution. The council are now in a legal dispute with the Department 

regarding this. The Knock Iveagh case clearly demonstrates the enormous damage 

caused by an incorrect planning decision and also the inability of the Department and 

Page 149



 

8 

 

council to work together to rectify the position in an expedient way instead of wasting 

valuable resources and causing extreme distress to those affected.   

 

12. The planning system in Northern Ireland is clearly not working. Given the widespread, 

severe and entrenched nature of the issues outlined, the Committee is calling for a 

fundamental review, led by someone independent from the Department, to identify the 

long-term, strategic changes needed to make the planning system fit for purpose. 

 

Summary of Recommendations 

 

Recommendation 1 

13. The planning system should act as key economic driver for Northern Ireland and has 

a crucial role in leveraging investment, protecting the environment and delivering 

places that people want to live and work in. However, on the basis of the evidence 

presented to the Committee, it is clear that the system is failing on delivering its key 

functions - major applications take years to decide, plan-making is incredibly slow, 

and enforcement is inconsistent. Given such obvious issues, the Committee believes 

that a significant programme of reform is needed. 

The planning system in Northern Ireland is not working. The Committee recommends 

that a Commission is established to undertake a fundamental review to ascertain the 

long-term, strategic changes that are needed to make the system fit for purpose. This 

should be led by someone independent from the Department. 

Recommendation 2 

14. Whilst there are widespread, systemic issues affecting planning in Northern Ireland, 

the Committee could not understand the reluctance, amongst many of those it heard 

evidence from, to initiate changes that could improve performance within a shorter 

timeframe. This inaction is stifling the system and cannot be allowed to continue. 

The Committee has heard that there are a number of opportunities to make 

immediate improvements to the planning system. We recommend that a commission 

is established to identify tangible improvements that can be achieved in the short 

Page 150



 

9 

 

term. This must focus on problem solving, delivery and achieving outcomes within a 

fixed time frame. 

Recommendation 3 

15. In the course of its inquiry, it became clear to the Committee that the planning system 

lacks robust accountability arrangements. Missed targets and poor performance have 

become accepted as the norm. The Committee was alarmed by the Department’s 

misunderstanding of accountability. Publishing data is not accountability. The 

Committee is also concerned that the Department has been more focussed on talking 

about performance than implementing the significant actions that are so clearly 

needed. 

The Committee expects action to be taken to improve the planning system. In lieu of 

any accountability for performance within the system, the Department will provide the 

Committee with a radical action plan and provide the successor Committee with an 

update on the improvements made in six months time. 

Recommendation 4 

16. Northern Ireland’s planning system is intended to be a plan led system. Despite this, 

the production of Local Development Plans (LDPs) has been both slow and 

expensive. Whilst there was an initial expectation that plans would be completed 

within three and a half years, seven years following the transfer of planning powers to 

local government no council has an approved LDP. 

 

17. Current projections mean that it will be 13 years into the 15-year cycle before all 

councils have a completed plan in place. Without these, many councils are relying on 

outdated area plans to guide decisions, which in some cases are over 30 years old. 

 

The Committee recommends that the Department considers ways to streamline the 

remaining LDP processes, and works with councils to learn lessons from those that 

have been through the independent examination process with a view to taking a more 

pragmatic approach to the remaining plans. The Department and councils need to 

work collaboratively to produce these important plans as soon as possible. 

 

 

Page 151



 

10 

 

Recommendation 5 

18. Core to much of the Committee’s work has been the promotion of the highest ethical 

values in public services. During the inquiry into planning the Committee heard a 

number of concerns around record keeping and the transparency of decision making. 

Given planning decisions are often amongst the most contentious decisions that will 

be taken within the public sector, adherence to the highest ethical standards are 

essential. Monitoring the level of transparency will be key going forward to engender 

trust in the planning system. 

The Committee recommends that all those involved in decision-making ensure that 

processes are open and transparent, particularly where a high degree of 

interpretation has been exercised. The Department and councils should consider how 

checks on good record keeping, to ensure transparency, could be carried out 

effectively.   

Recommendation 6 

19. Confidence in the planning system is low. Members of the public feel excluded and 

often believe they have no choice but to launch legal proceedings, in the form of 

judicial reviews, to challenge decisions that impact their communities. This is 

expensive, time consuming and confrontational for all those involved. Greater 

engagement is needed.  

 

20. The Committee recommends that the Department should ensure that there is suitable 

and proportionate means of engaging with the planning system. This should include a 

deeper consideration of the appropriateness of limited third-party rights of appeal. 

Recommendation 7 

21. Planning must play an essential role in helping to address many of the issues being 

experienced with housing in Northern Ireland. In particular, the Committee is 

concerned by the evidence it has heard in relation to rural development. The level of 

variation in how this policy is being applied across Northern Ireland is of particular 

concern, along with what appears to be a disproportionate interest in this area from 

some planning committees. 

 

Page 152



 

11 

 

22. The Committee is also concerned that work to clarify this policy had been 

commenced by the Department but was abandoned only two months after the 

Planning Advice Note was published. It is essential that this work be resurrected 

urgently, but accompanied with proper engagement between central and local 

government. 

The operation of the planning system for rural housing is at best inconsistent and at 

worst fundamentally broken. The Committee believes that it is essential that policy in 

the area is agreed and implemented equally and consistently across Northern Ireland. 

The Department should ensure this is the case. 

Recommendation 8 

23. The Department told the Committee that amongst its responsibilities within the two-

tier system in Northern Ireland was oversight. However, the Committee heard 

evidence that the Department was overwhelmingly focused on matters of process 

rather than on the strategic issues which require strong, decisive leadership. The 

Department told us it was challenging to identify when it was appropriate to intervene 

– the Committee believes the Department has got this balance wrong. 

The Committee recommends that the Department urgently considers how it exercises 

its oversight of the planning system. In the Committee’s view, this must be 

accompanied with a cultural change. Intervention should be to support delivery and to 

make improvements. The current minimal approach is no longer sustainable. 

Recommendation 9 

24. The planning system should be key to providing places that people want to live and 

work in. Whilst timely decisions are essential, it is perhaps even more important that 

development that is approved is of high quality. Allowing poor quality applications into 

the system will only result in poor quality development. Despite this, the Committee 

heard that the system has been incredibly slow to implement relatively simple 

changes which could improve the quality of applications. This cannot be allowed to 

continue. 

The Committee recommends that the Department and local government should 

implement immediate changes to improve the quality of applications entering the 

Page 153



 

12 

 

system. Whilst this may require legislative change, we do not believe that this should 

be an excuse for delay. 

Recommendation 10 

25. Without any review of past decisions, it is hard for those who make decisions to 

properly understand how the outcomes of those decisions impact on the communities 

around them. A key means of improving the quality of future decisions must be to 

reflect on the consequences of planning decisions. 

The Committee recommends that planning authorities regularly review past decisions 

to understand their real-world outcomes, impact on communities and the quality of the 

completed development. 

Recommendation 11 

26. If the planning system is to deliver its key functions, it must be properly resourced and 

financially sustainable. However, at local council level, the planning system has been 

running at an ever-increasing shortfall since the transfer of functions in 2015. The 

Committee believes the current funding model does not recognise the importance of 

the planning system, and needs to be revised. Current planning fees, set by the 

Department, do not reflect the needs of the system. If developers are willing to pay 

higher fees for a better service, then at least part of the solution to financial 

sustainability is obvious. The Committee cannot understand why this hasn’t been 

progressed. 

The planning system must be financially sustainable and this requires an appropriate, 

long-term funding model. The Committee recommends that all those involved in 

delivering planning work together to achieve this. In the short term the Department 

should take the lead on bringing forward legislation on planning fees as a matter of 

urgency. 

Recommendation 12 

27. Underpinning many of the issues that the Committee found hampering the planning 

system was a lack of joined-up working. The Committee has stressed the importance 

of joined-up working in many of its inquiries, but the planning system is amongst the 

starkest examples of the negative consequences when public bodies don’t work 

together. 

Page 154



 

13 

 

 

28. Changing this will require leadership – but will also require both central and local 

government to step up and work together in the interests of the planning system and 

its users rather than individual bodies. This will require a cultural change, but is 

essential to allow a more responsive, effective planning system. 

There is a fundamental need for a cultural change in the way local and central 

government interact around planning. Whilst cultural change will take time, this should 

be reflected immediately in a more inclusive planning forum which includes 

representation from developers and communities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 155



 

14 

 

Introduction 

 

29. The Public Accounts Committee (the Committee) met on 10, 17 and 24 February and 

10 March 2022 to consider the Northern Ireland Audit Office (NIAO) report “Planning 

in Northern Ireland”.  The main witnesses were: 

• Mrs Katrina Godfrey, Department for Infrastructure 

• Mr Angus Kerr, Department for Infrastructure 

• Ms Julie Thompson, Department for Infrastructure 

• Ms Alison McCullagh, Society of Local Authority Chief Executives Northern 

Ireland 

• Ms Kate Bentley, Society of Local Authority Chief Executives Northern Ireland 

• Councillor Steven Corr, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Councillor Robert Irvine, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Ms Karen Smyth, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Mr Kieran Donnelly, Northern Ireland Audit Office 

• Mr Stuart Stevenson, Department of Finance 

• Ms Nuala Crilly, The Gathering 

• Mr Dean Blackwood, The Gathering 

• Ms Ann Harper, The Gathering 

• Mr George McLaughlin, The Gathering 

 

Background 

 

30. A properly functioning planning system should proactively facilitate development that 

contributes to a more socially, economically and environmentally sustainable 

Northern Ireland.  

 

31. The Planning Act (NI) 2011 (the Act) established a two-tier system for the delivery of 

planning functions in Northern Ireland.  The planning system has three main 

functions: development planning, development management and enforcement.  

Under the Act, responsibility for delivering the majority of operational planning 

functions passed to local councils in April 2015.  

Page 156



 

15 

 

 

32. The Department for Infrastructure (the Department) retained a central role in the 

planning system in Northern Ireland and is responsible for preparing regional planning 

policy and legislation, monitoring and reporting on the performance of councils’ 

delivery of planning functions and making planning decisions in respect of a small 

number of regionally significant applications. 

 

33. A number of central government organisations provide specialist expertise to council 

planning officials on technical matters.  The main organisations that councils consult 

with are Department for Infrastructure (DfI) Roads, Department for Agriculture 

Environment and Rural Affairs (DAERA), DfI Rivers, NI Water and the Historic 

Environment Division within the Department for Communities. 

 

34. There were around 11,000 planning applications processed in Northern Ireland in the 

2020-21 year. Of these, around 95 per cent were approved.  

 

The planning system is in need of fundamental improvement 

 

35. Evidence presented to the Committee is clear that the current planning system simply 

isn’t working. It is slow, fails to provide certainty for those involved in it, and lacks the 

confidence of those both inside and outside the system. These are significant 

deficiencies given the importance of the planning system – it should be acting as a key 

economic driver, helping to leverage investment into Northern Ireland whilst 

protecting the environment and delivering places that people want to live and work in. 

 

36. On the basis of many key metrics, the system is simply inefficient. Almost half of 

major applications, those likely to have significant economic social and environmental 

implications, take more than a year to decide upon. Three years after application, one 

in five of these major applications is still not decided. The Committee heard that even 

the target timescales were “eye-watering”, and the system must aim for better. In 

comparison with elsewhere in the United Kingdom, the system is much slower. 

 

37. Performance in preparing Local Development Plans (LDPs) has been incredibly slow. 

The most recent projections provided by councils suggest that it will be 2028 before 

Page 157



 

16 

 

there is an LDP in place in each council area, 13 years into a 15-year cycle. The 

Committee also heard concerns around the effectiveness and equity of enforcement 

across Northern Ireland.  Taken together, the Committee was left with the impression 

of a system that can’t plan for the future; isn’t doing well on deciding today’s 

applications; and doesn’t appear to be properly enforcing the decisions it made in the 

past. 

 

38. Some of the underperformance undoubtedly relates to the transfer of functions in 

2015. The Committee heard that the budget that transferred was inadequate, the 

staffing model was inappropriate and the future funding model needs to change. Most 

concerning of all appears to be the widespread recognition that the system isn’t 

working. The Committee is clear that change is now needed and ‘a sticking plaster’ 

will not suffice. Given such obvious criticism, it is hard to understand why action 

hasn’t been taken until now.  

The planning system in Northern Ireland is not working. The Committee recommends 

that a Commission is established to undertake a fundamental review to ascertain the 

long-term, strategic changes that are needed to make the system fit for purpose. This 

should be led by someone independent from the Department. 

39. Whilst there is an obvious need to look again at the structure and operation of the 

planning system, the Committee have been struck by the number of changes that 

could be made now to improve performance. In our view, there has been an inertia 

throughout the system and many of those involved appear reluctant to make much 

needed changes. This cannot be allowed to continue. 

The Committee has heard that there are a number of opportunities to make 

immediate improvements to the planning system. We recommend that a commission 

is established to identify tangible improvements that can be achieved in the short 

term. This must focus on problem solving, delivery and achieving outcomes, within a 

fixed time frame 

 

 

 

 

Page 158



 

17 

 

No one has been willing to take responsibility for the overall 

performance of the planning system 

 

40. The Committee has discussed concerns around the performance of the planning 

system with the Department, SOLACE and NILGA. No one was able to explain how 

poor performance is addressed. It is now clear to the Committee that there is no 

accountability for poor performance. Statutory consultees, councils and the 

Department have all missed targets with impunity and without seeking improvements. 

This is a serious failing. 

 

41. The Committee was also alarmed by what appears to be the Department’s 

fundamental misunderstanding of what accountability is. The Committee was told that 

the Department felt there was accountability in the system because “we are 

publishing more now than we ever published before”. The Department also told the 

Committee that, “data just gives you the questions to ask”. However, the Committee 

can’t see evidence of the Department actually asking those questions, be it on 

variation in performance, overturns, enforcement or delegation. 

 

42. The Department also said, “the more you talk about performance, the more focus 

there is on improving it” – the Committee sees no evidence that this has been true for 

the planning system, and is concerned that the Department is focussed on talking, 

rather than on the significant action the system so clearly needs. 

 

The Committee expects action to be taken to improve the planning system. In lieu of 

any accountability for performance within the system, the Department will provide the 

Committee with a radical action plan and provide the successor Committee with an 

update on the improvements made in six months time. 

 

43. There is a clear need for many organisations to work together to deliver an effective 

planning system. This is not happening. Whilst the Committee heard that planning is 

provided by a number of “autonomous public bodies”, this cannot be used as an 

excuse for bodies to act in narrow self-interest. Public bodies exist to provide a public 

service – not to defend their own role. At this most basic level, the committee expects 

Page 159



 

18 

 

all of those involved in the planning system to act in the interests of the public, not 

themselves. 

 

Progress on Local Development Plans has been slow and the 

Department’s input has led to further delays 

 

44. Northern Ireland’s planning system should be plan-led. However, the expectation that 

all councils would have a fully completed LDP within three and a half years of 

beginning the process has proved completely unrealistic. The Committee heard that a 

combination of inadequate funding, a lack of plan-making skills within councils and 

insufficient understanding of the complexity of the LDP process at the point of transfer 

has resulted in no council having an approved LDP seven years later. 

 

45. The Committee is also concerned that the Department has implemented an excessive 

range of “checks and balances” at either side of the Independent Examination which 

have contributed to delays, and do not happen in other jurisdictions. The Committee 

did not get any sense of the value added by these checks and is concerned that this 

level of interference is symptomatic of the culture within the Department, and its 

approach to the planning system in general. The system has become so legalistic and 

bureaucratic that professional planners are tied up in processes, not adding value or 

place-making. This is expensive for public bodies and discouraging for staff. 

 

46. The Committee was left with the impression that plan-making is excessively process 

driven and unlikely to deliver what is needed any time soon. Indeed, the current 

projections show that it will be 13 years into the 15-year planning cycle before all 

councils have an LDP in place, and there is now a risk that plans will be out of date by 

the time they are implemented. Whilst the Committee does not want the work done so 

far on LDPs to be wasted, attention must now be turned to streamlining and speeding 

up the remaining processes.   

The Committee recommends that the Department considers ways to streamline the 

remaining LDP processes, and works with councils to learn lessons from those that 

have been through the independent examination process with a view to taking a more 

Page 160



 

19 

 

pragmatic approach to the remaining plans. The Department and councils need to 

work collaboratively to produce these important plans as soon as possible. 

 

There is a lack of transparency around key decision-making 

processes, undermining confidence in the planning system as a whole 

 

47. Openness and transparency are at heart of the credibility of any public service, yet 

during its inquiry, the Committee received a large number of concerns about the lack 

of transparency in the planning system, and how hard it is for the public to engage. 

The Department itself told the Committee that it had concerns around record keeping 

and the transparency of decision-making processes at council level, but the 

Committee got no sense of any actions it has taken as a result of these concerns. In 

the absence of any real accountability the onus appears to have fallen on members of 

the public to call out poor practices and ensure process is followed. 

 

48. A number of concerns around transparency were presented to the Committee, across 

every evidence session, with both central and local government and members of the 

public. Whilst there is a need to improve transparency across the system, the 

Committee believes urgent remedial action is needed in three specific areas: 

• Call-in procedures; 

• Overturn of planning officials’ recommendation; and 

• Enforcement. 

 

49. Whilst each planning committee has a Scheme of Delegation setting out the 

applications to be decided by the planning committee, and those which are delegated 

to officials, elected members retain the right to “call-in” applications from the 

delegated list, for consideration and decision by the planning committee. The 

Committee was presented with evidence that call-in procedures vary considerably, 

and it is not always clear, even to members of the same planning committee, why 

certain applications are called in.  Whilst there may be valid reasons for calling in 

applications, such variation in process and lack of detail leads to speculation and a 

lack of trust, particularly when planning committees appear to take an interest in 

Page 161



 

20 

 

particular types of development. In this context, the Committee was especially 

alarmed to hear that lobbying is happening, even though it shouldn’t be.  

 

50. The NIAO’s report found that one in eight decisions taken by planning committees 

was made contrary to the advice of the planning officer. Whilst the Committee 

understands that planning committees are not expected to agree with official 

recommendations in all cases, it expects so-called “overturns” to be supported by 

robust planning reasons which are publicly available. Witnesses agreed that this was 

not always the case, and that record keeping processes vary considerably across 

planning committees.  

 

51. The Committee views enforcement as crucial to the integrity of and confidence in the 

planning system, however evidence suggests that this is another area where there is 

considerable variation across planning authorities. For example, in one council, a 

quarter of enforcement cases was deemed not expedient to pursue, compared to less 

than one in ten in another council. The Committee was told that enforcement is a 

discretionary function, but cannot understand why outcomes are not more consistent, 

and is concerned that discretion is being used as an excuse not to carry out 

enforcement action in some cases. Such large variations in key planning processes 

and outcomes do not lead to public confidence, and warrant more attention from both 

the Department and local government.  

 

52. Finally, the Committee also heard frustrations that the Department is particularly 

difficult to engage with. However, the Department told the Committee that it is leading 

on the Planning Engagement Forum and wants to engage the public more. The 

Committee is concerned that the Department is completely disconnected from the 

reality of the system, largely as a consequence of its hands-off approach since the 

transfer of functions. 

 

53. The extent of concerns around transparency and openness are causing reputational 

damage to the Northern Ireland planning system. The Committee has been made 

aware of developers who are unwilling to risk investment in Northern Ireland, and this 

has the potential to undermine development, such as housing, that is so badly 

needed. The Committee is concerned perception of a dysfunctional planning system 

places Northern Ireland at a huge disadvantage to other regions when competing for 

foreign direct investment.  

Page 162



 

21 

 

 

54. Witnesses told the Committee that, although they were aware of a perception of 

ethical issues within the planning system, they did not believe these existed in 

practice. However, in the Committee’s view, the planning system lacks transparency, 

leaves decision makers ill-equipped to defend themselves against allegations of 

corruption and contributes to mistrust. The Chief Planner remarked that there is “more 

work to be done” on transparency. The Committee feels this is a massive 

understatement. Transparency around decision-making is key to enabling 

accountability and public confidence in the planning system.  

 

55. The Committee recognises the importance of making planning decisions within a 

framework of high ethical standards. It is therefore important that both planning 

officers and decision makers are constantly reminded of the required standards and 

that there are adequate checks and balances within the system to ensure such 

standards are adhered to. 

 

The Committee recommends that all those involved in decision-making ensure that 

processes are open and transparent, particularly where a high degree of 

interpretation has been exercised. The Department and Councils should consider 

how checks on good record keeping to ensure transparency could be carried out 

effectively. 

 

Members of the public feel excluded from planning and more 

meaningful access to the system is needed 

 

56. The Committee heard a range of concerns from members of the public who felt 

excluded from the planning system. The Committee is clear that whilst it is important 

that the system works for applicants and developers, it must also work for those 

communities in which development takes place. 

 

57. Many of those that the Committee heard from criticised the overly legalistic 

atmosphere that had been created around the planning system. However, by strictly 

limiting access, the system is currently contributing to this culture. Third parties are 

Page 163



 

22 

 

left with no option to challenge decisions, other than by pursuing judicial reviews. This 

is expensive, time consuming and confrontational for all those involved. 

 

58. Many of the responses to the Department’s Review of the Planning Act reflected a 

desire for more access to the planning system, potentially through a new appeals 

system, or allowing for third party challenge. The Department was not persuaded of 

the need to make any amendments to the planning appeals process. The Committee 

recognises that there will be a trade-off between allowing access to the system for 

third parties and the speed of decisions – but currently the Northern Ireland system 

appears to have the worst of both worlds. 

 

The Committee recommends that the Department should ensure that there is suitable 

and proportionate means of engaging with the planning system. This should include a 

deeper consideration of the appropriateness of limited third-party rights of appeal. 

 

The Committee is concerned by how planning is operating for rural 

housing 

 

59. Much of the evidence heard during the Committee’s inquiry centred on decisions 

around rural development and housing. In the Committee’s view, some council 

planning committees appear to be excessively involved in decisions around the 

development of new single homes in the countryside. The NIAO report notes that, 

despite often being relatively straightforward, rural housing accounts for 16 per cent of 

all planning applications but comprises 40 per cent of all overturns. This represents a 

disproportionate use of planning committee time and resources. 

 

60. The Department told us that the Strategic Planning Policy Statement (SPPS) sets out 

how applications for rural housing should be approached. However, they are 

concerned that so many of these decisions are not delegated, or overturned and that 

different decisions are reached. 

 

61. The Committee is concerned, based on evidence presented to it, that there appears 

to be an increasingly fine line between planning committees interpreting planning 

Page 164



 

23 

 

policy and simply setting it aside. As a result, these differing interpretations are 

threatening to create a patchwork of varying rural planning policy across Northern 

Ireland. The Committee is simply not convinced that what is relevant in one rural area 

is considerably different to what is relevant in another. 

 

62. The Committee heard about the Department’s Planning Advice Note (PAN) which 

was issued in August 2021 and subsequently withdrawn just over two months later. 

This was prepared without consultation between the Department and councils. As a 

result of the Department’s approach, relationships have been damaged, confidence in 

the planning system undermined and inconsistency has been allowed to persist. 

The operation of the planning system for rural housing is at best inconsistent and at 

worst fundamentally broken. The Committee believes that it is essential that policy in 

the area is agreed and implemented equally and consistently across Northern Ireland. 

The Department should ensure this is the case. 

 

The Department’s leadership of the planning system has been weak 

 

63. The evidence provided to the Committee by witnesses and in the NIAO report makes 

it clear that leadership is desperately needed to improve the planning system. The 

Department isn't providing this. The Committee is very concerned, based on the 

evidence it has heard, that the Department does not grasp the severity of issues 

facing the planning system, does not recognise the obvious need for change and has 

little understanding of its role in implementing change. 

 

64. The Department’s evidence to the Committee was overwhelmingly focused on 

process - it highlighted that it had completed 19 out of 30 actions in relation to the 

planning forum and processed 55 responses for the Planning Review to identify the 

16 key issues. The Committee was surprised to learn that the Department has around 

80 staff assigned to planning matters.  Evidence provided by others noted that the 

Department exercised a number of checks and balances which appeared to only 

delay decisions, frustrate the system and its users, and fail to add any value. 

 

Page 165



 

24 

 

65. However, at no point did the Department seem to have considered what impact any of 

this would have on the planning system itself. Rather than providing transformational 

leadership which would drive the change that is so badly needed, the Department is 

overly focused on process. Reviewing the Department’s role in respect of planning 

might reduce the need for the large number of staff.  

 

66. There are some areas where it is obvious that the Department must take a more 

proactive leadership role. For example, the Committee heard that legislative change 

is required on a number of areas, and that the Department is the only body capable of 

taking this forward, but has made no efforts to do so. The Committee shares some of 

the witnesses’ views that the recent review of the Planning Act was ineffective and 

that many important issues raised as part of the consultation were not adequately 

considered by the Department. The Committee notes that because of the timing of the 

Department’s review, any legislative changes will need to wait until the next mandate. 

Therefore, even the limited changes that the Department has accepted are necessary 

will not be implemented soon. The Committee urges the Department to drive forward 

legislative change as a matter of urgency. 

 

67. Having heard the Department’s evidence, this Committee considers that the 

Department has been too remote in its oversight of the planning system and is not 

confident that the Department is providing the leadership that will drive the necessary 

transformational change. 

The Committee recommends that the Department urgently considers how it exercises 

its oversight of the planning system. In the Committee’s view, this must be 

accompanied with a cultural change. Intervention should be to support delivery and to 

make improvements. The current minimal approach is no longer sustainable.  

 

The planning system has been slow to respond to quality issues 

 

68. The Committee has significant concerns around the evidence it heard of widespread 

issues with the quality of applications entering and progressing through the planning 

system. Allowing poor quality applications into the system risks poor quality 

development. This is storing up issues for Northern Ireland’s future. A poor planning 

Page 166



 

25 

 

system will not only cost Northern Ireland today, but will have a long-lasting negative 

impact over many years to come. 

 

69. The Committee can see little evidence of changes implemented to improve the 

planning system to date, and often there has been inertia on effecting change that 

would improve the system. An example of this is the validation checklist. Councils 

have been asking the Department to put this on a legislative footing since 2016, and 

yet nothing has happened. The Committee, however, was unconvinced by evidence 

provided by local government representatives that councils were unable to take 

independent action on this issue. 

 

70. The Committee heard that there is strong evidence that validation checklists will 

improve the quality of applications, however most councils haven’t attempted to 

implement these as they would be voluntary. The Committee can’t understand the 

reluctance around making basic changes, despite the positive experience of the one 

council who had implemented a checklist. It is difficult to escape the conclusion that 

the Department’s inaction is being used as an excuse and councils are pre-empting 

reasons for failure rather than learning from good practice elsewhere and trying to 

implement it. 

The Committee recommends that the Department and local government should 

implement immediate changes to improve the quality of applications entering the 

system. Whilst this may require legislative change, we do not believe that this should 

be an excuse for delay.  

71. As well as allowing poor quality applications in, the system as currently designed, 

allows serial amendments at every stage of the process, right up to appeal. The 

Committee heard that dealing with poor quality applications clogs up the system and 

professional planners are constantly “firefighting”. Addressing these issues could free 

up staff time to process applications in a more timely manner. 

 

72. The Committee believes that a properly functioning planning system should 

encourage quality, however as it stands, there is no mechanism at either end of the 

system to do so. In addition to there being no robust mechanism to stop poor quality 

applications entering the planning system, the Committee heard that planning 

authorities do not review the outcomes of past decisions, despite this being 

Departmental guidance.  The Committee was therefore left with the impression of a 

Page 167



 

26 

 

system that has little interest in the impact of its decisions and learning from 

experience.  

The Committee recommends that planning authorities regularly review past decisions 

to understand their real-world outcomes, impact on communities and the quality of the 

completed development.   

 

The current funding model does not recognise the value of the 

planning system and is not financially sustainable 

 

73. The planning system plays a key role in economic development, shaping communities 

and protecting the environment and its value should be assessed in this context.  It is 

therefore vital that it is financially sustainable. The Committee heard evidence that the 

current funding arrangements do not properly recognise the potential of the planning 

system as an economic enabler and public service and that the gap between income 

and expenditure has grown so large that the system is becoming financially 

unsustainable. 

 

74. Local government witnesses told the Committee that, despite assurances, planning 

did not transfer to councils as a cost-neutral service in 2015 and that the funding 

package was insufficient to meet the costs of running the planning service. The 

shortfall in funding has continued year-on-year, with additional costs borne by 

councils, as opposed to any additional central government funding or meaningful uplift 

in planning fees. The NIAO reported that the gap between costs and income has risen 

from £4.1 million in 2015-16 to £8.2 million in 2019-20. The Committee was also 

concerned to hear that the true costs of the LDP process have not yet been fully 

realised, and this will also have an impact on councils’ finances.  

 

75. The Committee was disappointed to hear that the devolution of planning to local 

government hasn’t yet achieved any economies of scale. Witnesses told the 

Committee that insufficient budgets and inappropriate staffing models from the point 

of transfer made this almost impossible and that funding models needs to be 

overhauled before any improvement will be seen.  

 

Page 168



 

27 

 

76. Since 2015, planning fees have increased once, by around 2 per cent.  Any further 

changes to planning fees will require legislation to be brought through the Assembly. 

The Committee heard that applicants are generally willing to pay higher fees in return 

for a better and more efficient service. The Committee was also told that resources 

are one of the major constraints in processing applications. The solution is frankly 

self-evident and the Committee struggles to understand how this hasn’t been 

progressed by the Department.  In the Committee’s view, the Department has paid 

insufficient attention to ensuring that the planning fees it sets reflect the needs of the 

system. It is hugely frustrating that there will not be a chance to address planning fees 

until the next mandate. Bringing forward this legislation should be an urgent priority 

for the Department. 

The planning system must be financially sustainable and this requires an appropriate, 

long-term funding model. The Committee recommends that all those involved in 

delivering planning work together to achieve this. In the short term the Department 

should take the lead on bringing forward legislation on planning fees as a matter of 

urgency. 

 

The planning system is badly fragmented and this hampers effective 

delivery 

 

77. The Committee views the operation of the planning system as one of the worst 

examples of silo-working that it has come across. Despite an urgent need for better 

performance, there appears to be a lack of joined-up working between central and 

local government, silos within statutory consultees, a lack of co-operation amongst 

local councils, and even silos within the Department itself. Despite this, the 

Committee was surprised to hear from the Department’s evidence that it felt it had 

been working collaboratively on multiple levels and multiple aspects. In contrast, 

councils told the Committee that they felt there was a level of mistrust and, that seven 

years into the system, this needed to change. 

 

78. Departmental witnesses frequently referred to the work of the Planning Forum, 

however there was little evidence presented of tangible outcomes achieved. The 

Committee was surprised to learn that only three councils were represented on the 

Page 169



 

28 

 

Forum, and that they were only invited to participate a year after it was established. 

The Committee is also concerned that the Department believes they have already 

brought everyone involved in the system together despite there being no 

representation from many of those who are essential to the system – councillors, 

developers or local communities. This is not an inclusive, joined-up approach to 

service improvement and must improve. 

 

79. The Committee was disappointed to learn that one of the poorest performing statutory 

consultees, DfI Rivers, is part of the Department for Infrastructure. Such a failure 

within the Departmental boundary gives the Committee reason to question whether 

the Department fully grasps the consequences of its own actions or indeed the 

importance of the planning system. More generally, the Committee is concerned that, 

despite what it was told by the Department about the significant work ongoing with 

statutory consultees, there is no improvement in performance. The existence of a silo 

culture amongst consultees is also a significant concern, particularly the evidence that 

some consultees are protecting their own organisation’s performance to the detriment 

of the overall system. This is not acceptable and urgent remedial action must be 

taken. 

 

80. Within both statutory consultees and local government, we have also seen silo 

thinking predominate. The Committee has heard that some consultees have sought to 

protect their own performance, at the expense of the performance of the system as a 

whole. Likewise, the Committee remains highly concerned at one council 

implementing its own IT system and the consequences this will have for the rest of the 

planning system in Northern Ireland. 

 

81. The consequences of silo working were laid bare in the evidence provided to the 

Committee. Professional planners were spending much of their time dealing with 

enquiries and chasing responses to applications that should have been progressed. 

Unbelievably, the Committee heard evidence that this was likely to represent much 

more than 40 per cent of planners’ time. This is bad for the users of the system, bad 

for those employed by the system and bad for Northern Ireland. It must improve. 

 

82. The Committee has also been left with the belief that not only is there a silo-mentality, 

but a strong sense of “us” and “them”. The Committee was particularly alarmed by the 

case of Knock Iveagh where the council and the Department are in the midst of a 

Page 170



 

29 

 

legal dispute. This is a stark example of where two parts of the planning system are at 

odds with each other rather than working in the interests of the system as a whole. 

This could and should have been avoided. The Committee is incredulous to learn that 

the costs of legal action to date, between two public sector bodies, have significantly 

exceeded what it may have cost to resolve the issue at the very outset. 

 

83. The Committee believes that there is an urgent need for a cultural change in the way 

in which central and local government interact. The successful delivery of any service, 

but especially planning, will necessitate both the Department and councils 

collaborating as equal partners. More effort is needed from all those involved to work 

in a more productive way. 

There is a fundamental need for a cultural change in the way local and central 

government interact around planning. Whilst cultural change will take time, this should 

be reflected immediately in a more inclusive planning forum which includes 

representation from developers and communities. 

 

  

Page 171



 

30 

 

Links to Appendices 

Appendix 1: Printable version of Report  

Download a printable version of this report [SELECT TEXT AND INSERT LINK] 

Appendix 2: Minutes of Proceedings  

View Minutes of Proceedings of Committee meetings related to the report 

[SELECT TEXT AND INSERT LINK] 

Appendix 3: Minutes of Evidence 

View Minutes of Evidence from evidence sessions related to the report 

[SELECT TEXT AND INSERT LINK] 

Appendix 4: Correspondence 

View Correspondence issued and received 

Appendix 5: Other Documents relating to the report 

View other documents in relation to the report [SELECT TEXT AND INSERT 

LINK] 

Appendix 6: List of Witnesses that gave evidence to the Committee 

• Mrs Katrina Godfrey, Department for Infrastructure 

• Mr Angus Kerr, Department for Infrastructure 

• Ms Julie Thompson, Department for Infrastructure 

• Ms Alison McCullagh, Society of Local Authority Chief Executives Northern 

Ireland (SOLACE) 

• Ms Kate Bentley, Society of Local Authority Chief Executives Northern Ireland 

• Councillor Steven Corr, Northern Ireland Local Government Association (NILGA) 

• Councillor Robert Irvine, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Ms Karen Smyth, Northern Ireland Local Government Association 

• Mr Kieran Donnelly, Northern Ireland Audit Office 

• Mr Stuart Stevenson, Department of Finance 

Page 172



 

31 

 

• Ms Nuala Crilly, The Gathering 

• Mr Dean Blackwood, The Gathering 

• Ms Anne Harper, The Gathering 

• Mr George McLaughlin, The Gathering 

 

Page 173



 

 

You may re-use this publication (not including images or logos) free of charge 

in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Northern Ireland 

Assembly Licence. To find out more about this licence visit: 

http://data.niassembly.gov.uk/license.aspx 

 

This Report can be made available in a range of formats including large print, 

Braille etc. For more information please contact: 

 

Public Accounts Committee 

Northern Ireland Assembly 

Parliament Buildings 

Ballymiscaw 

Stormont 

Belfast BT4 3XX 

 

Telephone: 028 90 521208 

Email: committee.publicaccounts@niassembly.gov.uk 

Twitter: @NIA_PAC 

Page 174

http://data.niassembly.gov.uk/license.aspx


 

 

PRESS RELEASE 

 

23 March 2022        PAC 08/21/22 

 

STRICTLY EMBARGOED UNTIL 00.01 THURSDAY, 24 MARCH 2022 

 

COMMITTEE SAYS PLANNING SYSTEM NOT FIT FOR PURPOSE 

 

The Northern Ireland Assembly Public Accounts Committee (the Committee) has 

today published a report, entitled Planning in Northern Ireland. The report examines 

how the Department for Infrastructure (the Department) and local government has 

delivered planning decisions since 2015, when the two tier planning system was 

established.  

 

Chairman of the Committee, William Humphrey MBE MLA said, “We recognise the 

importance of a properly functioning planning system which should contribute 

towards a more socially, economically sustainable Northern Ireland. The 

Committee is therefore very concerned at the failure of the planning system to 

deliver.  

 

 “The Committee was both alarmed and appalled at the performance of the 

planning system. Planning decisions are unacceptably slow; nearly one fifth of 

the most important planning applications are not processed within three years. 

Not only does this have an impact on applicants, it also risks investment in 

Northern Ireland.  

 

“We also were shocked that seven years on, no council has been able to 

produce a local development plan. The Department underestimated the 

complexity of progressing Local Development Plans. These plans should make 

a real difference to local communities, but have been hampered by a lack of 

key skills and resources within councils, compounded by a series of  

unnecessary “checks and balances” by the Department.  

 

The report also highlighted concerns about transparency around planning decisions. 

Not only is this against best practice, it can also contribute to public mistrust in any 

decisions taken.  

 

Mr Humphrey said: “The basis for making key decisions was often absent and 

this is extremely worrying. There needs to be urgent remedial action to ensure 

better transparency around decision making and how councils exercise 

enforcement powers given the considerable variation across councils.     

Appendix 1a

Page 175



 

“What is even more troubling is that there appears to be a lack of 

accountability for poor performance.  This is a serious concern and demands 

immediate change. We have made it clear that the Department must provide the 

Committee with a radical action plan. We also expect the Department to 

provide the successor Committee with an update on improvements made in six 

months. 

 

 

Mr Humphrey said: “The planning system is one of the worst examples of silo-

working within the public sector that we have encountered. There is an urgent 

need for a radical cultural change in the way in which central and local 

government interact.  If the planning service is to improve, the Department and 

councils must start to collaborate as equal partners. This will require a 

concerted effort from all those involved to work in a more productive way. 

 

“The planning system in Northern Ireland is clearly not working. We are calling 

for a fundamental review, led by someone independent from the Department, 

to identify the long-term, strategic changes needed to make the planning 

system fit for purpose”. 

 

ENDS 

 

Notes to Editors 

 

The full Report, Planning in Northern Ireland, can be found on the Assembly website:  

  

Page 176



The Committee’s recommendations from the Report are: 

 

Recommendation 1 

The planning system should act as key economic driver for Northern Ireland and has 

a crucial role in leveraging investment, protecting the environment and delivering 

places that people want to live and work in. However, on the basis of the evidence 

presented to the Committee, it is clear that the system is failing on delivering its key 

functions - major applications take years to decide, plan-making is incredibly slow, 

and enforcement is inconsistent. Given such obvious issues, the Committee believes 

that a significant programme of reform is needed. 

 

The planning system in Northern Ireland is not working. The Committee 

recommends that a Commission is established to undertake a fundamental 

review to ascertain the long-term, strategic changes that are needed to make 

the system fit for purpose. This should be led by someone independent from 

the Department. 

 

Recommendation 2 

Whilst there are widespread, systemic issues affecting planning in Northern Ireland, 

the Committee could not understand the reluctance, amongst many of those it heard 

evidence from, to initiate changes that could improve performance within a shorter 

timeframe. This inaction is stifling the system and cannot be allowed to continue. 

 

The Committee has heard that there are a number of opportunities to make 

immediate improvements to the planning system. We recommend that a 

commission is established to identify tangible improvements that can be 

achieved in the short term. This must focus on problem solving, delivery and 

achieving outcomes within a fixed time frame. 

 

Recommendation 3 

In the course of its inquiry, it became clear to the Committee that the planning system 

lacks robust accountability arrangements. Missed targets and poor performance have 

become accepted as the norm. The Committee was alarmed by the Department’s 

misunderstanding of accountability. Publishing data is not accountability. The 

Committee is also concerned that the Department has been more focussed on 

talking about performance than implementing the significant actions that are so 

clearly needed. 

The Committee expects action to be taken to improve the planning system. In 

lieu of any accountability for performance within the system, the Department 

will provide the Committee with a radical action plan and provide the 

successor Committee with an update on the improvements made in six 

months’ time. 

 

Recommendation 4 

Northern Ireland’s planning system is intended to be a plan led system. Despite this, 

the production of Local Development Plans (LDPs) has been both slow and 

expensive. Whilst there was an initial expectation that plans would be completed 

Page 177



within three and a half years, seven years following the transfer of planning powers to 

local government no council has an approved LDP. 

 

Current projections mean that it will be 13 years into the 15-year cycle before all 

councils have a completed plan in place. Without these, many councils are relying on 

outdated area plans to guide decisions, which in some cases are over 30 years old. 

 

The Committee recommends that the Department considers ways to streamline 

the remaining LDP processes, and works with councils to learn lessons from 

those that have been through the independent examination process with a view 

to taking a more pragmatic approach to the remaining plans. The Department 

and councils need to work collaboratively to produce these important plans as 

soon as possible. 

 

Recommendation 5 

Core to much of the Committee’s work has been the promotion of the highest ethical 

values in public services. During the inquiry into planning the Committee heard a 

number of concerns around record keeping and the transparency of decision making. 

Given planning decisions are often amongst the most contentious decisions that will 

be taken within the public sector, adherence to the highest ethical standards are 

essential. Monitoring the level of transparency will be key going forward to engender 

trust in the planning system. 

 

The Committee recommends that all those involved in decision-making ensure 

that processes are open and transparent, particularly where a high degree of 

interpretation has been exercised. The Department and councils should 

consider how checks on good record keeping, to ensure transparency, could 

be carried out effectively. 

 

Recommendation 6 

Confidence in the planning system is low. Members of the public feel excluded and 

often believe they have no choice but to launch legal proceedings, in the form of 

judicial reviews, to challenge decisions that impact their communities. This is 

expensive, time consuming and confrontational for all those involved. Greater 

engagement is needed. 

 

The Committee recommends that the Department should ensure that there is 

suitable and proportionate means of engaging with the planning system. This 

should include a deeper consideration of the appropriateness of limited third-

party rights of appeal. 

 

Recommendation 7 

Planning must play an essential role in helping to address many of the issues being 

experienced with housing in Northern Ireland. In particular, the Committee is 

concerned by the evidence it has heard in relation to rural development. The level of 

variation in how this policy is being applied across Northern Ireland is of particular 

concern, along with what appears to be a disproportionate interest in this area from 

some planning committees. 

Page 178



The Committee is also concerned that work to clarify this policy had been 

commenced by the Department but was abandoned only two months after the 

Planning Advice Note was published. It is essential that this work be resurrected 

urgently, but accompanied with proper engagement between central and local 

government. 

 

The operation of the planning system for rural housing is at best inconsistent 

and at worst fundamentally broken. The Committee believes that it is essential 

that policy in the area is agreed and implemented equally and consistently 

across Northern Ireland. The Department should ensure this is the case. 

 

Recommendation 8 

The Department told the Committee that amongst its responsibilities within the two 

tier system in Northern Ireland was oversight. However, the Committee heard 

evidence that the Department was overwhelmingly focused on matters of process 

rather than on the strategic issues which require strong, decisive leadership. The 

Department told us it was challenging to identify when it was appropriate to intervene 

– the Committee believes the Department has got this balance wrong. 

 

The Committee recommends that the Department urgently considers how it 

exercises its oversight of the planning system. In the Committee’s view, this 

must be accompanied with a cultural change. Intervention should be to support 

delivery and to make improvements. The current minimal approach is no 

longer sustainable. 

 

Recommendation 9 

The planning system should be key to providing places that people want to live and 

work in. Whilst timely decisions are essential, it is perhaps even more important that 

development that is approved is of high quality. Allowing poor quality applications into 

the system will only result in poor quality development. Despite this, the Committee 

heard that the system has been incredibly slow to implement relatively simple 

changes which could improve the quality of applications. This cannot be allowed to 

continue. 

 

The Committee recommends that the Department and local government should 

implement immediate changes to improve the quality of applications entering 

the system. Whilst this may require legislative change, we do not believe that 

this should be an excuse for delay. 

 

Recommendation 10 

Without any review of past decisions, it is hard for those who make decisions to 

properly understand how the outcomes of those decisions impact on the communities 

around them. A key means of improving the quality of future decisions must be to 

reflect on the consequences of planning decisions. 

 

The Committee recommends that planning authorities regularly review past 

decisions to understand their real-world outcomes, impact on communities 

and the quality of the completed development. 

Page 179



Recommendation 11 

If the planning system is to deliver its key functions, it must be properly resourced 

and financially sustainable. However, at local council level, the planning system has 

been running at an ever-increasing shortfall since the transfer of functions in 2015. 

The Committee believes the current funding model does not recognise the 

importance of the planning system, and needs to be revised. Current planning fees, 

set by the Department, do not reflect the needs of the system. If developers are 

willing to pay higher fees for a better service, then at least part of the solution to 

financial sustainability is obvious. The Committee cannot understand why this hasn’t 

been progressed. 

 

The planning system must be financially sustainable and this requires an 

appropriate, long-term funding model. The Committee recommends that all 

those involved in delivering planning work together to achieve this. In the short 

term the Department should take the lead on bringing forward legislation on 

planning fees as a matter of urgency. 

 

Recommendation 12 

Underpinning many of the issues that the Committee found hampering the planning 

system was a lack of joined-up working. The Committee has stressed the importance 

of joined-up working in many of its inquiries, but the planning system is amongst the 

starkest examples of the negative consequences when public bodies don’t work 

together. 

 

Changing this will require leadership – but will also require both central and local 

government to step up and work together in the interests of the planning system and 

its users rather than individual bodies. This will require a cultural change, but is 

essential to allow a more responsive, effective planning system. 

 

There is a fundamental need for a cultural change in the way local and central 

government interact around planning. Whilst cultural change will take time, this 

should be reflected immediately in a more inclusive planning forum which 

includes representation from developers and communities. 

 

For media enquiries, please contact: 

 

Debra Savage 

Communications Officer 

Northern Ireland Assembly 

Mobile: 07920 864221 

Email: debra.savage@niassembly.gov.uk  

Page 180

mailto:debra.savage@niassembly.gov.uk


Office of the Chief Executive  
 

Belfast City Council, Office of the Chief Executive 
City Hall, Belfast BT1 5GS 
Tel: 028 9027 0202, Textphone: 028 9027 0405 
Email: walshjohn@belfastcity.gov.uk 
 

 
 
Your reference  
 
Our reference JW/lc 
 
Date  April 2022  
 
 
 
 
William Humphrey MLA 
Chair, Public Accounts Committee 
Northern Ireland Assembly 
By email: Committee.publicaccounts@niassembly.gov.uk  
 
 
 
 
Dear Mr Humphrey 
 
NI Assembly, Public Accounts Committee Report on Planning in NI  
 
Belfast City Council was extremely keen to engage with the Northern Ireland Audit Office (NIAO) 
on first hearing of its review of the NI planning system. Council officials met NIAO at the outset in 
December 2020 then followed this up with detailed written representations in January 2021 calling 
for fundamental change. 
 
The Council notes the tonality of the Public Accounts Committee report and shares its high degree 
of frustration about how the NI planning system was designed and currently operates. 
 
Both Belfast and wider region have enormous potential – economically, socially and 
environmentally. Belfast is the First City, economic driver for the region and of huge importance 
socially and culturally. If our City is to truly realise its tremendous potential, and to deliver on the 
Belfast Agenda, its Community Plan, then it must be supported by an efficient, effective and fit for 
purpose planning system. 
 
To deliver on this, it is our firm opinion that further devolution must take place and that Belfast 
should enjoy the same autonomy and powers as other regional cities in these Islands if it is to truly 
compete with them. Therefore, the Council must have responsibility for transport, regeneration, 
technical advice on most heritage assets and a much greater say on city wide infrastructure. 
 
Consequently, Belfast City Council welcomes the Public Accounts Committee report, its 
recommendations and requirement for fundamental change.  
 
The Council’s Planning Service has been able to innovate to an extent, for example, through 
publication of its Application Checklist in 2018 as a means to improve the quality of planning 
applications on submission, but this like many other things is essentially a work around of the 
existing legislative process. There is no doubt that significant reform and change to planning 
legislation is required to address both the slow Local Development Plan process and 

Appendix 2

Page 181

mailto:Committee.publicaccounts@niassembly.gov.uk
mailto:Committee.publicaccounts@niassembly.gov.uk


 

underperformance in Development Management. This legislative change must be a key priority for 
the NI Assembly following the upcoming election. 
 
The NI planning system must be about delivery and outcomes, rather than focus on process and 
red tape.  
 
In our view it is necessary to have a much deeper understanding of how planning operates in NI in 
a systems context. In this regard, there are four main pillars for us to collectively focus on: Culture, 
Systems, Delivery and Quality Outcomes.   
 
We recognise that the only way to address the significant challenges with the current system is 
through collaboration and by truly working together. The Council recognises that it has an 
important leadership role in this journey of change and it very much looks forward to working with 
the Department for Infrastructure, the other 10 councils, development industry, communities and 
other key stakeholders to bring about the fundamental reform that is needed. To this end, we have 
already been engaging with the Department and fellow councils on how to move forward. 
 
I am also expecting the Society of Local Authority Chief Executives in NI (SOLACE) to provide a 
response to the Public Accounts Committee report on behalf of the 11 councils. As sovereign local 
authorities, the other 10 councils may also wish to make separate representations to the 
Committee. 
 
Please let me know should the Committee require any further information, insight or assistance. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 

John Walsh 
Chief Executive 
 
 
Copied to: SOLACE NI 
  Other 10 councils in NI 
  Department for Infrastructure  
 
       
 
      

Page 182



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

 
 
 

 

Subject: 

 

Asset Management 

i) Shankill Shared Women’s Centre - Permission to Enter Agreement with 

the Education Authority 

ii) Land at Grampian Avenue Children’s Playpark 

iii) 2 Royal Avenue – Extension of the Meanwhile Use 

iv) 2 Royal Avenue – Lease for bins stores and an electricity cabinet. 

v) Ballysillan Playing Fields - Deed of Partial Surrender of land leased to 

Iceland Foods Limited  

vi) Site 10 Union Street – Renewal of a short-term licence for a bin store to 

Sunflower Belfast Limited. 

Date: 15th April 2022 

Reporting Officer: Sinead Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes  

Contact Officer: Pamela Davison, Estates Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek approval from the Committee on asset related disposal, 

acquisition and estates matters. 

 

 

 

 
 
 

X  

X 
 

Page 183

Agenda Item 6a



2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

i) Shankill Shared Women’s Centre- Permission to Enter Agreement - approve the 

completion of a Permission to Enter Agreement with the Education Authority to 

complete the boundary realignment and subsequent construction works. 

ii) Land at Grampian Avenue Playground - note the updates on the land acquisitions 

previously agreed by the SP&R Committee for the playground. 

iii) 2 Royal Avenue – Extension of the Meanwhile Use- approve retrospectively an 

Addendum to the existing Contract with Small World Music Limited, extending their 

services to 19 April 2022. 

iv) 2 Royal Avenue – Lease for bins stores and electricity cabinet - approve entering 

into a Lease with DfC to regularise the arrangement for bins stores and an electricity 

cabinet which encroach onto Council owned lands at 2 Royal Avenue. 

v) Ballysillan Playing Fields - Deed of Partial Surrender of Land - approve the 

surrender of a 1.56-acre plot of land which is currently part of lands leased to Iceland 

Foods Limited to facilitate the redevelopment of the Playing Fields.  

vi) Site 10, Union Street – Renewal of a short- term Licence for a bin store - approve 

the renewal of a short-term licence to Sunflower Belfast Limited to use a small area of 

land at Site 10 for bin storage for a period of 9 months from 4 May 2022. 

3.0 Main Report 

3.1 i) Shankill Shared Women’s Centre - Permission to Enter Agreement with the 

Education Authority 

Key Issues 

Shankill Shared Women's Centre (SSWC) is a £5.6 million purpose-built shared space for 

women and their families that will open in 2023. The new facility will be on Lanark Way 

adjacent to Edenderry Nursery School which is owned by the Education Authority (EA). See 

map at Appendix 1 showing the SSWC lands outlined red and EA lands highlighted blue. 

The Council’s design team have noted that the boundary fence between the SSWC lands 

and EA lands needs re-aligned to facilitate adequate fire escape from the new building as 

per the approved planning drawings. The boundary realignment works will be completed by 

the Council’s Contractor in April 2022 with the construction works on the SSWC building to 

commence in May 2022 and run until end August 2023. The EA have agreed to provide the 

Council with a Permission to Enter agreement to complete the boundary re-alignment and 

subsequent construction works. The Permission to Enter Agreement shall be in place for the 

boundary works in April 2022 and for the duration of the contract to build the SSWC project.  

Page 184



Financial and Resources Implications  

The Council’s Contractor will realign the boundary fence and complete the subsequent 

construction works under the agreed contract.  

Equality and Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment  

None associated with this report. 

3.2 ii)  Land at Grampian Avenue Playground 

Key Issues 

In June 2018, the SP and R Committee approved the acquisition of two plots of land from 

DFI and Radius Housing Association (shown on Appendix 2) within the Grampian Avenue 

playground.  Following further due diligence and engagement with both landowners 

Committee is asked to note that DFI has agreed to grant a sublease for 99 years for their 

lands (as shown outlined in blue) and Radius Housing Association have agreed to assign 

the residue of their long leasehold interests land (shown in green at Appendix 2) to the 

Council.  Radius Housing are providing qualified possessory title to the lands coloured yellow 

as shown in Appendix 2. Members are asked to note these updates. 

Financial and Resources Implications  

Acquisition of the leasehold interests by the Council will be subject to two payments of £1500. 

Legal Services and the Estates Management Unit will complete the acquisitions. 

Equality and Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment  

None 

3.3 iii) 2 Royal Avenue – Extension of the Meanwhile Use 

Key Issues 

Following the acquisition of 2 Royal Avenue, Council appointed Small World Music Limited 

to facilitate a Meanwhile Use. The existing Contract expired on 31 March 2022 however it 

provided for an option to extend subject to Committee approval. A short-term extension of 

the Contract from 1 April to 19 April 2022 is proposed. Legal Services prepared an Addendum 

to the Contract extending the Contract period.  All other provisions of the Contract remain 

unchanged. Retrospective Committee consent is being sought to ensure the building remains 

open and there are activities during the Easter period. 

Financial and Resource Implications 

Small World Music Limited fee of £4,000+vat per month shall continue to be paid. 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment   

None 

Page 185



3.4 iv) 2 Royal Avenue – Lease for Bins stores and an Electricity Cabinet 

Key Issues 

DfC owned bin stores and an electricity cabinet located within Bank Square encroach onto 

the lands now owned by the Council at 2 Royal Avenue (see Appendix 3). No formal 

arrangement was in place with the previous owner of 2 Royal Avenue; therefore, a Lease is 

required to regularise the situation. The proposed Lease would be for a term of 25 years and 

would provide for a mutual 6-month break option at any time throughout the term. DfC would 

retain responsibility for repairs and maintenance and will continue to sublet the bins stores. 

Financial and Resource Implications 

Officer time from Legal Services and the Estates Management Unit.  

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment   

None 

3.5 v) Ballysillan Playing Fields– Deed of Partial Surrender of land leased to Iceland 

Foods Limited 

Key Issues 

In May 2001, the Council leased a 5.37-acre site in Ballysillan Playing Fields to Iceland Foods 

PLC (whose successor in title is Iceland Foods Ltd) for the construction of an Iceland retail 

store, two shop units and associated car parking (as shown outlined in red at Appendix 4). 

The site was fully developed with the exception of a plot adjoining the Iceland car park which 

was reserved for future expansion. A planning application was submitted in January 2022 for 

a major redevelopment of the Playing Fields as part of a £ 5.3m project jointly funded by 

Urban Villages, DfI and DfC designed to enhance the overall area by means of extensive 

landscaping with new facilities including new pitch, upgraded pavilion and new play area. To 

complete the scheme and provide an improved access from the Ballysillan Road, 

negotiations have taken place with Iceland Foods Limited to secure the surrender of the area 

they had retained for future expansion. Iceland have agreed to surrender the lands shaded 

green as shown in Appendix 4 subject to a reduction in rent to £8,000 pa from the date of 

surrender to reflect the retained land.  The surrendered lands will be restricted in use to 

provide public open space, parkland and recreational/sporting facilities in line with the project 

funding. Detailed terms to be agreed by the Estates Manager and Legal Services. 

Financial and Resources Implications  

Deed of Partial Surrender to be agreed by Legal Services and Estates with Iceland Foods 

Limited. Renegotiation of the rent in line with the surrender of land to facilitate the Playing 

Fields upgrade.  

Equality and Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment  

None 

Page 186



3.6 vi) Site 10, Union Street – Renewal of a short- term Licence for a bin store to Sunflower 

Belfast Limited 

Key Issues 

On 1 October 2021 the Council acquired Site 10 at Royal Avenue/North Street/Union 

Street/Kent Street for the development of the Belfast Stories project. A small area of land on 

Site 10 (c4m x 5m) accessed off Union Street, is currently licensed to Sunflower Belfast 

Limited for use as an area for storing bottle bins.  This area is required by Sunflower to enable 

them to free up space adjacent to the Sunflower Bar (located directly across Union Street), 

to provide a larger outdoor seating area during COVID restrictions.  (See site map at 

Appendix 5 showing the property outlined in red). Sunflower Belfast Limited has requested 

a renewal of the Licence Agreement for a period of 9 months from 4 May 2022 at a nominal 

fee.  

Financial and Resources Implications  

The Licence Agreement to be prepared by Legal Services and the Estates Management Unit 

Equality and Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment  

None associated with this report. 

4.0 Documents Attached 

 

 

Appendix 1 – Shankill Shared Women’s Centre - Map showing the SSWC lands and EA 

lands at Lanark Way  

Appendix 2 – Grampian Avenue playground - Site location map 

Appendix 3 – 2 Royal Avenue - Map showing location of DFC bins stores and electricity 

cabinet  

Appendix 4 – Ballysillan Playing Fields – Iceland Site Map 

Appendix 5 – Site 10 - Site Map Union Street showing proposed area of land required for 

the bin store. 

 

Page 187



This page is intentionally left blank



32

34

24

26

30

7 

72

7
3

2
 

36

12

1 

 14 

5
6

19

9 

12

5 

1 

24

6 

33

23

6
4

6
3

8 

9 

3 

1
2

2b

7 

2a

12

17

2c

20

4
1

1 

3
6
  3

8

3
2
  3

4

1 

2e 2d 

7
0

7
8

7
2

7
4

8
0

13

6
8

6
6

9
5

8
3

7
6

7
2

2 

21

13

9 

19

15

7 

 1
2
2

6 

 11
4

12

1
8

10

14

138 

1
4
8
 

1
 

5
9

5
6

4
9

2f

1a

8
1

1b

7
9

7
2

6
4

4
7

8
4

6
1

6
2

6
7

6
9

6
7

6
1
a
 

5
2

7
0

8
6

9
1

1
0
0
 

9
4

1
0
2
 

9
3

1
0
5
 

 1
0
4

8
8

8
5

8
5

19

17

11
7 

11
5
 

13

2 

6
1

6
3

7
3

7
7

7
9

1 7
5

2
 

C U P A R   W
 A Y 

B
 A

 T
 T

 E
 N

 B
 E

 R
 G

  
 S

 T

L 
A
 N

 A
 R

 K
   

W
 A

 Y
 

M A Y O   L I N K 

 BATTENBURG CT

M
 A

 Y
 O

   
P
 A

 R
 K

 

MAYO COURT

C A L E D O N   S T R E E T 

C A L E D O N   C O U R T 

CEN

A
 I
 N

 S
 W

 O
 R

 T
 H

  
 D

 R
 I
 V

 E
 

DHU VARREN CRES 

M
 A

 Y
 O

  
 S

 T
 R

 E
 E

 T
 

A
 I 

N
 S

 W
 O

 R
 T

 H
   

A
 V

 E
 N

 U
 E

 

25.4

25.3

ESS

Hall

Scale 1:1250
AO

Appendix 1

Page 189



This page is intentionally left blank



33

31

68 78

29

7

6

5

15

58

44
to
48 34

56

13

54
52

2

2
4

23

17

15

13   11

12

9   7

GRAMPIAN AVENUE

UPPER NEWTOWNARDS ROAD

6.4

BM 8.81

Bloomfield
Bapt Ch

8.2

Park

PO

Car

Scale 1:500

BCC Playground

DfI

RadiusHousing

Radius Housing providing 

qualified possessory title 

Appendix 2

AO

Page 191



This page is intentionally left blank



30  32

Council Lands
DfC Bin Store
DfC Electric Cabinet

MM

Scale 1:200

Appendix '3'

P
age 193



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 94K9
6

12
8 

12
0 

13
8 

14
6 

48

58

1
0
2
 

 94J

B
 A

 L
 L

 Y
 S

 I 
L 

L 
A
 N

   
R

 O
 A

 D
 

B 
P 

Tk

ESS

96.3

Sinks

Issues

Playground

Issues

87.2

86.9

91.1

Posts

Ballysillan
Leisure Centre

Scale 1:1250
AO

Appendix 4

Page 195



This page is intentionally left blank



L

 

I

 

B

 

R

 

A

 

R

 

Y

 

 

 

S

 

T

 

R

 

E

 

E

 

T

K

 

E

 

N

 

T

 

 

 

S

 

T

 

R

 

E

 

E

 

T

N

 

O

 

R

 

T

 

H

 

 

 

S

 

T

 

R

 

E

 

E

 

T

L

I

T

T

L

E

 

D

O

N

E

G

A

L

L

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

R

 
O

 
Y

 
A

 
L

 
 
 
A

 
V

 
E

 
N

 
U

 
E

W

 

I

 

N

 

E

 

T

 

A

 

V

 

E

 

R

 

N

 

 

 

S

 

T

 

R

 

E

 

E

 

T

M

c

K

I

B

B

E

N

'
S

 

C

O

U

R

T

G

 

R

 

E

 

S

 

H

 

A

 

M

 

 

 

S

 

T

 

R

 

E

 

E

 

T

U

 

N

 

I

 

O

 

N

 

 

 

S

 

T

 

R

 

E

 

E

 

T

S

 
A

 
M

 
U

 
E

 
L

 
 
 
S

 
T

 
R

 
E

 
E

 
T

N

O

R

T

H

 

S

T

R

E

E

T

1

2

9

1

2

1

-

1

1

5

B

.

O

.

I

9

2

-

1

0

0

1

1

4

-

1

1

6

1

1

8

1

0

8

-

1

1

2

9

0

TOTAL AREA WITHIN LAND

OWNERSHIP BOUNDARY

(WITHIN RED LINE)

-  4,920 sqm

-  52,955 sqft

-  1.216 Acres

SCALE:  1/1000 @ A4

TOTAL BLOCK AREA

INCLUDING;

- Land within ownership boundary line (in red)

- Properties not owned (in blue)

- Communal Service Lane

LAND OWNERSHIP

BOUNDARY LINE

PROPERTIES NOT

OWNED

-  5,293 sqm

-  56,970 sqft

-  1.464 Acres

R

 

O

 

Y

 

A

 

L

 

 

 

A

 

V

 

E

 

N

 

U

 

E

Appendix 5

P
age 197

WeirR
Typewritten Text



WeirR_1
Text Box
Proposed bib store outlined in green

WeirR_2
Rectangle



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  

 
 
 
 
 

Subject: Update on Area Working Groups  

Date: 15th April, 2022 

Reporting Officer: Sinead Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes   

Contact Officer: Shauna Murtagh, Programme Manager 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To seek Members’ approval of the minutes of the most recent AWG meeting.  

2.0 Recommendation 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 approve and adopt the North Belfast AWG minutes of 30th March, as attached.  

 Physical Programme – agree the recommendations in respect of BIF projects and 

reallocations from the North AWG, as laid out in paragraph 3.2 below. 

3.0 Main Report 

 KEY ISSUES 

3.1 

 

Area Working Group Minutes  

Members agreed, in June 2016, that the Area Working Group minutes would be taken into the 

 X 
 

 

 

 

 

X   

Page 199

Agenda Item 6b



 

 

SP and R Committee for approval going forward, in line with the Council’s commitment to 

openness and transparency and to ensure a consistent approach with other Member-led 

Working Groups. 

Members are asked to approve the most recent AWG minutes, as attached. 

3.2 Project Updates 

North AWG – The Committee is asked to note the following project updates, as recommended 

by the AWG at its meeting on 30th March:  

- BIF34 Basement/Elim project – agree the new option which involves a scaled back 

version of the project with a new build on an existing asset owned by Elim Church at 

Gainsborough Drive, and to note that on this basis, approximately £600,000 out of the 

approved BIF budget would be available for reallocation leaving a BIF allocation of 

£900,000  

- BIF45 Midland Boxing Club – agree an additional £150,000 to the Midland Boxing Club 

project from the £600,000 reallocation from the Basement/Elim project  

- BIF20 Malgrove - agree an additional £450,000 to the Malgrove project from the 

£600,000 reallocation from the Basement/Elim project and to progress a planning 

application for the wider sporting hub proposal 

- BIF41 Marrowbone – note the movement to Stage 3 – Committed  

 

3.3 

 

3.4 

Financial and Resource Implications 

As above  

Equality or Good Relations Implications/ Rural Needs Assessment  

None 

4.0 Document Attached 

 Minutes of the meeting of the North Belfast Area Working Group 

 

Page 200



 
1 
 

North Belfast Area Working Group 
 

 
Wednesday, 30th March, 2022 

 
 

NORTH BELFAST AREA WORKING GROUP 
HELD REMOTELY VIA MICROSOFT TEAMS 

 
 

Members present:  Councillor McCullough (Chairperson); 
  Councillors Bradley, Cobain, Magee, Maskey, McCusker, 

Murphy, O’Hara, and Pankhurst.  
   
   
 In attendance:  Ms. S. Grimes, Director of Physical Programmes;  
    Ms. N. Mulrine, Regeneration Project Officer; 

Ms. E. McCullough, Neighbourhood Services Integration 
Manager;  

    Ms. C. Donnelly, Democratic Services Officer; and 
Mrs. G. Boyd, Democratic Services Officer. 

 
 

 
Apologies 

 
 No apologies for inability to attend were reported.  
 
 

Minutes 
 
 The minutes of the meeting of 23rd February, 2022 were agreed as an accurate record 
of proceedings. 
 
 

Declarations of Interest 
 
 

No declarations of interest were reported. 
 

Physical Programmes Update 
 

The Working Group considered the undernoted report: 
 

 
“1. Introduction 
 
 The Council’s Physical Programme covers projects under a range 

of funding streams including the Capital Programme, the Leisure 
Transformation Programme, LIF, BIF, SOF, the new 
Neighbourhood Regeneration Fund (NRF), and the projects that 
the Council is delivering on behalf of other agencies.  

 

Page 201



 
2 
 

 On 23rd February 2022, Members of North AWG have agreed to 
hold a special meeting in relation to their BIF projects and potential 
reallocations.  

 
2.  Recommendations 
 
 Members are asked to note the updates in respect of each BIF 

project as outlined in this report. In considering the detail in this 
report Members may wish to consider if they still wish support the 
current status of each project.  

 
 Members are asked to: 
 

Grace Family Centre and Cancer Lifeline: 

 Note that final accounts have been confirmed, and; 

 To consider the reallocation of up to £71,412 under the BIF 
Programme. 
 
Basement Youth Club / Elim Church - £1.5m allocation from 
BIF: 

 Confirm their ongoing in principle commitment, and;  

 To agree the new option which involves a scaled back 
version of the project with a new build on an existing asset 
owned by Elim Church at Gainsborough Drive, and to note 
that on this basis, approximately £600,000 out of the 
approved BIF budget would be available for reallocation. 
 
Midland Boxing Club - £400,000 allocation from BIF: 

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment,  

 Note updated cost estimates,  

 Note that the procurement of a contractor is underway, and; 

 If agreed to endorse officers to continue the discussions 
with other partners to bridge the shortfall of approximately 
£150,000 
 
Malgrove - £500,000 from BIF:  

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment,  

 Note updated cost estimates and funding deficit for the 
changing pavilion of approx. £450,000, 

 Agree that planning is submitted for the whole sporting hub 
proposal  

 Note that phasing of the project may be required as budget 
becomes available, and;  

 If commitment is confirmed, then further recommend that 
officers continue to engage with DfC and other partners to 
bridge the funding gap 
 
Marrowbone Millennium Park - £750,000 allocation from 
BIF: 

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment  

 Note that procurement of contractor is underway, and; 

 Agree to recommend that the project moves to BIF- Stage 3 
– Committed. 
 

Page 202



 
3 
 

Cultural Community Hub - £350,000 allocation from BIF: 

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment, and; 

 Note that the due diligence process is underway. 
 
3.  Grace Family Centre and Cancer Lifeline – final accounts 
 
 Members will recall that at their meeting of 25 November 2020, it 

was recommended that £250,000 of the anticipated underspend 
under the BIF Programme of £305,183 from Grace Family Centre 
and Cancer Lifeline be reallocated to the Marrowbone Millennium 
Park Project. This was agreed at SP&R Committee on 18 December 
2020. The final accounts for both Grace Family Centre and Cancer 
Lifeline have now been processed and the total underspend 
across both projects is confirmed as £321,412 (£246,707 and 
£74,705 respectively) an increase of £16,229 on the anticipated 
underspend amount reported at that time. Of that total, £250,000 
was allocated to the Marrowbone Millennium Park project, leaving 
a balance remaining of £71,412 available for reallocation.  

 
 For Grace Family Centre and Cancer Lifeline, Members are asked 

to: 
 

 Note that final accounts have been confirmed, and  

 To consider the reallocation of up to £71,412 under the BIF 
Programme.  

 
4.  Basement Youth Club / Elim Church (Old Grove) 
 

Date 

approved:  

April 

2015 

Funding allocation 

& stage 

£1.5 million BIF- 

Stage 3 

 
 The original proposal for this project was a £2m new build youth 

centre on the Old Grove Baths site.  Following ongoing and in-
depth discussions with the project partners for the scheme 
(Basement Youth Club and Elim Church Ireland) it was noted that 
this option would not get through the Council’s due diligence 
processes due to ongoing sustainability issues. Given this in 
Spring 2021 officers presented  a new option scaled back project 
involving the demolition and rebuild of an existing Elim Church 
asset at Gainsborough Drive. The demolition is required due to 
issues with asbestos related to the present property. 

 
 At present, the Department of Education have indicated support 

for the scheme with £500,000 of funding initially allocated and 
subject to ongoing discussions. The overall project costs are 
estimated at £1.38 million which would require £900,000 from BIF 
to deliver – based on the DE still contributing £500,000. The project 
is currently undergoing Due Diligence considerations by the 
Department of Education and the Departmental Solicitors Office. 
Council officers will continue to support the group through these 
processes and keep the Area Working Group updated in relation 
to progress. 

Page 203



 
4 
 

 
 For Basement Youth Club / Elim Church, Members are asked to: 
 

 confirm their ongoing in-principle commitment, and;  

 to agree the new option which involves a scaled back 
building with the demolition and rebuild of an existing asset 
owned by Elim Church at Gainsborough Drive, and to note 
that on this basis, approximately £600,000 out of the 
approved BIF budget would be available for reallocation. 

 
5.  Midland Boxing Club 
 

Date 

approved:  

October 

2020 

Funding allocation 

& stage 

£400,000 BIF - 

Stage 2 

 
 The project aims to deliver an extended boxing facility at Cultra 

Street in the Tigers Bay area of North Belfast.  Outside of boxing 
the Club also supports the delivery of youth outreach programmes 
in North Belfast as well as a range of programmes for older people. 
Planning Permission has been obtained in December 2021. The 
land transfer was approved by Council in February 2022. Officers 
in Legal Services are liaising with Northern Ireland Housing 
Executive to complete the acquisition of land for the extension. 
The pre-tender estimates show the project may require further 
funding (approx. £150,000) and project officers are working with 
group to address this, including approaching other funders. Some 
external funding has been secured for equipment, however a 
funding deficit remains. The tender package for main contactor 
was issued in March 2022 however a tender can only awarded if a 
full funding package is in place. Officers aim to bring back the 
project to Due Diligence in April 2022.  

 
 For Midland Boxing Club, Members are asked to:  
 

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment,  

 Note updated cost estimates and cost deficit,  

 Note that procurement of contractor is underway, and; 

 If commitment is confirmed, then further recommend that 
officers continue discussions with other partners to bridge 
the shortfall (£150,000)  

 
6.  Malgrove 
 

Date 

approved:  

April 

2015 

Funding allocation 

& stage 

£500,000 BIF- 

Stage 2 

 
 The Malgrove (Malachians and Grove United FCs) BIF project is for 

a changing pavilion at the Shore Road Playing Fields with the 
preferred option being for a 4-team combined changing facility.  
The current approx. cost of the pavilion is £950,000 however like 

Page 204



 
5 
 

any construction project this is subject to change.  The wider 
ambition in terms of the overall site is the creation of a sporting 
hub and with this in mind the business case has been developed 
on the basis of a 4-team combined changing facility with 3G pitch 
and associated works for parking spaces. With the current 
£500,000 BIF funding, a significant funding deficit remains in 
relation to the changing pavilion. Avenues are being explored 
including with DfC to bridge the gap as well as looking at options 
for the wider sporting hub.  The positioning of the pavilion and 
associated parking will be determined by the availability of land to 
accommodate the buildings access and parking. A positive 
response has been received from NIE regarding the availability of 
a portion of their land to accommodate an element of project car 
parking requirements. Officers are awaiting confirmation of the 
boundary which will inform the site design layout. The scheme will 
require a planning application and it is recommended that any 
planning application submitted should be for the wider sporting 
hub proposal including the changing facility with 3G pitch and 
associated works for parking spaces. This could then allow the 
ability for the project to be delivered in phases subject to funding 
becoming available.  At present, the project cannot progress until 
there is confirmation of scope, agreement on the land available 
and the full funding package is secured or committed to the 
project. 

 
 For Malgrove, Members are asked to:  
 

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment,  

 Note updated cost estimates and funding deficit for the 
changing pavilion of approx. £450,000,   

 Agree that planning is submitted for the whole sporting hub 
proposal,  

 Note that phasing of the project may be required as budget 
becomes available, and;  

 If commitment is confirmed, then further recommend that 
officers continue to engage with DfC and other partners to 
bridge the funding gap.   

 
6.  Marrowbone Millennium Park 
 

Date 

approved:  

June 

2018 

Funding 

allocation & stage 

£750,000 BIF- 

Stage 2 

 
 The proposed redevelopment of Marrowbone Millennium Park was 

approved in June 2018 and project is at BIF Stage 2– Uncommitted. 
The project involves a range of capital improvement works to the 
park. This is a partnership project with Urban Villages and DfC. The 
UV Letter of Offer was agreed in November 2021 and governance 
structures are in place. The lease agreement between NIHE and the 
Council is also progressing. Planning permission has been 
secured. The procurement of main contractor is underway with 

Page 205



 
6 
 

appointment anticipated in the coming weeks.  An update on the 
procurement will be brought to the next meeting of the North AWG.  

 
 For Marrowbone Millennium Park, Members are asked to:  
 

 Note that procurement of contractor is underway, and; 

 Agree to move the project to BIF Stage 3 – Committed.  
 
7.  Cultural Community Hub  
 

Date 

approved:  

February 

2019 

Funding 

allocation & 

stage 

£350,000 

BIF- Stage 

2 

 
 The project involves developing a new cultural hub community 

facility at Crumlin Road. It will comprise of a 130sqm permanent 
brick facility on derelict Orange Lodge owned site. Project 
feasibility and business plan had been completed, and initial 
project cost estimates is within budget. As Upper Crumlin Road 
Cultural Association is a newly constituted group, it was proposed 
that the County Grand Orange Lodge of Belfast will be project 
guarantor. Legal Services is currently reviewing documents and 
the aim is to bring project to Due Diligence in April 2022. 

 
 For Cultural Community Hub, Members are asked to:  
 

 Confirm ongoing in principle commitment, and; 

 Note that the due diligence process is underway.” 
 

 
 

 The Members noted the update provided and, in respect of the 
Basement /Elim project: 

 agreed to progress the with the scaled back option as presented.   

 agreed , out of the £600,000 approved BIF budget available for 
reallocation from the scaled back Basement/Elim Church project, 
£450,000 be allocated to Malgrove and £150,000 be reallocated to 
Midland Boxing Club to enable both projects to be completed; and   

 agreed that the Marrowbone project be moved to Stage 3- Committed 
and that planning for the wider sporting hub proposal be submitted for 
Malgrove.    

 
The Working Group thanked the Director of Physical Programmes and her team for the 
outstanding work they had done for North Belfast through the Area Working Group.  

 
Chairperson 

Page 206



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Update on Contracts 

 
Date: 15th April, 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: 

Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and 
Resources 

 
Contact Officer: Noleen Bohill, Head of Commercial and Procurement Services 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of main Issues 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 seek Committee approval for tenders and Single Tender Actions (STA) over £30,000; 

and 

 ask the Committee to note retrospective Single Tender Actions (STAs)  

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 approve the public advertisement of tenders as per Standing Order 37a detailed in 

Appendix 1 (Table 1) 

 approve the award of STAs in line with Standing Order 55 exceptions as detailed in 

Appendix 1 (Table 2) 

 note the award of retrospective STAs in line with Standing Order 55 exceptions as 

detailed in Appendix 1 (Table 3) 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 207

Agenda Item 7a



3.0 Main Report 

 

3.1 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Competitive Tenders 

Section 2.5 of the Scheme of Delegation states Chief Officers have delegated authority to 

authorise a contract for the procurement of goods, services or works over the statutory limit of 

£30,000 following a tender exercise where the council has approved the invitation to tender 

 

Standing Order 60(a) states any contract that exceeds the statutory amount (currently 

£30,000) shall be made under the Corporate Seal.  Under Standing Order 51(b) the Corporate 

Seal can only be affixed when there is a resolution of the Council. 

 

Standing Order 54 states that every contract shall comply with the relevant requirements of 

national and European legislation. 

 

Single Tender Actions (STAs) 

 

The following STAs are being submitted for approval: 

 

 Contract for £50,000 (funded), for up to 6 months, awarded to Hays Recruitment for 

for 1 x Environmental Health Officer required for 24hr shift rota cover for essential 

service delivery within the Port Health Service.  There is a legal requirement for the 

Council to fulfil responsibilities under EU and UK food import control legislation in 

respect of NI Protocol.  Staffing costs for this function are currently fully funded by Food 

Standards Agency.  External recruitment has been unsuccessful and the existing 

agency contractor, Matrix SCM, is unable to fulfil the requirement. 

 

The following retrospective STAs were awarded:  

 

 Contract for £57,000 (funded), for up to 3 months, awarded to Score Draw Music Ltd 

for support for trade mission to SXSW for local creative businesses, support for music 

businesses and place positioning as outlined in the UNESCO City of Music 

designation.  Project was issued as a quotation but with allocation of additional funding 

from ACNI and Tourism Culture and Arts means spend now exceeds £30k. 

 

 Contract for £110,000, for up to 7 months, awared to Community Foundation NI, for 

the requirement of a supplier to develop and deliver a Queens Jubilee fund to support 

constituted charitable organisations within the BCC local government boundary.  There 

is currently no capacity within the organisation to deliver an additional funding 

Page 208



programme.  CMT have agreed to engage with a suitable qualified organisation to 

deliver this fund on BCCs behalf.  Due to the tight turnaround for this programme, CFNI 

have been identified as the only suitable company who can deliver this work within the 

short timeframe available.  

  

 Contract for £60,000 (funded), for up to 2 months, awarded to Belfast International Arts 

Festival to deliver a largescale outdoor event at Titanic Slipways called Cristal Palace 

- 2 Royal Ave.  Belfast International Arts Festival are named in the SLA with Tourism 

NI and the commission will be fully covered by funding.   

 

 Financial and Resource Implications 

3.6 The financial resources for these contracts are within approved corporate or Departmental 

budgets 

 Equality or Good Relations Implications / Rural Needs Assessment 

3.7 
None 

4.0 Document Attached  

 Appendix 1  

Table 1 - Competitive Tenders 

Table 2 - Single Tender Actions 

Table 3 - Retrospective Single Tender Actions 

 

Page 209



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 1 

 

 

 

Table 1: Competitive Tenders 

Title of Tender Proposed 
Contract 
Duration 

Estimated 
Total 
Contract 
Value 

SRO Short description of 
goods / services 

Provision of press and media 

photography services 

Up to 3 

years 

£90,000 J Tully The council has an ongoing 

requirement for press and 

media photography as part 

of our marcomms delivery 

on behalf of the Council. 

Patching (security installations and 

updates) of non-Microsoft 

packages 

Up to 3 

years 

£34,000 R Cregan To patch/install non-

Microsoft packages. This 

keeps consistent support 

versions across our 

environment. DNS 

reputation checking helps 

prevent any malware calling 

back to control sites. 

Laptops, docking stations and other 

peripherals  

Up to 1 

year 

£500,000 R Cregan New devices to facilitate 

hybrid working and 

replacement devices as per 

regular business as usual 

replacement cycle. 

Purchase of new printers as old 

printers at various council sites 

become EOL and associated copy 

charges 

Up to 1 

year 

£100,000 R Cregan Approx. 80 printers are 

approaching end of life 

‘EOL’ stage in 2022.  If they 

break it may not be possible 

to get parts and they may 

need to be replaced.  

Replacement will be done 

on an ad-hoc basis. 

Copy charges for existing multi-

function printers 

Up to 1 

year 

£100,000 R Cregan Payment of copy charges 

for existing multi-function 

printers.  Printers should be 

EOL but with limited used 

over the past 2 years 

should last longer and so a 

new contract is not being 

purchased yet. 

Outdoor maintenance services Up to 5 

years  

£1,250,000 S Toland Delivery of de-icing and 

snow-clearance services 

during the winter months 

(Primary service) – includes 

C&NS sites (Parks, Leisure 

Centres, Waste sites, 

depots etc) and car parks 

(managed by Physical 

Page 211



Appendix 1 

 

Programmes). Includes 

other outdoor maintenance 

activities to support in 

house operations i.e. power 

washing and street cleaning 

services, roof and guttering 

clearing and cleaning and 

any other specialist outdoor 

maintenance services 

required.  

Consultancy Support for permanent 
recruitment of Business Support 
Clerks 

Up to 1 
year 

£100,000 J Tully Due to a recent significant 
increase in recruitment 
requirements within the 
Council. The external 
support will help clear the 
backlog of recruitment 
required. 

Integrated Design Team to provide 
design development services to 
support the DfC Covid 19 
Revitalisation Programme, – 
Supporting Vibrant Business 
Destinations 

Up to 20 
months 

£60,000 J Greer The Integrated Design 
Team will work with grant 
recipients to develop 
concept and technical 
designs, to provide advice 
regarding statutory 
approvals, procurement and 
delivery. 

 

 

Table 2: Single Tender Actions 

Title Duration Value SRO Supplier 

Requirement for 1 x temporary 

Environmental Health Officer required for 

24hr shift rota cover for essential service 

delivery within the Port Health service  

(fully funded) 

Up to 6 
months 

£50,000 S Toland/R 

Crozier 

Hays 

Recruitment 

 

 

Table 3: Retrospective Single Tender Actions 

Title of Contract Duration Value SRO Supplier 

Support for trade mission to SXSW for local 

creative businesses, support for music 

businesses and place positioning as 

outlined in the UNESCO City of Music 

designation 

(fully funded) 

Up to 3 

months 

£57,000 J Greer Score Draw 

Music Ltd 

Supplier required to develop and deliver a 

Queens Jubilee fund to support constituted 

charitable organisations within the BCC 

local government boundary 

Up to 7 

months 

£110,000 S Toland/R 

Crozier 

Community 

Foundation NI 

Page 212



Appendix 1 

 

Deliver a largescale outdoor event at Titanic 

Slipways called Cristal Palace - 2 Royal Ave 

(fully funded) 

Up to 2 

months 

£60,000 J Greer Belfast 

International 

Arts Festival  

 

Page 213



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 

 

 

 

Subject: Race Champion and Race Action Plan   

 

Date: 15th April, 2022 

 

Reporting Officer: John Tully Director of City and Organisational Strategy 

 

Contact Officer: Christine Sheridan, Head of HR 

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes  No  

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 

Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  

 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report/Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 

 

 

1.2 

 

 

 

 

 

To update the Committee on proposals to develop a Race Equality and Diversity Action Plan 

and appoint a Race Champion. 

 

The Belfast Agenda states that “In 2035, Belfast will be a City that is welcoming, safe, fair 

and inclusive.”  The Council’s Good Relations Strategy sets out our vision and values for a 

shared, peaceful and reconciled Belfast. It states that good community and race relations 

are essential for a healthy and safe City and that it will set the standard for Belfast to aspire 

to be a place of welcome and diversity. The strategy outlines how we can play our part in 

building a better city for residents and visitors alike, where different identities can be strength 

 

 

 

 

 

X  

X 

Page 215

Agenda Item 8a



 

 

 

1.3 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1.4 

and our diverse cultural traditions can all be part of collective cultural wealth; a City where 

everyone has an equal place and where no-one is left behind.  

 

A previous request from the Lord Mayor, Cllr. Kate Nicholl for the appointment of a Race 

Champion and a Notice of Motion proposed by Councillor Canavan, seconded by Councillor 

Garrett, calling for the Council area to become a racism free zone, further highlight the 

importance of addressing race inequalities and racism.  Two reports presented to the 

Strategic Policy and Resources Committee in June and December 2020, provided updates 

on existing work in this area. It was agreed that further consideration of how the Council 

could address the above proposals was required, and that recommendations should be 

presented to the Strategic Policy and Resources Committee at a later date.     

 

In addition, at the Council meeting on 4th April 2022, the following notice of motion was 

proposed by Cllr Kyle and seconded by Cllr McMullan:  

 

 that the Council supports Belfast City Council becoming a "Council of Sanctuary" 

and supports the initiative to have Belfast recognised as a "City of Sanctuary", in 

order to provide a welcome and safe place for asylum seekers, refugees and 

migrants and,  

 that a Race Action Plan be developed to review how we deliver our services and 

take action as an employer to create a diverse workforce."                                                                                                                                           

2.0 Recommendations  

2.1 The Committee is asked to agree: 

i. that a Race Champion be appointed from within Corporate Management Team to 

lead a   Race Equality and Diversity Action Group to oversee the development of a 

Race Action Plan; and 

ii. that the Council signs up to the Business in the Community initiative “Race at Work  

Charter” initiative to learn from best practice and for support in developing our 

approach, agreeing actions and setting achievable goals and targets.   

3.0 Main Report  

3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

The Council’s approach to promoting good relations and tackling issues such as racism stem 

from the Good Relations Strategy.  The Council’s Shared City Partnership (SCP) oversees 

the work of the Council’s District Good Relations Programme and the PEACE IV Local Action 

Plan. Through these, the Council facilitates a number of projects such as the Migrant Forum, 

the Diversecity Programme and recently, the Council has signed up to a 3-year Inclusive 

Cities Programme. 

Page 216



3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

Consultation with black and ethnic minority groups in the community and a good relations 

audit have indicated that groups and people from black and ethnic minority groups find it 

challenging to engage with official structures and difficult to play a full and equal part in civic 

life and this is reflected in the statistics/data. They report that while positive relationships 

have been developed at community level with groups and individuals through Council 

programmes or through relationships with particular officers, black and ethnic communities 

find it difficult to have their voices represented at decision making level.  

 

A review of current arrangements and programmes of work is required to identify where 

improvements can be made to promote the inclusion and visibility of black and ethnic minority 

groups in our workforce; to improve access to council services and elected members and to 

encourage the participation of black and ethnic minority groups in civic life.  

 

It is therefore proposed that Corporate Management Team nominate a chief officer to 

undertake the role of Race Champion to establish and chair a Race Equality and Diversity 

Action Group. This group will oversee the development of a Race Action Plan with three 

distinct strands of work:  

 

o Workforce:  attracting more ethnic minority applicants and supporting our 

existing ethnic minority staff in the workplace 

o Accessibility to services: promoting access to council services to ethnic 

minority customers and citizens and;  

o Civic leadership: championing ethnic minority inclusion in decision making, 

in communities and in public life 

 

Subgroups will be established for each strand to develop appropriate action plans which will 

be incorporated into one Race Action Plan. The subgroups will involve a variety of staff 

including officers from Corporate HR, the Equality and Diversity Unit, Good Relations, 

Employability and Skills, departmental policy officers, community safety, the Customer Hub, 

Marketing and Communications etc.  to ensure necessary linkages with existing relevant 

service delivery, activity, and work plans. 

 

Business in the Community’s Race at Work Charter  

The Council has been approached by Business in the Community to sign up to its national   

Race at Work Charter.  This campaign requires employers to commit to the following actions: 

 

Page 217



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 Appoint an Executive Sponsor for race 

 Capture ethnicity data and publicise progress  

 Commit at board level to zero tolerance of harassment and bullying  

 Make it clear that supporting equality in the workforce is the responsibility of all 

leaders and managers  

 Take action that supports ethnic minority career progression  

 Support race inclusion allies in the workplace  

 Include BAME and other ethnically diverse led enterprise owners in supply chains.  

 

Already well established with employers in all sectors across the UK, involvement with this 

campaign will enable us to learn from existing best practice to develop our approach and 

actions and set achievable goals and targets.  Involvement in this initiative is available to the 

Council through our existing membership of Business in the Community at no additional cost. 

It is therefore proposed that the Council signs up to the Race at Work Charter as a visible 

commitment to addressing racial inequalities. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications  

There are no direct resource implications in terms of costs associated with this report at 

present. Further resource implications will be identified through the development of a race 

action plan and costed for future approval.  

 

A Chief Officer/Director will be required to champion this work and all chief officers will be 

asked to nominate officers to the three sub-groups identified at paragraph 3.4 and ensure 

that officers are released to participate in the groups and deliver the work required. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

Actions, which promote the inclusion of black and other ethnic minority communities in 

employment and civic life, would have a positive impact on equality and good relations 

within the city. 

 

4.0 Documents Attached  

 None  

 

 

Page 218



Minutes of Meeting of Party Group  

Leaders’ Consultative Forum 

  

8th April 2022 

 

Attendance  

        

 Members:       

Councillor Billy Hutchinson 

Councillor Cllr Emmet McDonagh-Brown (for Councillor Nuala McAlister) 

Alderman Brian Kingston 

Councillor Ryan Murphy (for Councillor Ciaran Beattie) 

Alderman Jim Rodgers (for Alderman Sonia Copeland) 

Councillor Áine Groogan 

Councillor Mal O’Hara 

Councillor Brian Heading (for Councillor Donal Lyons) 

 

 

Apologies: Councillor Ciaran Beattie, Councillor Nuala McAlister, Councillor Donal Lyons, 

Councillor Fiona Ferguson and Alderman Sonia Copeland. 

 

 Officers: 

John Walsh, Chief Executive   

Ronan Cregan, Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and Resources 

Christine Sheridan, Head of Human Resources (for Item 1) 

Joanne Delaney, Portfolio and Programme Coordinator (secretariat) 

 

 

1. Covid Update  

The Head of HR provided an update on the number of staff who are reporting as Covid 

positive and unable to work and advised that services continue to monitor impacts on service 

delivery reallocating staff where required. She advised that this has resulted in minimal 

impact on delivery of critical services. Members noted that the Workforce Testing 

programme, through which council access supplies of Lateral Flow Tests will cease with 

effect from 22 April 2022, following this staff with symptoms will need to request home tests 

in order to end self-isolation.   

 

The Head of HR also provided an update on the approach for organisational recovery and 

outlined the proposals for a phased return to the office for those staff still working from home.  

She stressed that social distancing requirements and other mitigations are still impacting full 

recovery of front-line service delivery.  Regular meetings continue with the management and 

trade union working group and the recovery of customer related services will be prioritised in 

Page 219

Agenda Item 9a



the first instance. A report will be presented to April SP&R Committee with further detail on 

the approach outlined. 

 

2. Audit and Risk Panel Attendance   

The Deputy Chief Executive and Director of Finance and Resources highlighted to Members 

that, at its meeting in March, the Audit and Risk Panel (A&RP) approved the statement of 

purpose and terms of reference of the A&RP and the Audit Assurance Board along with the 

indicative programme of business for 2022.  He advised that as part of this item, the Panel 

discussed attendance of Members at the meetings, and it was agreed to highlight to Party 

Group Leaders the importance for each Party’s representative to attend these on a consistent 

basis.  In relation to some queries raised by Members, the Deputy Chief Executive & Director 

of Finance and Resources advised that whilst nominees can attend, members of the A&RP 

require specific training.  Members to follow up with their Party representatives in advance of 

the next meeting in June. 

 

3. Ukraine Evacuee Support Scheme  

The Chief Executive provided an update for Members on the Ukraine evacuee support 

scheme in Northern Ireland.  He advised that work is ongoing with the Executive Office who 

are leading on the planning and preparation with Local Government.  The Chief Executive 

outlined for Members the proposed approach for community advice centres and detailed the 

plans for the Belfast Community Advice Centre including the location, proposed opening date, 

and the support services that will be represented at the centre.  In relation to some queries 

raised by Members in relation to translation services and a designated council point of contact 

for Members it was agreed that a point of contact would be circulated imminently. Members 

will be kept informed as the plans progress. 

 

4. Planning Update  

The Chief Executive updated the Forum on the live planning applications and informed the 

Forum of applications that were being presented to the Planning Committee in April. In 

relation to the Local Development Plan, he advised that officers continue to engage with DfI 

and Northern Ireland Water (NIW) in order to address ongoing concerns. 

 

Members noted that the NI Assembly, Public Accounts Committee (PAC) published a report 

and recommendations in relation to Planning in Northern Ireland in March 2022. An overview 

of this report and the recommended response from Council will be presented to April SP&R 

Committee. 

 

Page 220



 

 

5.  AOB 

 

Official visit of Martin Walsh, Secretary of Labour for the US Administration 

The Chief Executive highlighted an upcoming official visit of Martin Walsh, Secretary of 

Labour for the US Administration in May.  He outlined the requests sought from the Council 

including a request to address a full Council meeting. It was noted that a report outlining the 

specific requests sought would be submitted to April SP&R Committee for Members 

consideration. 

 

Levelling up Fund Round 2  

The Chief Executive outlined the timeframes for Round 2 of the UK Levelling Up Fund, a capital 

fund announced as part of the UK Government’s agenda to invest in local infrastructure and 

uplift communities and local areas that have fallen behind. He briefed Members on potential 

bids for Round 2 and it was noted that a further update would be brought to the next Party 

Leaders Forum meeting. 

 

arc21 Residual Waste Treatment Plant  

The Chief Executive provided an update for Members following the recent planning 

permission decision made by the Infrastructure Minister. He advised that legal opinion is 

being sought and Party Group Leaders will be briefed once this process is complete. 

 

Industrial Action  

The Head of Human Resources provided an update on the recent industrial action by 

members of Unite trade union which took place week commencing Monday 21st March.  

Members noted that should further industrial action take place the processes followed during 

this action would be reinstated.  Some Members advised that if any further action was to be 

taken that any Council meetings during that period be rescheduled.  A report will be presented 

to SP&R committee in April to include a full update should the industrial action materialise. 

 

Belfast Multi Cultural Association Building   

The Chief Executive referred to a fire at the Belfast Multi Cultural Association Building which 

had occurred earlier that morning, the second in the space of 14 months.  Whilst there were 

few details available at this stage, he advised that officers in City and Neighbourhood 

Services were working to provide support where possible. 

Page 221



 

 

 

Recruitment of Head of Inclusive Growth and Anti-Poverty 

The Head of HR raised an issue in relation to the constitution for the selection panel for the 

Head of Inclusive Growth and Anti-Poverty.  The details of the recruitment process to be 

circulated for Members to further consider. 

 

Page 222



 

STRATEGIC POLICY AND RESOURCES COMMITTEE  
 
 
 
 

 
Subject: 

Requests for use of the City Hall Grounds  

 
Date: 15th April, 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, Chief Executive  

 
Contact Officer: Aisling Milliken, Functions and Exhibition Manager  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes 

 

No 

 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision  
 

  

After Council Decision  
 

  

Sometime in the future  
 

  

Never  
 

  

     

 

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes  No  

 

1.0 Purpose of Report or Summary of Main Issues 

1.1 To consider two requests for the use of the City Hall grounds during the month of July. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is requested to: 

 
1. approve the use of the City Hall grounds on the dates outlined below; and 

2. authorise the events to take place on the basis of submission of an event 

management plan and risk assessment to ensure delivery of a safe public 

events.  

3.0 Main Report 

3.1 

3.1.1 

 

Background Information 

Members will be aware that requests for the use of City Hall are normally dealt with under 

the authority delegated by the Committee to the Director of Legal and Civic Services using 

X 
 

 

 X 

 

 

 

 

Page 223

Agenda Item 9b



 

 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.3.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

criteria agreed for this purpose. Occasionally however, it is necessary to place such requests 

directly before the Committee, and the requests set out below falls into this category. 

 

Key Issues 

Several requests have been received for events over the summer period and this report 

seeks to update Members on the recovery of functions using the grounds, increasing demand 

for this venue space. Also due to the larger scale of activities involved it is deemed necessary 

to seek Committee approval. 

  

The Proposed Events  

 

The two proposed events would take place on the front lawns only.  Areas such as the Titanic 

Garden and Cenotaph will remain open to the public and access to the City Hall itself will not 

be affected. 

 

Each event would be free to enter. In each case, the organisers would be providing all 

stewarding/marshalling staff and first aiders and would of course have to comply with the 

usual conditions including indemnities for damage and submission of a formal event-

management plan.  

 

 

22nd July, 2022 -  Belfast Pride Family Fun Day 

 

This event would take place on the front lawns would include a radio roadshow, various 

performers on a stage, food stalls and children’s attractions. The event would last from 12 

noon to 5.00 pm, although access would be required earlier and later in the day for set ups 

and strip downs. The event would be free and the organisers estimate that up to 5,000 people 

would be in attendance. 

 

 

30th July, 2022    Féile Rock’s Pride Concert 

A request has been received from Feile and Phobail to use the front lawns for the ‘City Hall 

Rocks Back’ event, featuring local young and emerging bands from all sections of the 

community and the type of music played includes Rock, Blues, Heavy Metal, Rap Ska and 

Reggae. The organisers require use of the grounds between 8 am and 7.30 pm for stage 

and sound set ups and strip downs. The event itself takes place between 1 pm and 5 pm. 

Page 224



 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7  

 

Depending on the weather the event could attract up 2,000 people. The profile of those 

attending includes family and followers of the bands, plus local and overseas visitors in the 

city for the day. plan etc. Previous events have taken place in the grounds without incident. 

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

There would be no costs for the Council as the various organisers would bear any/all 

stewarding and equipment costs etc themselves. The utilities costs on the day are of a very 

minor nature and the normal event support in the form of electrical and water provision in the 

grounds will be provided. 

There are no concerns from an asset management point of view, although the organisers 

would be required to provide the usual insurances, indemnities and obligations. 

 

Equality or Good Relations Implications/Rural Needs Assessment 

There are no direct good relations, equality or rural needs implications arising from this 

report.  

 

4.0 Documents Attached  

 None  

 

Page 225



This page is intentionally left blank



 

STRATEGIC POLICY & RESOURCES COMMITTEE 
 
 
 

 
Subject: Requests for use of the City Hall and the Provision of Hospitality 

 
Date: 8th April, 2022 

 
Reporting Officer: John Walsh, Chief Executive   

 
Contact Officer: Aisling Milliken, Functions and Exhibition Manager  

 

Restricted Reports     

Is this report restricted? Yes 
 

No 
 

If Yes, when will the report become unrestricted?                                                    

After Committee Decision     

After Council Decision     

Sometime in the future     

Never     

 

Call-in     

 
Is the decision eligible for Call-in?                                                  
 

Yes 
 

No 
 

 

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 
 
 
 
 

This report, together with the attached appendix, contains the recommended approach in 

respect of each of the requests by external organisations for access to the City Hall function 

rooms received up to 1st April 2022 which appear to the Function Management Unit to comply 

with the criteria previously established by the Committee and are recommended for approval. 

 

2.0 Recommendations 

2.1 The Committee is asked to: 

 

 approve the recommendations made in respect of applications received up to 1 April 

2022 as set out in the attached appendix; and 

 review options for the future delivery of hospitality for functions and approve one 

recommendation.  

 

 X 

 

 

 

 

X  

Page 227

Agenda Item 9c



3.0 Main Report 

 

3.1 

 

 

3.2 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.3 

 

 

 

3.4 

 

 

3.5 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.6 

 

 

 

 

 

3.7 

 

 

 

 

 

Background Information 

Members will be aware that the Committee, at its meeting on 6th January 2017, agreed to 

modify the criteria governing access to the City Hall function rooms for external organisations. 

 

The Committee also agreed to the implementation of room-hire charges for some categories 

of function, and also revised the approach to the provision of civic hospitality for functions on 

foot of the agreed efficiency programme. Some further modifications to this approach were 

agreed by the Committee on 24th March and 23rd June 2017 and 23rd June and 25th October 

2019.  

 

Key Issues 

The existing revised criteria and scale of charges have been applied to the various requests 

received and the recommendations herein are offered to the Committee on this basis for 

approval. 

 

The schedule attached covers 3 applications for functions, scheduled for 2022.  

 

COVID implications  

In managing and delivering future functions, liaison with and guidance for organisers will be 

provided by officers to ensure compliance with any relevant social distancing guidelines at 

the time of their function. Committee approval for their function to take place in City Hall is 

recommended on the basis of their compliance to this caveat and what is permissible and 

feasible in City Hall function rooms. 

 

Hospitality for Functions 

For many years, the Council has offered hospitality for certain functions as a welcome to the 

City Hall. In October 2019, the Committee agreed in lieu of hospitality to offer complimentary 

room hire and waive any room charges to all conference organisers supported by Visit Belfast 

wishing to host a dinner or reception in the City Hall. This policy has provided very successful 

and greatly assisted function organisers.  

 

In recent years hospitality for functions has been discretionary and recommendation is sought 

from the Committee for future plans. Complimentary hospitality currently offers £500  

towards delivery of tea/coffee/biscuits reception or wine/ soft drinks reception. This can cause 

a number of operational challenges: 

 

 

Page 228



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

3.9 

 

 

 

 

3.10 

 

 

 for larger functions, the £500 contribution does not cover the catering for all guests at 

the drinks reception, meaning that organisers need to supplement this hospitality which 

causes confusion for the client and catering team.  

 changes in resourcing in recent years means that staff who provided these receptions 

are no longer in the Council and the functions team has been honouring approved re-

ceptions using external catering companies. 

 

Options for the future functions include:  

 

1. to continue to offer hospitality/support for organisations celebrating a significant  

anniversary – 25th, 50th, 75th, 100th anniversaries. This support would be a monetary  

contribution of £500 (guests up to 250) or £750 (guests 250 up to 500) provided to the 

organiser to assist in the delivery of their celebratory function in City Hall. This financial 

support would be acknowledged on function promotional material – menus, invitations.  

OR  

2. to honour existing hospitality approved and cease offering hospitality at future functions; 

however, the City Hall continue to offer complimentary room hire to charities, community 

and voluntary groups to welcome and support their function at City Hall.  

 

Financial and Resource Implications 

The implementation of charging for external functions has commenced, in line with the 

Committee’s decisions in the matter. Hospitality for functions will be funded out of the 

existing civic events budget.  

 

Equality and Good Relations / Rural Needs Implications 

There are no direct good relations, equality or rural needs implications arising from this 

report. 

4.0 Document Attached  

 Schedule of function requests received up to 1st April, 2022 

 

 

Page 229



This page is intentionally left blank



APRIL 2022 CITY HALL FUNCTION APPLICATIONS  

 

 

*For all events noted above numbers and room layout will be reviewed and revised in line with COVID19 social 

distancing guidelines at the time of each event.  

 

 NAME OF 
ORGANISATION 

FUNCTION 
DATE 

FUNCTION DESCRIPTION CRITERIA 
MET 

ROOM 
CHARGE 

HOSPITALITY 
OFFERED 

CIVIC HQ 
RECOMMEND 

2022 EVENTS 

Law Society of 
Northern Ireland  

18 May 
2022  

Conference Welcome 
Reception for guests 
attending their 2-day 
conference taking place 
in ICC Belfast.  
 
Numbers attending - 100  
 

A &B No  
(waived as 
linked to 
Visit Belfast) 
   

No 
hospitality  
 

Approve 
No Charge 
No hospitality  
 

Building Limes 
Forum  

3 
September 
2022  

Annual Conference 
Reception and Dinner for 
delegates attending a 3-
day conference taking 
place in QUB.  
 
Numbers attending - 100  
 

A &B No  
(waived as 
linked to 
Visit Belfast) 
   

No 
hospitality  
 

Approve 
No Charge 
No hospitality  
 

The Pony Club   2 
November 
2022  

Annual Conference 
Reception and Dinner for 
delegates attending a 3-
day conference taking 
place in ICC Belfast. 
 
Numbers attending - 100  
 

A &B No  
(waived as 
linked to 
Visit Belfast) 
   

No 
hospitality  
 

Approve 
No Charge 
No hospitality  
 

Page 231



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2a Appointment of Director (Operational) of City and Neighbourhood Services
	2b Update on Industrial Action
	2c Update on Organisational Recovery
	2d City Hall Recovery Plan - Update on Progress
	2e Requests for the use of Council Parks
	2f Official visit of US Secretary of Labor
	3a Motion - Energy Price Crisis
	4a Revision to Scheme of Allowances
	Appendix 1 - Current Division of SRAs
	Appendix 2 - Revised Division of SRAs
	Appendix 3 - Proposed Scheme of Allowances 2022-2023
	Appendix 4 - Local Government Circular
	Circular LG 10/2022
	1. Basic Allowance
	2. Dependants’ Carers’ Allowance
	3. Travel Allowances
	4. Special Responsibility Allowance
	5. Subsistence Allowances



	5a Update on Belfast Region City Deal
	Appendix 1 - Deal Document
	Appendix 2 - BRCD Council Panel Minutes April 2021
	Appendix 3 - BRCD Council Panel Minutes November 2021

	5b PwC Good Growth for Cities 2022 Report: Taking Action on Levelling Up
	PWC Report

	5c NI Assembly Public Accounts Committee Report on Planning in Northern Ireland
	Appendix 1 - PAC Planning in NI Report
	Appendix 1a - Press Release
	Appendix 2 - Council Response

	6a Asset Management
	Appendix 1 - Shankill Shared Womens Centre Lanark Way
	Appendix 2 - Grampian Avenue
	Appendix 3 - 2 Royal Avenue
	Appendix 4 - Ballysillan Park
	Appendix 5 - Site 10
	Sheets and Views
	Model



	6b Update on Area Working Groups
	Minutes - North Belfast AWG 30.3.22

	7a Update on Contracts
	Appendix - Contracts

	8a Race Champion and Race Action Plan
	9a Minutes of Meeting of Party Group Leaders' Consultative Forum
	9b Requests for use of the City Hall Grounds
	9c Requests for use of the City Hall and the Provision of Hospitality
	Schedule of Functions




